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2024 at a glance

Our integrated reporting combines financial and sustainability reporting.
We inform you how we are developing as a company and how we create
value for our stakeholders.
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a Since January 1, 2025, the chemical and refining catalysts business has been reported as part of the Performance Chemicals division in the Industrial Solutions
segment. It was previously part of the Catalysts division in the Surface Technologies segment. The reclassification has not been taken into account in this report unless
otherwise indicated.
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Sales and employees by region

By location of company; employees as of December 31, 2024
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Greenhouse gas emissions?

Million metric tons of CO, equivalents

2023 17.0°
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1990 40.1

8 Scope 1 and Scope 2 (excluding the sale of energy to third parties)
® The figure for 2023 has been adjusted to reflect updated data.
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billion billion
Research and Employees at
Personnel expenses
development expenses year-end
2023: €2.1 billion 2023: 111,991 2023: €11.0 billion
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Overview — About This Report and the Combined Management’s Report

Content and Structure

This integrated BASF Report 2024 documents BASF’s economic, environmental and social performance
in 2024. Published each year in German and English, the BASF annual report shows how we as a
company create value for our stakeholders and how sustainability contributes to BASF’s long-term
success as an integral part of our corporate purpose and our strategy. The annual report combines the
major financial and sustainability-related information necessary to comprehensively evaluate the
company’s performance. We select the report’s topics based on the principles of completeness,
balance, stakeholder inclusion, sustainability context and double materiality with respect to
sustainability-related information (see Double Materiality Assessment from page 167 onward). In addition
to this report, we publish further information online. Relevant links can be found within each chapter.

The Management’s Reports for the BASF Group and BASF SE have been combined where possible and
not otherwise stated in this annual report pursuant to GAS 20.22. Information relating exclusively to the
parent company (BASF SE) is dealt with in the section “Disclosures on BASF SE in accordance with the
German Commercial Code (HGB).” The reporting period is from January 1, 2024, up to and including
December 31, 2024. Unless otherwise stated, the presentation of the results of operations, financial
position and net assets of the BASF Group with its significant opportunities and risks (for more
information on the results of operations, net assets and financial position, see page 46 onward). The
information on the BASF Group in the aforementioned sections complies with the requirements of
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS®) and, where applicable, the German Commercial
Code (HGB). Internal control mechanisms ensure the reliability of the information presented in this report.

In the 2024 business year, BASF will report pursuant to the CSR Directive Implementation Act
(CSR-RUG) given that the Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive (CSRD) had not yet been
transposed into German law. The Combined Management’s Report of the BASF Group and BASF SE
contains a Combined Sustainability Statement. This was prepared in accordance with the requirements
of sections 289b to 289¢, 315b and 315c HGB. As a new acknowledged reporting framework in
accordance with section 289d, we are voluntarily applying the first set of the European Sustainability
Reporting Standards (ESRS), published as a delegated act in the Official Journal of the EU on December
22, 2023, for the first time in full — due to their importance as a reporting standard adopted by the
European Commission — and are reporting in accordance with Article 8 of Regulation (EU) 2020/852. The
Combined Sustainability Statement includes the (Consolidated) Sustainability Statement as well as the
Nonfinancial Statement (NFS) of BASF SE as the parent company of the BASF Group. Due to the
importance of BASF SE within the BASF Group, specific disclosures are required when reporting key
sustainability-related information. Such disclosures also became mandatory for the parent company,
BASF SE, as a result of the CSR-RUG, which came into effect in 2017. An incorporation by reference
option within the (Consolidated) Sustainability Statement was selected in the Management’s Report for
the NFS to be issued in the reporting year. The table on page 109 onward shows the relevant
nonfinancial key figures of BASF SE. All disclosures on strategy, due diligence, targets, described
processes and key figures contained in the statements in the Combined Management’s Report including
the (Consolidated) Sustainability Statement apply to the BASF Group including BASF SE. No significant
deviations were identified for BASF SE.

Material topics along the value chain form the focal points of our reporting and define the limits of this
report. In identifying, prioritizing and validating material sustainability-related topics, we are guided by the
principle of double materiality, taking into consideration financial materiality and impact materiality (see
page 167 onward). Information on the proportion of the Group’s taxonomy-eligible and our Group-wide
taxonomy-aligned sales revenue, capital expenditures (including acquisitions and excluding goodwill in
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accordance with the EU taxonomy) and operating expenditures for the 2024 business year can be found
under EU Taxonomy on page 257 onward.

» The 2024 BASF Online Report can be found at basf.com/report.
» The ESRS index can be found directly online at basf.com/esrs_index.

Recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD)

BASF supports the recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD).
We refer to the TCFD-recommended disclosures in various places throughout this report.

Disclosures required by takeover law in accordance with sections 289a and 315a HGB

The disclosures required by takeover law in accordance with sections 289a and 315a of the German
Commercial Code (HGB) can be found in the Corporate Governance section starting on page 137. They
form part of the Combined Management’s Report, which is audited as part of the annual audit.

Declaration of Corporate Governance in accordance with sections 289f and 315d HGB

The Combined Declarations of Corporate Governance of BASF SE and the BASF Group, pursuant to
sections 289f HGB and 315d HGB (see page 146), comprise the chapters Corporate Governance Report
(see page 111) including the description of the diversity concept for the composition of the Board of
Executive Directors and the Supervisory Board (except for the disclosures required by takeover law),

G1 Business Conduct (see page 317) and Declaration of Conformity Pursuant to Section 161 AktG (see
page 145). Pursuant to section 317(2) sentence 6 HGB, the auditor checked that the disclosures
according to section 315d HGB in conjunction with section 289f(2) HGB were made.

Compensation Report

The Compensation Report in accordance with section 162 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) is
publicly available on the BASF website together with the assurance statement of the substantive and
formal audit issued by the auditor.

» The Compensation Report is available at basf.com/compensationreport.

Data and scope of consolidation

All information and bases for calculation in this report are founded on national and international
standards for financial and sustainability reporting. The data and information for the reporting period
were sourced from the expert units responsible using representative methods. More information on our
sustainability parameters and collection of the underlying data can be found under General Disclosures in
the (Consolidated) Sustainability Statement from page 150 onward.

The reporting period is the 2024 business year. We include relevant information made available up to
preparation of this report by the Board of Executive Directors at the accounts meeting on March 17,
2025 (editorial deadline).

BASF Group’s scope of consolidation for its financial reporting comprises BASF SE, with its
headquarters in Ludwigshafen, Germany, and all of its fully consolidated subsidiaries and proportionally
consolidated joint operations. Shares in joint ventures and associated companies are accounted for, if
material, using the equity method in the BASF Group Consolidated Financial Statements and are thus not
included in the scope of consolidation. The consolidation principles of sustainability reporting require
application of the concept of operational control with respect to individual disclosures relating to ESRS
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standards E1 (Climate Change), E2 (Pollution)' and E4 (Biodiversity and Ecosystems). Operational control
applies to all fully consolidated subsidiaries included in the financial reporting at a minimum. Other
companies under operational control are also covered by these Disclosure Requirements, provided the
companies are significant for reporting purposes. All relevant data corresponds with the reporting period
for the Consolidated Financial Statements. More information on the scope of consolidation for
sustainability reporting can be found under General Disclosures in the (Consolidated) Sustainability
Statement from page 151 onward.

Forward-looking statements and forecasts

This report contains forward-looking statements. These statements are based on current estimates and
projections of the Board of Executive Directors and currently available information. Forward-looking
statements are not guarantees of the future developments and results outlined therein. These are
dependent on a number of factors; they involve various risks as well as uncertainties; and they are based
on assumptions that may not prove to be accurate. Such risk factors include, in particular, those
discussed in Opportunities and Risks on pages 87 to 102. We do not assume any obligation to update
the forward-looking statements contained in this report above and beyond the legal requirements.

1 Chapter title in the BASF Report 2024: Pollution Prevention
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1.1 Fundamentals of the Group

BASF Group

At BASF, we create chemistry for a sustainable future. Our ambition is to
be the preferred chemical company to enable our customers’ green
transformation. We combine economic success with environmental
protection and societal responsibility. Our portfolio is structured into core
businesses and standalone businesses.

Sites and Verbund

BASF production sites

y

O B
:] South Korea

Shanghai

Nanjing

¢ Zhanijiang

_\ Kuantan

AN

b2

St

)'

The map shows the BASF Group’s production sites according to the
scope of consolidation for this report. Sites not shown on the map include
pure research and development sites, office and warehouse locations as
well as sites of companies outside the scope of consolidation.

® % \erbund sites / planned Verbund site
[ ] Production sites

BASF had 111,822 employees in 92 countries in the 2024 business year and operated 235 production
sites worldwide. These include six Verbund sites, which are located in Ludwigshafen, Germany; Antwerp,
Belgium; Freeport, Texas; Geismar, Louisiana; Kuantan, Malaysia; and Nanjing, China. A seventh
Verbund site is currently under construction in Zhanjiang, China. We aim to start up the new Chinese
Verbund site in the fourth quarter of 2025. The Verbund concept is one of our key strengths, enabling us
to intelligently link and steer our plants and permitting resource-efficient, CO,-optimized and reliably
managed production.

» For more information on the Verbund concept, see basf.com/verbund
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Organization of the BASF Group
In the 2024 business year, the BASF Group consisted of 11 operating divisions, grouped into the

following six segments:

Chemicals: Petrochemicals, Intermediates
Materials: Performance Materials, Monomers

Agricultural Solutions: Agricultural Solutions

BASF Group segments in 2024

Consolidated Financial Statements

Industrial Solutions: Dispersions & Resins, Performance Chemicals
Nutrition & Care: Care Chemicals, Nutrition & Health
Surface Technologies: Catalysts, Coatings

Further Information

Core businesses
Chemicals

The Chemicals segment
supplies both external
customers and BASF’s other
segments with basic chemicals
and intermediates.

— Share of sales: 16.6%
— R&D expenses: €380 million

— Investments including
acquisitions®: €3,403 million

Standalone businesses
Surface Technologies

Materials

In the Materials segment, we
produce advanced plastics and
their precursors for processing
industries.

— Share of sales: 20.7%
R&D expenses: €180 million

Investments including
acquisitions?: €1,139 million

The Surface Technologies segment produces chemical solutions
for surfaces such as automotive OEM coatings, battery materials

and catalysts.

— Share of sales: 19.8%

— R&D expenses: €313 million

— Investments including acquisitions?: €560 million

2 Additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

Industrial Solutions

The Industrial Solutions
segment develops and markets
ingredients and additives for
industrial applications.

— Share of sales: 12.5%
— R&D expenses: €144 million

— Investments including
acquisitions®: €289 million

Agricultural Solutions

Nutrition & Care

The Nutrition & Care segment
produces ingredients for
consumer applications such as
human nutrition and cleaning
agents.

— Share of sales: 10.3%
— R&D expenses: €149 million

Investments including
acquisitions®: €309 million

The Agricultural Solutions segment is an integrated solutions
provider of seeds, crop protection products and digital solutions

for the agricultural sector.

— Share of sales: 15.0%
— R&D expenses: €919 million

— Investments including acquisitions?: €387 million

BASF implemented a Differentiated Steering concept at the start of the 2024 business year. As part of
this, two new, most important financial key performance indicators for steering the BASF Group in the
short and medium term were established as of January 1, 2024: income from operations before
depreciation, amortization and special items (EBITDA before special items) and free cash flow. EBITDA
before special items and segment cash flow were introduced as the most important financial key
performance indicators for the segments (for more information on the BASF Group’s steering concept,
see page 28 onward). This enables us to provide a higher level of transparency around the results of our
segments (for more information on segment performance, see page 61 onward). Scope 1 and 2 CO,
emissions remained the most important sustainability-related key performance indicator at Group level.

In addition, we restructured BASF’s portfolio as part of our strategy, which was announced in
September 2024. We now differentiate between core businesses and standalone businesses, which
operate independently. Our core businesses comprise the Chemicals, Materials, Industrial Solutions and
Nutrition & Care segments. They benefit from their deep integration in our value chains and the
Production Verbund. Our standalone businesses are clustered in the Surface Technologies and
Agricultural Solutions segments. These serve distinct industries and compete with peers who focus
exclusively on individual industries (“pure players”). Our standalone businesses now have greater

BASF Report 2024
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flexibility and operational freedom, enabling them to react more swiftly and appropriately to specific
market requirements.

The operating divisions, the service units, research and development and the Corporate Center are the
cornerstones of the BASF organization. Regional structures are being dissolved to simplify and
streamline the organization. This new setup lays the foundation for more customer proximity, value
creation, competitiveness and profitable growth.

The operating divisions bear strategic and operational responsibility and are organized according to
sectors or products.

Five service units provide competitive services for the BASF Group:

— Global Engineering Services

— Global Digital Services

— Global Procurement

— European Site & Verbund Management

— Global Business Services (finance and controlling, human resources, safety, intellectual property,
communications, procurement, supply chain, in-house consulting services and real estate)

The Global Business Services unit was revamped, effective November 1, 2024. Clearer roles and
structures were established in order to increase flexibility and at the same time ensure conscious cost
management. The unit has been decentralized and is increasingly focusing on four service areas: regional
and global services, global project consulting, and portfolio and technology management. The latter
drives long-term objectives within Global Business Services and pursues global projects.

Our dedicated research and development units are integrated into the divisions, while activities with
broad relevance for our businesses are bundled in a research division — Group Research. This division is
globally positioned with research centers in Asia Pacific, Europe and North America. With this setup, we
are focusing our research activities on our customers and their industry-specific needs (for more
information, see page 37 onward).

The Corporate Center supports the Board of Executive Directors in steering the company as a whole.
This includes central tasks in the following areas: strategy; finance and controlling; legal, compliance and
insurance; tax; environmental protection, health, safety and quality; human resources; communications;
investor relations; corporate audit and, until the end of 2024, also the Net Zero Accelerator unit.

BASF Report 2024 Fundamentals of the Group | 11
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Organization of the BASF Group as of January 1, 2025

As part of the implementation of the new strategy, the Catalysts division was restructured, effective
January 1, 2025; as a result, the Surface Technologies segment will now comprise three standalone
businesses going forward instead of two: The Coatings division will remain unchanged, while the

Battery Materials and Environmental Catalyst and Metal Solutions (ECMS) business units have been
established as separate divisions. Additionally, the chemical and refining catalysts business, formerly
part of the Catalysts division, will be reported as part of the Performance Chemicals division in the
Industrial Solutions segment from now on. As a result, the BASF Group comprises 12 operating divisions
as of the beginning of the 2025 business year.

In addition, the activities of the Net Zero Accelerator unit were integrated into existing divisions and
service units, effective January 1, 2025, ensuring that BASF’s green transformation is aligned even more
closely with market trends so that the businesses can even better react to new customer requirements.

Business and competitive environment

As a global company, BASF is present in a large number of markets and operates in the context of
various local, regional and global developments. These include:

The global economic and political environment

Legal and political requirements

International trade agreements

Industry standards

Environmental agreements (such as the EU Emissions Trading System)

Social aspects (such as the U.N. International Bill of Human Rights)

BASF supplies products and services to around 74,000 customers’ from various sectors in almost every
country in the world. Our customer portfolio comprises mainly major global customers and medium-sized
enterprises. We focus on a business-to-business model and on being a partner for a wide range of
downstream industries throughout the world.

We work with over 70,000 Tier 1 suppliers® worldwide. They provide us with important raw materials,
chemicals, investment goods and consumables, and perform a range of services (for more information,
see page 292 onward).

1 The number of customers refers to all external companies (sold-to parties) that had contracts with the BASF Group in the business year concerned under which sales were
generated.

2 BASF considers all direct suppliers of the BASF Group in the business year concerned as Tier 1 suppliers. These are suppliers that provide us with raw materials, investment
goods, consumables and services. Suppliers can be natural persons, companies or legal persons under public law.
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Our most important global competitors include Arkema, Bayer, Celanese, Clariant, Corteva, Covestro,
Dow, DSM-Firmenich, Eastman, Evonik, Huntsman, LyondellBasell, SABIC, Sinopec, SYENSQO,
Syngenta, Wanhua and many hundreds of local and regional competitors. We expect competitors from
Asia, North America and the Middle East in particular to gain increasing significance in the years ahead,
especially as a result of advantageous raw materials and energy prices. (BASF is a top-three market
leader in roughly 75% of its core businesses. Equally, our standalone businesses have good to leading
positions in their respective markets.)

BASF sales? by region 2024

By location of customer

9.9%
South America, Africa,
Middle East
38.0%
Europe
€65,260 million
24.9%
Asia Pacific 27.2%

North America

@ For more information on taxonomy-eligible sales revenue from the manufacture of organic basic chemicals, see page 257 onward.
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Goals for the Ludwigshafen site

Low market growth rates in Europe, a slow recovery in demand, higher gas prices than in other regions
and ongoing bureaucratic hurdles have significantly burdened the European chemical industry in recent
years. This has affected the Ludwigshafen site in Germany in particular, where production output and
profitability have declined considerably.

As part of our new corporate strategy, we have therefore also addressed the development of a medium-
to long-term vision for the Ludwigshafen site that takes into account the major challenges BASF is facing
in Europe and Ludwigshafen in particular. In addition to short-term cost reduction measures, it addresses
the expected future market and business development in Europe and Germany, particularly with regard
to the sustainability-driven transformation, as well as a clear strategic direction for the further
development of the site. The cost savings measures we have already communicated are contributing to
this.

The starting point for developing the range of objectives was an in-depth analysis of our Verbund
structures. This revealed that, on the one hand, all key value chains and the majority of our plants are
competitive at their core. On the other hand, BASF can benefit from the dynamics of change in the
context of green transformation. The integrated Verbund system at the Ludwigshafen site allows us to
use energy and resources efficiently. Due to the numerous entry points, we can exchange raw materials
in a targeted manner and, for example, use renewable and recycled raw materials in existing plants in a
flexible and scalable way. This ensures that we can supply customers with solutions to enable their green
transformation.

However, there are also plants that are already no longer competitive or are at risk of losing
competitiveness in the medium to long term. An initial package of measures aimed at further adapting
production structures at the site has already been announced and partially implemented. Examples are
the closures of the plants for adipic acid, cyclododecanon and cyclopentanon that were announced at
the end of August 2024.

BASF will also use an additional bundle of measures to adjust its nonproduction structures in
Ludwigshafen and to significantly cut costs. This cost savings program is an addition to the package of
measures focusing on Europe and particularly on Germany from February 2023, with which BASF aims
to achieve around €1.1 billion in cost savings by the end of 2026. Total annual savings of more than

€2.1 billion are expected from the end of 2026. This will make the Ludwigshafen site leaner, stronger and
more competitive. Our goal is to enable Ludwigshafen to operate successfully in the medium to long
term as a leading, sustainable chemical site for Europe with an improved competitive position on the
European market.

Corporate legal structure

BASF SE, the BASF Group’s publicly listed parent company, plays a core role: Directly or indirectly, it
holds the shares in the companies belonging to the BASF Group and is also one of the largest operating
companies. A total of 268 companies including BASF SE are fully consolidated. Nine joint operations are
accounted for pro rata, while 24 companies are accounted for using the equity method (for further
information, see Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements from page 343 onward).
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How We Create Value

ESRS 2 SBM-1
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Further Information

The following overview shows how we create value for our stakeholders.

Business model

Outputs

Inputs

Outcomes

Impact

|d Financial

:fv Innovations

M Production

Our aim is to optimize our cost
of capital, limit financial risks
and ensure solvency at all times.

45.9%

Equity ratio

>900,000

Shareholders

jf Environmental

We develop innovative and more
sustainable solutions with our
customers and suppliers in
order to enter new markets and
further increase our productivity.

~10,000

R&D employees

€2.1 Dbillion

R&D expenses

m Employees

Safety, quality and reliability are
the key to our excellence in
production.

€6.0 billion

Capital expenditures (capex)

26%

Electricity from renewable sources'

4% Partnerships

We use natural resources,
among other things, to
manufacture products and
solutions with high value added
for our customers.

1.2 million metric tons

Renewable resources!

1,507 million m3
Total water abstraction’

Everything we do is based on
the expertise, knowledge,
motivation and commitment of
our employees.

111,822

Employees around the world

€11.2 billion

Personnel expenses

Trust-based relationships are
crucial to our license to operate
and our reputation.

>70,000

Suppliers

~74,000

Customers

1 The sustainability-related key figures shown in this graphic are — unlike the financial key figures shown — not part of the statutory audit but are part of a separate audit with

limited assurance.

BASF Report 2024

Fundamentals of the Group | 15



At a Glance Combined Management’s Report Consolidated Financial Statements Further Information
Inputs Business model Outputs Outcomes Impact
Business model
Our corporate purpose:
We create chemistry for a sustainable future
Segments Strategic levers

Core businesses

Chemicals

Materials

Industrial Solutions

Nutrition & Care

Standalone businesses

Surface Technologies

Agricultural Solutions

Our ambition:

We want to be the preferred
chemical company to enable
our customers’ green
transformation.

Our values:
creative, open, responsible, entrepreneurial

Accelerate

Transform

Outputs

|ﬁ Financial

i~ Innovations

M Production

€7.9 billion

EBITDA before special items

~€2.0 billion

Proposed dividend payment to
shareholders?®

f Environment

1,159

New patents worldwide

~€11 billion

Sales of products that have been on
the market for up to five years*

m Employees

>40,000

Sales products for which we
calculate a carbon footprint?

6.1 MMT

CO, avoided by the Verbund and
combined heat and power
generation?

g Partnerships

>1,800

Mass balance products based on
alternative raw materials?

81%

Water demand recirculated?®

79%

Engagement index according to our
annual employee survey?

29.3%

Women in leadership positions?

446

BASF suppliers screened as part of
Together for Sustainability?

~40

Strategic customer networks?

2 The sustainability-related key figures shown in this graphic are — unlike the financial key figures — not part of the statutory audit but are part of a separate audit with limited

assurance.

3 Based on the dividend proposed to the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting and the number of outstanding shares (892,522,164) as of December 31, 2024
4 This is voluntary, unaudited information, which was critically read by the auditor.
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Outcomes®

Relevant external impact factors for our company’s success as well as positive and negative impacts of our business activities:

ilil Economic @ Environmental % Social

6

A

Selected relevant external impact factors

Customer demand and requirements + Climate change + Demand for more sustainable
Investment readiness + Energy transformation products, willingness to pay
Capital market trends = Availability of/access to renewable = Labor, environmental and social
State of the economy, competitive resources standards
conditions, investment climate + Climate-related legislation - Stakeholder trust
Regulations on product safety = Interest of qualified personnel and
leaders

Sustainability targets of our customers
Demographic change

Selected impacts of our business activities

+ Growth, progress and value creation + Contribution to climate protection/ + Taxes and competitive wages and
for the state, customers, investors and climate change adaptation salaries
employees + Innovation as a lever for climate + Attractive jobs
+ Our customers’ competitiveness and protection + Integration, help to overcome social
innovative strength + Contribution to the circular economy challenges
Digital transformation of the industry + More environmentally friendly and safer ~ + Global compliance systems and codes
+ Attractive dividend and share buyback products of conduct
payments to shareholders - Greenhouse gas emissions - Procurement of raw materials with risk
+ Market development through more —  Emissions to air and water of violation of, for example, social and
climate-smart products _ Land use environmental standards
— Resource consumption and — Health and occupational safety risks
nonrecyclable waste — Personnel adjustments
~  Potential misuse or spillage of - Restructuring measures
products
> Il Lagate:
BASF

We address positive and negative impacts through:

= Supplier management

Corporate strategy = Climate protection and circular - Sustainability projects in the supply
Portfolio management economy initiatives chains

-+ Cost management and cost of capital + Water and energy management * Compliance Program and Code of
optimization = Actions to protect biodiversity Conduct
Differentiated Steering = Responsible Care Management +  Employee training programs

Performance management system

In providing our customers with solutions to enable their green transformation, we want to
grow profitably and create value.

5 Outcomes shows examples of impacts on our business and impacts that our activities may have on others, the environment and our business environment as well as the
associated measures we take.

© The results of our double materiality assessment are included in the presentation of external factors and impacts of our business activities. These are not shown in full here. A
comprehensive explanation of the impacts, risks and opportunities identified as part of our double materiality assessment can be found from page 170 onward.
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Strategy
[Our Strategy]

Chemistry is our passion. We set a new direction for ourselves with the
introduction of the “Winning Ways” strategy in September 2024:

Our ambition is to be the preferred chemical company to enable our
customers’ green transformation. We aim to grow profitably and create
value for our shareholders with our broad portfolio of chemicals
businesses as well as our product and process innovations.
Simultaneously, we are driving the shift toward a performance culture —
a decisive factor to successfully implement our “Winning Ways” strategy.
We are systematically integrating sustainability topics into our strategy and
business as well as into our assessment, steering and compensation
systems. This principle remains embedded in our corporate purpose:
We create chemistry for a sustainable future.

ESRS 2 SBM-1

Humankind is facing enormous challenges in its efforts to preserve a world worth living in for future
generations. The climate is changing, natural resources are becoming scarcer, pressure on ecosystems
is increasing and our growing world population needs to be fed. More and more urgently than ever,
solutions are needed for a more sustainable future. Chemistry is of key importance as an essential part of
our everyday lives and the foundation of nearly all industries. It can pave the way to greater sustainability
and accelerate the transformation needed to achieve this.

Competitive conditions in the chemical industry are changing. Our customers are also adapting their
business models - to increasingly reflect a world with lower CO, emissions and a more circular economy.
The speed of this green transformation varies across regions and customer industries. We expect
demand for chemical products with sustainability attributes to surpass supply in the medium term, which
in turn will lead to greater willingness to pay for low-emission solutions. Because our customers are at
the center of everything we do, our ambition goes beyond the green transformation of our own
production. We want to be the preferred chemical company to enable our customers’ green
transformation.

This is also where we see the main driver of our profitable growth: Our goal is for customers to be
successful in their respective markets thanks to our innovations. Our products, solutions and
technologies help protect the environment and climate by contributing to the more efficient use of raw
materials, reducing waste, and enabling healthy and affordable food as well as climate-smart mobility. In
providing our customers with the best solutions and processes, we also want to grow profitably and
create shareholder value. Simultaneously, we are driving the change of our corporate culture toward a
performance culture. We have defined four levers to ensure the successful implementation of our
“Winning Ways” strategy: Focus, Accelerate, Transform and Win (for more information on the strategic
levers, see page 20 onward).

As part of its new strategy, BASF has updated its shareholder distribution policy and set medium-term
financial targets for the first time (for more information on the global targets, see page 31 onward). We
remain committed to our climate protection targets and other global sustainability-related targets,
including the alignment with our TripleS (Sustainable Solution Steering) portfolio assessment
methodology, (see page 161). We have defined a new circular economy target and we have adjusted our
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supplier target and are now focusing on improving the sustainability performance of those suppliers
whose audit results were inadequate.

In the future, BASF will place a greater focus on cash generation. We aim to demonstrate a high degree
of capital discipline through considerably lower capital expenditures and the consistent implementation
of our cost savings programs (for more information on capital and resource allocation, see the section on
the Focus lever on page 20).

As an international chemical company, we will continue to operate in markets and countries with different
requirements and conditions. We are guided by our values and our global standards in order to act
responsibly and secure our license to operate. The main guidelines are summarized primarily in our BASF
policies on compliance, human rights, labor and social standards and in the Supplier Code of Conduct.
With appropriate management and monitoring systems, we want to ensure that we act in line with the
applicable laws and uphold our responsibility to the environment and society. (Customers, shareholders,
partners and employees can rely not only on the high quality of our products, but also on the way in
which we conduct business to fulfill our corporate purpose:) We create chemistry for a sustainable
future.

With our CORE values, we combine economic success with the creation of value for the environment and
society and stand for respectful interaction with each other and with our customers and partners:

C - creative: We make great products and solutions for our customers. This is why we embrace bold
ideas and give them space to grow. We act with optimism and inspire one another.

O - open: We value diversity, in people, opinions and experience. This is why we foster feedback based
on honesty, respect and mutual trust. We learn from setbacks.

R - responsible: We value the health and safety of people above all else. We make sustainability part of
every decision. We are committed to strict compliance and environmental standards.

E - entrepreneurial: We focus on our customers, as individuals and as a company. We seize
opportunities and think ahead. We take ownership and embrace personal accountability.

Our standards are based on, and in some cases, exceed existing laws and regulations and take
internationally recognized principles into account. We respect and promote:

— The Universal Declaration of Human Rights of the United Nations (U.N.) and the two U.N. Human
Rights Covenants

— The Ten Principles of the U.N. Global Compact

— The core labor standards of the International Labour Organization (ILO) and the Tripartite Declaration
of Principles Concerning Multinational Enterprises and Social Policy

— The OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises
- The Responsible Care® Global Charter of the International Council of Chemical Associations
— The German Corporate Governance Code
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[Our Strategic Levers]

BASF’s strategic direction is based on a comprehensive analysis of our
markets, competitors and the economic environment. We continuously
monitor global trends and short-term developments and anticipate the
resulting opportunities and risks. In doing so, we keep a close eye on the
demands of our customers and the transformation of our company.

Our new “Winning Ways” strategy is based on four strategic levers:
Focus, Accelerate, Transform and Win.

Focus

Under the Focus lever, we have redefined our portfolio management approach. BASF now makes a
distinction between core businesses and standalone businesses, which serve specific industries and
operate independently. The core businesses comprise the Chemicals, Materials, Industrial Solutions and
Nutrition & Care segments, which are integrated into BASF’s value chains and Production Verbund at
major sites. (They generate value through efficient use of resources, operational excellence and cost
efficiency.) The portfolio of our core businesses ranges from basic chemicals to specialties. The
standalone businesses, which have greater flexibility and operational independence, comprise the
Surface Technologies segment with the Environmental Catalyst and Metal Solutions (ECMS), Battery
Materials and Coatings divisions as well as the Agricultural Solutions segment (for more information on
the segments and operating divisions, see page 24 onward).

In the coming years, we will focus on strengthening our core businesses and growing profitably in these
areas — both organically as well as through value-increasing acquisitions: We see the expected
consolidation of the chemicals industry as an opportunity for BASF. We want to operate our core
businesses in an even more cost-efficient and leaner manner in order to secure their profitability and
competitive advantage over emerging competitors, in particular from the Middle East and China.

Our standalone businesses ECMS, Battery Materials, Coatings and Agricultural Solutions compete with
pure-play peers that are subject to their own market trends. To empower these businesses to respond
quickly to the specific requirements of their customers, we want to further promote their entrepreneurial
freedom and thus strengthen their competitive position. To that end, we are pursuing a Differentiated
Steering concept with industry-specific financial steering indicators (for more information, see page 28),
adjusted governance structures, tailor-made processes and standalone ERP (enterprise resource
planning) systems. These measures increase the businesses’ accountability and the transparency of their
performance compared with competitors. We intend to make further investments in our standalone
businesses in the future and will continue to actively pursue portfolio options:

— Our ECMS business was carved out in 2023. It operates in a low-growth industry but continues to
deliver a strong cash contribution. We are open to a value-increasing transaction in the future.

— Our Battery Materials business operates in a rapid-growth environment characterized by high market
and technology risks. We are de-risking the path forward by focusing on filling existing capacities and
adapting our expansion plans. We are exploring opportunities for collaboration with partners.

— For our Coatings division, we are assessing strategic options for value creation. In February 2025, we
signed an agreement to sell our decorative paints business in Brazil (for more information, see
page 86).

— For the Agricultural Solutions segment, we will complete the legal separation and the introduction of
a separate ERP system by 2027. By then, we also want to create the conditions for a potential IPO. In
the medium term, a minority share listing is an option.
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To focus more strongly on cash generation and strengthen our capital discipline, we are changing our
internal steering processes for capital and resource allocation. We are moving from a largely project-
based approach at BASF Group level to a strategic allocation approach for our divisions. We have
developed medium-term value creation plans for the divisions based on their respective roles in the
BASF portfolio. These plans are the basis for capital allocation. Within this framework, the divisions are
empowered with increased autonomy to make business decisions — and with it their accountability for
business success.

The strategic focus on profitable growth also means prioritizing high-growth markets. In particular, we
want to expand our presence in China, India and five ASEAN countries (Indonesia, Malaysia, Singapore,
Thailand and Vietnam) by strengthening local organizational structures, our production sites and our R&D
activities. These seven countries will account for almost 80% of global chemical growth by 2035.

Accelerate

With the Accelerate lever, BASF is targeting more speed in value creation. We will streamline the way in
which we collaborate and complete tasks at BASF and become faster as a result. To this end, we want to
empower our business units through lean and differentiated steering, simplify our organizational structure
and increase the use of artificial intelligence (Al).

The accountability of the divisions will be a central element of the BASF Group’s steering. The Board of
Executive Directors will focus on topics that are important to BASF as a whole: strategy, portfolio
management, capital allocation and talent development. By contrast, individual divisions will have greater
ownership of specific business decisions and accountability for business success. In line with this, we
will further develop the performance management system for our leaders and employees and establish a
closer link between incentives and unit-specific performance.

We are making our organization simpler and leaner by sharpening role clarity, establishing flatter
hierarchies and by reducing bureaucracy and internal alignment processes. Spans of control will be
broadened to increase individual ownership. An important step in this direction is dissolving the regional
dimension of our organizational structure. With this simplified organizational setup, we are aiming to
accelerate decision-making in all areas of our company.

BASF wants to harness the potential of Al to advance productivity and accelerate innovations. We aim to
gradually enable the global BASF team to utilize Al for their respective areas of work. Here, we target key
functions such as sales, marketing, R&D, production, procurement and services and focus on
applications with added value confirmed by fast and effective pilot projects.
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Transform
ESRS 2 SBM-1

The Transform lever represents shaping and successively implementing our market-oriented green
transformation toward a more sustainable product portfolio. Going forward, we will intensify our focus on
products with sustainability attributes where we see increasing customer demand.

We see sustainability as an integral part of our strategy as well as our targets, steering processes and
business models. We remain fully committed to our climate protection targets (for more information on
our sustainability strategy, see page 158 onward and for more on our targets, see page 31 onward). Our
ambition goes beyond the green transformation of our own production: Our key customer industries are
facing tremendous challenges in achieving their transformation targets. We therefore want to be the
preferred chemical company to enable our customers’ green transformation with our broad portfolio as
well as our product and process innovations.

As market developments and therefore also the speed of the green transformation vary between regions
and customer industries, we are adapting our transformation approach: Rather than focusing primarily on
our own corporate targets, we will prioritize a market-oriented approach in the future. By driving
transformation in a more differentiated and focused way as well as in line with market growth and
increasing customer demand, we are forging a new path toward profitable growth. With our market-
oriented concept, we are simultaneously mitigating the investment and business risks resulting from
capital-intensive new technologies and the varying transformation speed of our customer industries. We
want to intensify our focus on specific opportunities for our business and increase volumes of products
with sustainable attributes according to customer needs. To that end, we are prioritizing projects where
we see customer demand growing or that impact our license to operate.

Over time, we will stagger further transformation projects based on these priorities. We have already
procured significant amounts of renewable energy to operate our plants. Furthermore, we are currently
piloting new technologies in selected value chains, using alternative raw materials and have launched
products with new sustainable attributes such as a reduced or net-zero product carbon footprint (Low/
Zero Product Carbon Footprint; LowPCF/ZeroPCF). In the next phase, we will focus on ramping up the
use of bio-based and recycled feedstocks in our existing plants and thus offering more products with a
reduced carbon footprint and other sustainable attributes at low capital expenditure. At the same time,
we will continue evaluating new business models and technologies. As markets for sustainable products
grow, we want to be in a position in the medium to long term to apply and scale up the new technologies
we are currently developing and, in some cases, already piloting. The gradual approach is also reflected
in spending: Transformation-related spending is expected to be moderate from 2025 to 2028, averaging
€600 million per year. We assume that most major capital expenditures for our green transformation will
be made after 2030.

BASF’s integrated Verbund system offers fundamental advantages for the transformation approach of
prioritizing projects based on customer demand and gradually driving them forward. This is due to the
energy and resource efficiency provided by the Verbund and the numerous entry points that offer
feedstock flexibility. We can be flexible and scalable in how we employ renewable and recycled
feedstocks in existing plants. We therefore expect that our largest site in Ludwigshafen, Germany, with
its integrated Verbund, as well as BASF as a whole, will benefit from the change and growth momentum
in connection with the green transformation. In the medium to long term, our goal is to successfully
develop Ludwigshafen into a leading, sustainable chemical site for Europe with an improved competitive
position in the European market. To that end, we have conducted a thorough analysis of our production
asset structure based on current and future market and customer demand: Selected plants and
production lines are no longer delivering sufficient earnings or are at risk of losing competitiveness.
However, the majority of the assets in the Ludwigshafen Verbund are competitive in their respective
markets (for more information on goals for the Ludwigshafen site, see page 14).
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Win

The Win lever is how we want to drive change in corporate culture throughout the entire company. Our
“Winning Culture” is based on three cultural topics — Accountability (Own it!), Speed (Drive it!) and
Improvement Mindset (Excel in it!) — that are central to BASF evolving into an even more performance-
driven organization. This transformation to a “Winning Culture” is a decisive factor for us in successfully
implementing our “Winning Ways” strategy.

To this end, we have developed nine actionable Winning Behaviors: They define the behavior that we
expect all our employees to demonstrate and show in a concrete way how each and every individual can
contribute to successful change. We want to drive a corporate culture that honors accountability,
prioritizes speed over perfection and rewards the best solution over compromises.

Accountability:

— We give and take ownership over narrow supervision.
— We strive for results, not staying in the comfort zone.
— We take action on low performance, not dragging it along.

Speed:

— We prioritize speed over perfection.
— We spread motivation and inspiration, not skepticism.
— We focus, not do a bit of everything.

Improvement Mindset:

— We fight for the best solution over compromises.
— We give candid and constructive feedback, not empty phrases.
— We learn from external perspectives, not just from internal views.

Our CORE corporate values (creative, open, responsible, entrepreneurial) will remain the guide for our
behavior (for more information, see page 19).

Further developing our corporate culture goes hand in hand with an enhanced performance management
system for leaders and employees with a closer link between incentives and unit-specific achievements.
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Business Models of the Segments

Our segments’ business models are aligned with their specific strategic
action areas. Customer orientation, innovation and sustainability are the
cornerstones of future business success. Thanks to our extensive industry
knowledge, we are aware of the particular challenges our customers are
facing and we can offer specific solutions that support them in their green
transformation and make them even more successful.

Chemicals

The Chemicals segment is one of our core businesses and forms the heart of the Verbund with its
production facilities. Its Petrochemicals and Intermediates divisions market high-quality basic chemicals
and intermediates to customers in downstream industries. They also reliably supply BASF’s other
segments with chemicals to produce higher value-added products and in this way, ensure the
competitiveness of the BASF Group.

The segment strives for technological leadership and operational excellence and focuses on individual
value chains. It concentrates on the essential success factors of the traditional chemicals business:
leveraging economies of scale and the advantages of our Verbund, high asset reliability, continuous
optimization of access to raw materials, lean and energy-efficient processes, and reliable, cost-effective
logistics. This enables fundamental cost advantages and opens up various opportunities for
decarbonization. The segment creates value through process and product innovation and invests in
research and development to implement new, sustainable technologies and make existing technologies
even more efficient. Thanks to our integrated production processes, the carbon footprint of a number of
our products is significantly lower than that of our competitors. Furthermore, by using renewable and
recycled feedstocks in our production network, we can provide products with diverse sustainability
attributes. Examples of these offerings include our LowPCF, ZeroPCF and Ccycled® products. The
Chemicals segment is thus positioned to drive BASF’s green transformation while supporting that of our
customers.

The two divisions are continuously developing their value chains and are expanding their market
position — especially in Asia — with investments and collaborations in growth markets. We want to
participate in the growth of the largest chemicals market in the world and are thus currently focusing
primarily on the completion and startup of our Verbund site in Zhanjiang, China, which we have planned
as a pioneering project for sustainability. We are also continuously reviewing and improving our
production structures in other regions and aligning them with regional market requirements, as
demonstrated by the capacity expansions at the Verbund site in Antwerp, Belgium and the adapted
vision for the future of the Verbund in Ludwigshafen, Germany (for more information, see page 14).

Materials

In terms of production capacity, the Materials segment is a global leader in high-performance plastics
and precursors and home to two divisions from BASF’s core businesses. The Monomers division has a
broad portfolio of large-volume monomers and basic polymers in the isocyanate and polyamide value
chains and follows a lean and cost-driven approach focused on efficient structures. The Performance
Materials division offers innovative and customized solutions in engineering plastics, polyurethanes and
thermoplastic polyurethanes, and creates value through cocreations with customers, particularly in the
field of sustainability. Our global production network enables us to provide our solutions wherever our
customers are. At the same time, we constantly review the efficiency of our production network in order
to improve it continuously.
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The Materials segment combines expertise in basic chemicals with a diverse range of high-performance
specialties and successfully operates some of BASF’s most profitable value chains, including methylene
diphenyl diisocyanate (MDI). Throughout the chemical cycle, the Materials segment plays an important
role in BASF’s portfolio with its high cash flow and earnings contributions. The fully integrated
polyurethane and polyamide value chains with world-scale plants ensure cost advantages. Building on
our R&D capabilities, the segment develops new, more sustainable high-performance materials and
applications for a broad range of industries.

Both divisions follow ambitious sustainability road maps to enable the green transformation of the
customer industries they serve. They understand sustainability as the decisive factor for future business
success and utilize their industry knowledge and application expertise to provide customers with the
right solutions. The segment holds one of three top market positions with regard to production capacities
in around 80% of its business areas, including polyamide 6, thermoplastic polyurethanes, polyurethane
systems and engineering plastics.

Industrial Solutions

The Industrial Solutions segment is a part of the BASF Group’s core businesses and markets and
develops ingredients and additives for industrial applications. The customers of its two operating
divisions, Dispersions & Resins and Performance Chemicals, are primarily active in the following key
industries: paints and coatings, construction, electronic materials, chemicals, plastics and adhesives,
paper coatings, automotive and energy and resources. The segment aims to generate value through
customer proximity, in-depth industry expertise and a broad product portfolio that is tightly integrated
into the BASF Verbund. The portfolio includes fuel and lubricant solutions, dispersions, resins and
additives, electronic materials and plastic additives. The segment’s focus is on research and
development with the aim of enabling a more efficient use of resources and developing high-
performance and more sustainable products and production procedures. This also enables our
customers’ green transformation through their applications and processes. Furthermore, the divisions
focus on efficient production setups and backward integration in our Production Verbund’s value chains.
In addition, capacity management as well as technology and cost leadership are important levers for the
segment.

Trends such as ever faster time to market for electronic materials innovations, longer product life cycles
and increasing processing of recycled plastic are boosting the need for products that have precisely
these characteristics. With its broad product portfolio, the segment is ideally positioned for this. Our
global presence enables us to operate close to our customers, collaborate with them on new solutions
and strive for long-term partnerships that create mutually profitable growth opportunities.

Since January 1, 2025, the chemical and refining catalysts business has been reported as part of the
Performance Chemicals division in the Industrial Solutions segment. It was previously part of the
Catalysts division in the Surface Technologies segment.
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Nutrition & Care

The Nutrition & Care segment is also part our core portfolio. The Care Chemicals and Nutrition & Health
divisions provide highly attractive and resilient markets with high-quality, high-performance products.
Future growth in these markets will be driven by rising consumer awareness of sustainable product
solutions with lower carbon footprints and the demand for natural and organic ingredients and their
traceability. Moreover, digitalization, a focused technology and product portfolio, and close cooperation
with our customers are crucial to meeting the dynamic market requirements.

For this segment, we strive to expand its market position as a leading provider of nutrition and care
ingredients. The divisions generally focus their portfolio on growth markets and continuously develop
their capabilities in areas such as biotechnology. They offer new bio-based and biodegradable products.
The Care Chemicals division supports its customers globally with innovative and more sustainable
high-performance products, solutions and concepts, especially in the cosmetics, detergent and cleaner
industries. The Nutrition & Health division focuses on important product platforms (vitamins, carotenoids
and feed enzymes), which are supplemented by selected growth fields such as special aroma ingredients
and biopharma ingredients. With its (bio)pharma ingredients, the division serves a variety of markets,
such as bioprocessing and formulation of vaccines and antibodies.

The basis for this segment’s business are highly competitive, world-scale plants that are deeply
embedded in the BASF Verbund.

Surface Technologies

Some of our standalone businesses are bundled in the Surface Technologies segment, which consisted
of the Catalysts and the Coatings divisions until the end of 2024. Together with our customers, we
develop novel products and technologies for catalysts, coatings and battery materials. We also offer
services in the areas of precious metals and base metals as well as surface treatments. Our aim is to
drive growth by leveraging our portfolio of technologies to find the best solution for our customers in
terms of functionality and cost. This helps our customers to drive forward innovation in their industries
and contribute to more sustainable development.

Our key growth drivers are the positive medium-term development of the demand for chemicals in the
automotive market, especially in Asia, and the shift toward sustainable low-emission mobility. Despite the
current slowdown in the mobility transition, we are convinced of the long-term growth of the electric
vehicle market. As one of the largest chemical suppliers to the automotive industry, the segment is
developing customized, more sustainable solutions for battery materials, emission control, recycling and
innovative coatings in close cooperation with its customers. Our specialties and system solutions in
these areas enable our customers to stand out from their competitors.

As of the beginning of the 2025 business year, the battery materials and ECMS business units, which
were formerly part of the Catalysts division, are being reported as separate operating divisions within this
segment, in addition to the Coatings division (for more information, see page 12). Additionally, since
January 1, 2025, the chemical and refining catalysts business, formerly part of the Catalysts division, has
been reported as part of the Performance Chemicals division in the Industrial Solutions segment.
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Agricultural Solutions

The goal of efficient farming has to be to provide healthy and affordable food globally to a rapidly
growing world population’ with an increasing demand for food, feed and energy. At the same time,
farmers must reduce their environmental impact as natural resources are limited. We support them in
achieving this and strive to contribute to build a sustainable future for agriculture by connecting
innovation, customers and society.

As one of the world’s top agricultural solutions companies in terms of sales, we are making a positive
impact on sustainably transforming agriculture and food systems. Our innovation-driven strategy focuses
on selected crops and their appropriate cultivation systems: soy, corn (maize) and cotton in the
Americas; wheat, canola (oilseed rape) and sunflower in North America and Europe; rice in Asia; and fruit
and vegetables globally. Our sustainability approaches are integrated into all business and portfolio
decisions. In doing so, we help farmers sustainably grow more and higher-quality crops.

We leverage our expertise in research and development as well as our many years of experience working
with growers to provide crop-specific offers across technologies. These include novel solutions for
seeds, traits, fungicides, herbicides, insecticides, biological solutions and digital products tailored to the
farming needs of their region and crop systems.

1 Compared with 2024, the world’s population is expected to grow by around 1.5 billion people by 2050; source: U.N. World Population Prospects 2024.

BASF Report 2024 Fundamentals of the Group | 27



At a Glance Combined Management’s Report Consolidated Financial Statements Further Information

Our Steering Concept

We have firmly anchored our goal of achieving profitable growth while
creating value for society and our shareholders in our strategy. For this
reason, both financial and sustainability-related indicators are an integral
part of our steering system. With our Differentiated Steering approach, we
aim to increase the competitiveness of our business units and thus the
profitability of the BASF Group.

Steering concept of the BASF Group

At the beginning of 2024, we introduced a Differentiated Steering concept, which is reported at the
segment level. The goal is to empower our business units through this approach. We also want to create
a clearer distinction between short- and medium-term steering. Key criteria in the selection of industry-
specific financial steering indicators are the respective strategic direction of the business, the role of the
business in BASF’s portfolio and the contribution of the business to achieving corporate targets. In
addition, we are benchmarking our performance even more closely against that of our competitors.

As part of this, we have established two new most important financial key performance indicators for
the BASF Group’s steering. Short-term influencing factors, such as the development of earnings or
current operating assets, are controlled directly via two indicators:

— Income from operations before depreciation, amortization and special items
(EBITDA before special items)

— Free cash flow

Return on capital employed (ROCE) is significantly influenced by strategic decisions such as acquisitions,
divestitures and investments. It remains a medium-term key financial target for the BASF Group. This is
reflected in our ROCE target of around 10% in 2028. It emphasizes the importance of managing our
return on capital employed over time.

Scope 1 and 2 CO, emissions remain the most important sustainability-related key performance indicator
at Group level. We see sustainability as a decisive factor for our long-term business success.

As part of the “Winning Ways” strategy and the clear distinction between core and standalone
businesses enshrined therein, the steering concept for the segments was adjusted in the second half of
2024. Accordingly, all segments are now measured by their absolute contribution to EBITDA before
special items. This is an earnings indicator that describes the operational performance independent of
age-related depreciation and amortization of assets and any impairment or reversal of impairment. The
key figure is therefore particularly suitable for indicating the profitability of a business and for
comparisons with businesses in similar sectors.

To manage cash flow at segment level, we use a specific key figure, segment cash flow, which includes
the elements of free cash flow that can be managed by the operating divisions. This key performance
indicator also applies to all segments.

BASF Report 2024 Fundamentals of the Group | 28



At a Glance Combined Management’s Report Consolidated Financial Statements Further Information

Value-based management throughout the company

The target agreement process is an important part of our value-based management. Since 2024, variable
compensation for senior executives has been based on targets derived from the key performance
indicators for the steering of the respective business unit and the BASF Group. We plan to introduce this
differentiated bonus system for all other employees over the course of 2025. This underscores the further
increased autonomy of the divisions as part of the “Winning Ways” strategy and their accountability for
business success.

Key figures in reporting

In line with the new steering concept, in financial reporting we analyze, comment on and forecast the
most important key performance indicators EBITDA before special items and free cash flow for the
BASF Group, and EBITDA before special items and segment cash flow for the segments.

Capital expenditures that have a direct impact on ROCE serve as an additional key performance
indicator for the BASF Group. Capital expenditures are used to manage capital employed in the

BASF Group. These comprise additions to property, plant and equipment excluding additions from
acquisitions, IT investments and restoration obligations as well as right-of-use assets arising from leases.

We will continue to forecast cash flows from operating activities and payments made for property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets as key factors for free cash flow.

In addition, we continue to analyze and comment on sales at Group and segment level, but we do not
forecast them.

Calculation of EBITDA before special items

EBITDA is the result from income from operations reported in the Consolidated Financial Statements plus
depreciation, amortization, impairments and reversals of impairments on property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets. This is adjusted for special items that may arise from the integration of acquired
businesses, from restructuring measures, from gains or losses resulting from divestitures and sales of
shareholdings as well as from other expenses and income that arise outside of ordinary business
activities.

Calculation of free cash flow and segment cash flow

Segment cash flow measures the cash inflow and outflow of a segment and thus its contribution to the
BASF Group’s free cash flow. It includes only those amounts that can be steered by the segment and is
calculated from EBITDA, changes in inventories and trade accounts receivable, and other extraordinary
adjustments (such as those related to acquisitions and divestitures), less payments for intangible assets
and property, plant and equipment. The BASF Group’s free cash flow also includes components of cash
flow from operating activities that are not allocated to the segments as well as adjustments of other
noncash effects.

Free cash flow is the cash flows from operating activities less payments made for property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets.
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Reconciliation of segment cash flow to free cash flow

EBITDA of the segments

+ Changes in inventories

+ Changes in trade accounts receivable

+ Gains (-) / losses (+) from the disposal of noncurrent assets and divestitures
— Payments made for property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
Segment cash flow

+ Net income from shareholdings

+ Financial result

+ Income taxes

— Income after taxes attributable to noncontrolling interests

+ Changes in items included in the segment cash flow that are recognized under Other
+ Remaining items recognized in cash flows from operating activities?

Free cash flow

@ These include trade accounts payable, provisions, other operating assets, other operating liabilities and pension provisions as well as equity-accounted income, dividends
received from equity-accounted investments and other noncash items.

Calculation of CO, emissions

We calculate the BASF Group’s absolute CO, emissions on the basis of greenhouse gas emissions,
which are the sum of direct emissions from production processes and the generation of steam and
electricity (Scope 1), as well as indirect emissions from the purchase of energy (Scope 2). Direct
emissions from the generation of energy for third parties are not considered here. Relevant emissions
include other greenhouse gases according to the Greenhouse Gas Protocol, which are converted into
CO, equivalents (for more information, see page 178 onward).

Calculation of ROCE and cost of capital
ROCE is calculated as the EBIT of the segments as a percentage of the average cost of capital basis.

To calculate the EBIT of the segments, we take the BASF Group’s EBIT and deduct the EBIT of activities
recognized under Other, which are not allocated to the divisions.

The cost of capital basis is calculated using the month-end figures and consists of the operating assets
of the segments. Operating assets comprise the current and noncurrent asset items of the segments.
They include property, plant and equipment as well as intangible fixed assets, integral investments
accounted for using the equity method, inventories, trade accounts receivable, other receivables and
miscellaneous assets and, if applicable, the assets of disposal groups, insofar as they are allocated to
the segments. The cost of capital basis also includes customer and supplier financing.

We have integrated the cost of capital percentage into our ROCE target as a comparative figure. This is
determined using the weighted cost of capital from equity and borrowing costs (weighted average cost of
capital). To calculate a pretax figure similar to EBIT, the cost of capital is adjusted using the expected tax
rate for the BASF Group for the business year. In addition, the projected net expense of Other is already
provided for by an adjustment to the cost of capital percentage. The cost of equity is ascertained using
the capital asset pricing model. Borrowing costs are determined based on the financing costs of the
BASF Group. The cost of capital percentage for 2025 is 10% (2024: 10%)).
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Targets and Target Achievement’

For us, long-term business success means creating economic, ecological
and social value, which is why we pursue ambitious targets along the
entire value chain. We report transparently on target achievement so that
our stakeholders can track our progress.

Our objective is profitable growth — we have set new financial targets as part of our corporate strategy
and adjusted our dividend policy. In the 2028 business year, we want EBITDA before special items to
reach a value between €10 billion and €12 billion in moderate to good economic conditions. The
cumulative free cash flow for 2025 to 2028 is expected to be more than €12 billion. For the return on
capital employed (ROCE), we endeavor to achieve a figure of around 10% in 2028. In the 2024 business
year, EBITDA before special items was €7.9 billion, free cash flow was €0.7 billion and ROCE was 5.1%.

In the medium term, we want to keep the overall distribution to shareholders at least at prior-year levels
through a combination of dividends and share buybacks and will pay out a minimum of €12 billion to our
shareholders between 2025 and 2028. Specifically, we want to pay out a dividend of at least €2.25 per
share or around €2 billion per year. This policy already applies to the dividend for the 2024 business year,
which will be paid out in 2025. The dividend proposed to the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting for 2024 is
consequently €2.25 per share (for more information on financial indicators, see page 46 onward).

We have also set ourselves comprehensive targets in the area of sustainability. By 2030, we want to
reduce our CO, emissions from production (Scope 1) and energy purchases (Scope 2)? by 25%
compared with 2018 (2018: 21.9 million metric tons, 2030 target: 16.4 million metric tons). In the 2024
business year, this figure was 17.0 million metric tons of CO, equivalents (2023: 17.0 million metric
tons?). [By 2030, we want to reduce the specific CO, emissions from the purchase of our raw materials
(Scope 3.1)* by 15% compared with 2022 (2022: 1.64 kilograms of CO, per kilogram of raw materials
purchased, 2030 target: 1.39 kilograms). Our specific Scope 3.1 emissions in 2024 amounted to

1.58 kilograms of CO, per kilogram of raw materials purchased (2023: 1.67 kilograms?®). By 2050, we
endeavor to reach net-zero greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1, 2 and 3.1) (for more information on this
topic, see page 178 onward).

We are working to further increase sustainability in our supply chains. Our previous target was to have
80% of suppliers improve their sustainability performance upon reevaluation. Moving forward, we are
concentrating on suppliers that generated inadequate results in evaluations. For the time frame up to
2030, we are working toward ensuring that, annually, 80% of suppliers who underwent a sustainability
evaluation during the reporting period, and who had inadequate results in a prior comparable evaluation,
improve their sustainability performance. In 2024, the figure was 76%. With the new target, we want to
sharpen our focus on and gear our measures even more strongly toward suppliers with increased risk in
terms of sustainability (for more information, see page 301 onward).

1 Unlike the financial indicators specified as well as the Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions, the sustainability-related indicators listed in this chapter are not part of the statutory
audit but are part of a separate audit with limited assurance.

2 Scope 1 and Scope 2 (excluding the sale of energy to third parties). The target includes greenhouse gas emissions according to the Greenhouse Gas Protocol that are
converted into CO, equivalents (CO.e). The base year is 2018.

3 The figure for 2023 has been adjusted due to updated data.

4 Scope 3.1, raw materials excluding battery materials, services and technical goods, excluding greenhouse gas emissions from BASF trading business. Future adjustment of
the baseline in line with the “Together for Sustainability” guideline (TfS) possible depending on the availability of further primary data. The base year is 2022. In the reporting
year, we adjusted the baseline in line with the TfS guideline due to the availability of further primary data.

5 The figure for 2023 was adjusted due to increased data availability.
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We intend to align our portfolio and the work of our research and development units even more closely
with climate protection and the circular economy. For this purpose, we rely on the assessment of our
product portfolio using the TripleS methodology (Sustainable Solution Steering). By 2030, we want to
achieve more than 50% of BASF sales relevant for TripleS® from Sustainable-Future Solutions — products
that make a positive contribution to sustainability (see page 161). In 2024, these products accounted for
46.3% of BASF sales (2023: 41.4%). We also introduced a new target for circular economy solutions,
known as Loop Solutions, in 2024. By 2030, we want to achieve €10 billion in sales with these solutions.
Sales with Loop Solutions stood at €5.7 billion in 2024 (for more information on this topic, see page 246
onward).

We want to establish sustainable water management at all production sites in water stress areas’ and at
our Verbund sites by 2030. In 2024, we reached a share of 65% (2023: 57%)® (for more information on
this topic, see page 227 onward).

In production, we want to further improve safety and focus on reducing high-severity work-related
accidents and process incidents. By 2030, we aim to achieve a rate of no more than 0.10 High Severity
Process Safety Incidents (hsPSI) per 200,000 working hours. The global rate of hsPSI in 2024 was 0.03
(2023: 0.05 hsPSI). For the period up to 2030, we are also committed to a maximum rate of 0.05 High
Severity Work Process Related Injuries (HSI) per 200,000 working hours. In the 2024 business year, this
figure stood at 0.02 HSI (2023: 0.03 HSI).]

Furthermore, we have set ourselves the target of increasing the proportion of women in leadership
positions to 30% by 2030.° The global proportion of women in positions with disciplinary responsibility
was 29.3% in 2024 (2023: 28.4%). Furthermore, we would like to create a work environment in which
more than 80% of our employees feel that they can thrive and perform at their best at BASF. In 2024, we
reached a rate of 79% (2023: 79%) (for more information on this topic, see page 276 onward).

6 The definition of the relevant portfolio and further information can be found in the TripleS manual at basf.com/en/sustainable-solution-steering.
7 We define water stress areas as regions in which more than 40% of available water is used by industry, households and agriculture. Our definition is based on the Water Risk
Atlas (Aqueduct 4.0) published by the World Resources Institute. For more information, see wri.org/aqueduct. Our water target also continues to take into account the sites

that we identified as water stress sites in accordance with Pfister et al. (2009) prior to 2019, as well as water stress sites according to Aqueduct 3.0.

8 By including water stress sites according to Aqueduct 4.0, the number of sites required to implement sustainable water management increases. As a result, the
implementation status for 2023 has decreased and been adjusted accordingly.

9 In so doing, we act in accordance with applicable local laws.
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Material Investments and Portfolio Measures

Portfolio management is an important part of our new strategy.
Investments remain a key driver of our targeted profitable growth as well
as our green transformation. Our focus is on high-growth markets. The
establishment of a new Verbund site in Zhanjiang, China, which we have
designed from the outset as a pilot project for sustainability, contributes to
achieving these aims.

The primary aim of our portfolio measures and investments is to empower the core businesses and
increase and more clearly emphasize the value of the standalone businesses. Investing in our plants is
essential to achieve the profitable growth we strive for in our core businesses. We invest in new
technologies in order to facilitate our own green transformation and that of our customers. At the same
time, we are taking measures to increase the efficiency of existing production processes and therefore to
improve the profitability and competitiveness of our operations. For the period from 2025 to 2028, we are
planning capital expenditures (capex)’ totaling around €16 billion, including approximately €3 billion for
the establishment of our Verbund site in Zhanjiang, China. Due to the investments in the Verbund site in
Zhanjiang, our capital expenditures peaked at around €6 billion in 2024. We anticipate a slight decrease
to around €5 billion for 2025. Starting in 2026, we are planning to reduce capital expenditures to well
below the level of depreciation and amortization (for more information on our future investments, see

page 85).

We drove forward our investment projects in 2024, focusing on the expansion of our position in our three
key and attractive regions: Asia Pacific, North America and Europe. The Asia Pacific region and China in
particular, which already has a significant influence on the growth of the global chemicals market with a
share of around 50%, will continue to remain especially attractive. We expect that around 80% of growth
in the chemical industry will be concentrated in this region by 2035. In order to participate in this and to
serve the increasing demand from various growth industries in this region, we are establishing, for
example, our new integrated Verbund site in Zhanjiang (see table on page 35). Our focus is on getting the
Verbund site operational as planned, with the cornerstones of the Verbund structure scheduled for
completion in 2025. This site will already be operated using 100% renewable electricity starting 2025. We
also continuously invest in the ongoing development of our other Asian sites, such as our expansion
project in Kuantan, Malaysia, in tandem with our partner PETRONAS Chemicals Group Berhad (see table

on page 35).

In North America, our focus is on the expansion of our production capacities in the isocyanates value
chain in Geismar, Louisiana (see table on page 35). The project is on schedule and is set for startup in
2026. Our production capacity for methylene diphenyl diisocyanate (MDI) in North America will thereby
rise from 380,000 metric tons per year to around 600,000 metric tons per year. The MDI expansion
represents BASF’s largest single investment in North America.

In addition, we invested in our European sites. In 2024, we put a world-scale production plant for alkyl
ethanolamines into operation at our Verbund site in Antwerp, Belgium, thus expanding our global
production capacities for this product and its derivatives by almost 30%. In Ludwigshafen, Germany, we
continued to drive forward our chlorine and aroma projects among other things (see table on page 35). In
Ludwigshafen, we also completed the world’s first electrically heated steam cracker demonstration plant
in 2024. In Schwarzheide, Germany, we put our prototype metal refinery for battery recycling into
operation.

1 Additions to property, plant and equipment excluding acquisitions, restoration obligations, IT investments and right-of-use assets arising from leases
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We want to expand and refine our portfolio through value-increasing acquisitions, especially in our core
businesses. We will expand our regional presence in growth markets in a targeted manner and support
our green transformation through sustainable business models.

Investments and acquisitions 2024

Million € Investments Acquisitions Total
Intangible assets 132 1 133
of which goodwiill - - -
Property, plant and equipment? 6,506 188 6,694
Total 6,638 189 6,826
a Including restoration obligations, IT investments and right-of-use assets arising from leases
Investments in the segments and regions
Investments in property, plant and equipment amounted to €6,506 million in 2024
(2023: €5,864 million). Capex accounted for €5,996 million of this amount (2023: €5,198 million). Our
investments in 2024 focused on the Chemicals, Materials and Nutrition & Care segments.
Additions to property, plant and equipment? by segment in 2024
15%
o,
52% Materials
Chemicals 4%
€6,506 million - Industrial Solutions
’ 12%
‘.’ Nutrition & Care
8%
Surface Technologies
4% 5%

Other (infrastructure, R&D)

2 Including restoration obligations, IT investments and right-of-use assets arising from leases

Additions to property, plant and equipment? by region in 2024

Agricultural Solutions

2%

South America, Africa, Middle East ‘

52%

28%

€6,506 million

Asia Pacific

Europe

18%

2 Including restoration obligations, IT investments and right-of-use assets arising from leases
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Segment

Chemicals

Materials

Industrial Solutions

Nutrition & Care

Surface Technologies

Agricultural Solutions

Location

Antwerp, Belgium
Kuantan, Malaysia

Ludwigshafen, Germany

Nanjing, China

Zhanjiang, China

Chalampé, France
Geismar, Louisiana
Heerenveen, Netherlands

Huizhou, China

Nanjing, China
Lampertheim, Germany and
Pontecchio Marconi, Italy
Ludwigshafen, Germany

Bangpakong, Thailand
Geismar, Louisiana
Kundl, Austria

Ludwigshafen, Germany

Zhanjiang, China

Minster, Germany

Schwarzheide, Germany

Wirzburg, Germany

Beaumont, Texas and Hannibal,

Missouri
Europe®

Ludwigshafen, Germany
Schwarzheide, Germany

Project

Construction of a new world-scale alkyl ethanolamines
plant

Capacity expansion at the 2-ethylhexanoic acid plant?

Modernization of the chloroformates and acid
chlorides plant

Capacity expansion at the ethanolamines and
ethylenamines plants®

Construction of a new steam cracker and plants for
ethylene oxide, syngas, monoethylene glycol,
polyethylene, C4 oxo alcohols, acrylic monomers and
neopentyl glycol

Construction of a new world-scale production plant for
hexamethylenediamine (HMD)

Capacity expansion at the MDI plants
Capacity expansion at the resins production plant

Capacity expansion at the acrylics dispersions
production plant

Capacity expansion at the additives production plant

Capacity expansion for hindered amine light stabilizers
(HALS)

Capacity expansion of polyisubutene plant

Construction of a new production plant for alkyl
polyglucosides

Expansion of surfactant storage capacities
Construction of a new production plant for enzymes

Construction of new production plants for menthol and
linalool

Construction of a new production plant for citral

Construction of a new production plant for nonionic
surfactants

Construction of a new production plant for more
sustainable automotive paints

Construction of a new prototype plant for battery
recycling

Construction of a new battery recycling plant for the
production of black mass

Capacity expansion for automotive paints

Modernization of site infrastructure

Traceability of crop protection products based on
digital identification

Construction of a new fermentation facility for
sustainable crop protection products

Reduction of organic waste streams

8 Operated by a fully consolidated joint venture with PETRONAS Chemicals Group Berhad
Operated by a joint venture with Sinopec
¢ This project will be implemented in Genay and Graveline, France, in Ludwigshafen, Germany, and in Tarragona, Spain.
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Acquisitions

In April 2024, Vattenfall and BASF contractually agreed on the purchase of 49% of shares in Vattenfall’s
Nordlicht 1 and 2 wind farm projects by BASF (for more information, see Note 3 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements on page 344 onward). The Nordlicht wind farm projects are being built in the
German North Sea without government subsidies and will have a total installed capacity of 1.6 gigawatts.
BASF will use just under half of the electricity generated to supply its chemical production sites in
Europe, particularly Ludwigshafen, Germany. Subject to the final investment decision, which is expected
in the course of 2025, construction of Nordlicht 1 and 2 is scheduled to begin in 2026. The wind farms
are scheduled to become fully operational in 2028.

Divestitures

Following agreement on the sale of Wintershall Dea’s exploration and production (E&P) business,
excluding Russia-related activities, to Harbour Energy plc, London, United Kingdom, in December 2023,
this transaction was concluded on September 3, 2024. The E&P business consists of production and
development assets, as well as exploration rights and Wintershall Dea’s carbon storage licenses. In
exchange, Wintershall Dea shareholders — BASF (72.7%) and LetterOne (27.3%) - received a cash
consideration totaling $1.78 billion (BASF share: $1.29 billion), including a purchase price adjustment,
and new shares issued by Harbour Energy equating to a total shareholding of 54.5% in the enlarged
Harbour Energy company (BASF share: 39.6%).

Since completion of the transaction, both the shareholding in Wintershall Dea, which now only comprises
the operations not transferred to Harbour Energy and the headquarters, and the shareholding in Harbour
Energy have been accounted for as non-integral shareholdings using the equity method in the
Consolidated Financial Statements of the BASF Group (for more information, see Note 3 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements from page 344 onward).

Agreed transactions

On December 21, 2024, BASF and Louis Dreyfus Company (LDC), Rotterdam, Netherlands, signed an
agreement on the sale of BASF’s operations in food and health performance ingredients, including the
production site in lllertissen, Germany, to LDC. Under the terms of the agreement, it is expected that
approximately 300 employees will transfer from BASF to LDC on completion of the transaction, which
remains subject to the customary closing conditions, including approval by the relevant regulatory
bodies.

BASF Report 2024 Fundamentals of the Group | 36



At a Glance Combined Management’s Report Consolidated Financial Statements Further Information

Innovation

Innovations based on chemistry play a pivotal role in overcoming the
greatest challenges of our time. Our activities are aimed at developing
new products, entering new markets, further increasing our productivity
and reducing the carbon footprint of our existing products. We are
intensively working together with our customers on innovative products
and processes for a sustainable future.

Innovation has always been the key to BASF’s success. The knowledge and skills of our highly qualified
employees are our most valuable resources and the source of our innovative strength. In 2024,
approximately 10,000 employees worldwide were working in research and development (R&D).

(In 2024, we generated sales of around €11 billion with products launched on the market in the past five
years that stemmed from research and development activities.) In the long term, we aim to further
increase sales and earnings with new and improved products — especially with products that make a
positive sustainability contribution in the value chain.

Our research and development (R&D) expenses amounted to €2,061 million in 2024 (2023:

€2,130 million). R&D activities in our operating divisions, which are mainly application- and customer-
related, accounted for 87% of this figure. Cross-divisional and strategic topics were responsible for 13%
of these expenses.

Our innovation focus is on developing new products, solutions and product improvements that offer our
customers competitive and sustainability advantages. By helping them reduce their carbon footprint, use
resources more efficiently and manufacture products in a more environmentally friendly way and recycle
them, we ensure our long-term competitiveness and, at the same time, play a role in decoupling growth
from the consumption of limited resources.

In the area of electromobility, for example, we develop materials for batteries and electric powertrains in
close cooperation with vehicle manufacturers to enable safe and efficient driving. We are working on
innovative depolymerization processes that can be used in the recycling of foam mattresses or the rigid
foam found in fridges as well as on circular solutions for textiles. We also develop biodegradable
polymers for household and personal care applications as well as biodegradable UV absorbers for
sunscreen, and thus help our customers achieve their sustainability targets.

Our research and development units explicitly address the industry-specific needs of our customers.
Customer-focused activities are directly integrated into the operating divisions. Research activities that
are relevant to several operating divisions are bundled in the cross-functional global division Group
Research. It supports the R&D activities of our operating divisions and drives forward cross-divisional
projects on topics relevant to the entire Group, such as avoiding CO, emissions in chemical processes
and products, energy efficiency and recycling technologies. The unit is globally positioned with research
centers in Asia Pacific, Europe and North America. Together with the research and development units in
our operating divisions, Group Research forms the core of our global research network.

We use corporate funding to finance research activities that are of broad relevance to the BASF Group
and go beyond the industry-specific focus of the individual operating divisions, such as digital tools, new
analytic methods, catalytical processes and biotechnological methods.

The number and quality of our patents also demonstrate our innovative power and long-term
competitiveness. In 2024, we filed 1,159 new patents worldwide, of which 44.5% were for innovations
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with a particular focus on sustainability. The Patent Asset Index, a method that compares patent
portfolios, once again ranked us among the leading companies in the chemical industry in 2024.

Global presence

Our global research and development presence — and its effectiveness - is vital to our long-term
success. This enables us to respond to the needs and requirements of the regional markets in a
differentiated way, establish new customer relationships and leverage growth potential. Scientific
collaborations give us access to talent, strengthen our Research and Development Verbund and make
BASF an even more attractive partner and employer.

The largest site in our research network is Ludwigshafen in Germany. A new Catalyst Development and
Solids Processing Center was opened there in December 2024 to bring process innovations and new
chemical catalysts to market faster.

Innovation Campus Shanghai in China is our largest research and development site in Asia Pacific.
Here, we work on new products and processes for a variety of customer industries, including in growing
sectors such as electromobility and renewable energies. Innovation Campus Mumbai in India, with its
research focus areas of crop protection, process development, specialty chemicals and analytics,
represents a further key pillar of our growing research network in the Asia Pacific region.

At our largest research and development site in North America, Research Triangle Park, we work on
new crop protection products. 2024 also marked the one-year anniversary of the Biodegradation and
Microplastics Center of Excellence in Wyandotte, United States. Here, our teams research the
biodegradability of materials and solutions for the circular economy.

Our global network of top universities, research institutes and companies forms a further part of our
Know-How Verbund. It gives us direct access to external scientific expertise, talented minds from various
disciplines as well as new technologies. Our eight academic research alliances bundle partnerships with
several research groups in a region or with a specific research focus. The teams in the research alliances
work, for example, on projects in the areas of materials science and biosciences, catalysis research and
digitalization. In the Asia Pacific region, the Network for Asian Open Research (NAO) provides a joint
platform for cooperation with leading universities and institutes. In Europe, we have close ties with the
world of academia through our Academic Research Alliances, such as the Battery and Electrochemistry
Laboratory (BELLA), the Catalysis Research Laboratory (CaRLa), the UniCat BASF Joint Lab (BasCat),
the Joint Research Network on Advanced Materials and Systems (JONAS) and the British Alliance for
Research & Innovation (BARI). The California Research Alliance (CARA) and the North America Open
Research Alliance (NORA) operate in the United States.

(The Academic Research Alliances are complemented by cooperative partnerships with around 260
universities and research institutes as well as collaborations with a large number of companies.)
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The BASF Group’s Business Year

Economic Environment?

Global economic growth in 2024 was again driven more by services than
the production of goods. Declining inflation and the interest rate
turnaround initiated by many central banks supported demand. Starting
from a low base, the global chemical industry grew at a faster pace than
the overall industrial production. However, growth in the chemical industry
weakened over the course of the year, particularly in Europe (for the
forecast, see page 78 onward).

At a glance
+2.7% +3.9%
Global GDP growth Increase in global chemical production

Global gross domestic product (GDP) grew by 2.7% compared with the previous year (2023: +2.8%).
Global industrial production only rose by 2.1% (2023: +1.5%). Starting from a low base after two weak
years, global chemical production grew by 3.9%, albeit with significant regional differences. While the
chemical industry increased by 6.8% in China, it only grew by 1.1% in the rest of the world.

The average price of Brent crude oil remained around the prior-year level at $81 per barrel (previous year:
$82 per barrel). The annual average gas price in northwestern Europe was €34.17 per MWh or $10.83 per
mmBtu (previous year: €40.52 per MWh or $12.83 per mmBtu), almost five times higher than in the
United States (€6.93 per MWh or $2.20 per mmBtu).

1 All information relating to past years in this section can deviate from the previous year’s report due to statistic revisions. Where available, calendar-adjusted macroeconomic
growth rates are reported. Figures for 2024 not yet available in full are estimated.
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Trends in the global economy in 2024

At 0.9%, GDP growth in the European Union (EU) was only slightly above the previous year’s very weak
level. Industrial production contracted for the second consecutive year.

Within the EU, there were significant differences in growth between member states. Spain’s GDP grew
by around 3%, primarily due to its higher share of tourism and services. On the other hand, France and
Italy saw only marginal economic expansion mainly due to persistently weak private consumption.

The German economy stagnated again in 2024 due to slow private consumption despite rising incomes
and a decline in capital investment. In view of the weakness in Germany’s core industries, foreign trade
did not provide positive momentum. Overall, the German economy has not grown in real terms since
2019, while GDP in the rest of the eurozone increased by 6% in this period.

At nearly 2%, growth in the eastern EU countries was also above the EU average. However, there were
also considerable differences within this region. Poland’s economy showed relatively strong growth of
almost 3% due to the provision of previously frozen EU funds and rising real incomes. In Hungary and
Czechia, GDP growth rates did not differ significantly from the low EU average as their industrial sectors
heavily rely on western Europe.

In the United Kingdom, GDP growth remained weak, reflecting the only slight increase in consumer
spending and volatile contributions from investment and foreign trade.

In contrast to Europe, the United States recorded continued robust GDP growth of 2.8%. Private
consumption continued to rise due to strong labor market demand and higher real wages, although
service consumption still accounted for more than two-thirds of this growth. Capital expenditures also
contributed to the solid growth, while the increase in the foreign trade deficit dampened expansion. The
contribution from commercial construction investment in 2024 was considerably lower than in the prior-
year period. The industrial economy in the United States remained weak, with the manufacturing sector
in particular stagnating over the year as a whole.

In China, the GDP growth rate reached the official target of 5%. Even though private consumption rose
at a similar rate, domestic demand for goods only grew at a subdued pace. In contrast, the export of
goods provided considerable growth momentum for the industry. In this environment, industrial
production in China rose by around 5%. While the manufacturing sector with an expansion of around 6%
slightly outpaced the industry as a whole, the ongoing crisis in residential construction had a dampening
effect on the overall industrial growth rate.

India was the fastest-growing major economy in 2024 with growth of more than 6%. This was supported
by the robust increase in private consumption and rise in investments. In the ASEAN countries, which
benefited from the diversification of international industrial value chains, GDP also grew relatively strongly
at just under 5%. This was especially the case in Indonesia, the Philippines and Vietnam, all of which
achieved growth of around 5% or higher. Growth in mature Asian markets lagged behind emerging
markets in the region. In South Korea, economic growth was around 2%. In Japan, GDP stagnated,
partly due to the lack of growth in private consumer demand and investments, and the sharp decline in
automotive production.
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Brazil, South America’s largest economy, recorded solid growth of almost 3.3%. Both private consumer
demand and investments saw a significant increase — by more than 5% and more than 7% respectively.
Industrial production outpaced GDP slightly, while the agricultural sector suffered as a result of the floods
in southern Brazil. Despite the improved economic outlook following recent reforms, Argentina’s GDP
contracted by around 3% in 2024. Overall, GDP in South America increased by 2.0%, slightly more than

in the previous year.

Gross domestic product

Real change compared with previous year 2024
World 2.7%
European Union 0.9%
USA 2.8%
China 5.0%
Emerging markets of Asia excluding China? 52%
Japan 0.1%
South America 2.0%

2023
2.8%
0.5%
2.9%
52%
52%
1.5%
1.6%

2 We define the emerging markets of Asia as the ASEAN countries (Brunei, Indonesia, Malaysia, Myanmar, Cambodia, Laos, the Philippines, Singapore, Thailand, Vietnam),

India, Pakistan and Bangladesh.
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Trends in key customer industries

In 2024, global goods production grew more strongly than in the previous year. However, it lagged
behind the growth rates of GDP and the services sector. Industry growth was dampened in particular by
a decline in automotive production, following the previous year’s strong growth, and a weak momentum
in the construction industry, amid falling but still high interest rates in the United States and Europe, as
well as the crisis in the Chinese housing market. In contrast, the production of consumer goods in the
nutrition, care and health sectors supported industrial growth.

Global industrial production expanded by 2.1% overall (2023: 1.5%). In the advanced economies, it
largely stagnated, while in the emerging markets it grew by 3.9% (2023: +2.9%). In the EU, industrial
production declined by 1.9%; in North America, it rose by 1.1%, and in Asia it grew by 4.2% overall.
China accounted for around three-quarters of global industrial growth. North America accounted for only
around one-tenth of global growth, while the EU made a negative contribution.

Growth in key customer industries

Real change compared with previous year 2024 2023
Industry total 21% 1.5%
Transportation -0.3% 9.6%

of which automotive industry -1.1% 9.9%
Energy and resources 21% 0.9%
Construction 1.4% 2.3%
Consumer goods 1.5% -0.3%
Electronics 7.6% 0.2%
Health and nutrition 2.4% 0.4%
Agriculture 2.2% 3.0%

In 2024, global automotive production decreased by 1.1% from 90.5 to 89.5 million passenger cars and
light commercial vehicles. In China, the world’s largest automotive market, it increased by 3.7%. In
contrast, production in the EU, North America, Japan and South Korea decreased by around 4.4%
overall. However, production in these countries had increased by around 12% in 2023, slightly outpacing
China’s growth of 10%. Automotive production in India also increased by around 4%. Growth in the
production of battery electric vehicles (BEVs) was once again significantly higher than that of the market
as a whole: A total of 1.0 million more BEVs were produced; this corresponds to growth in this segment
of around 9.5% compared with the previous year. Consequently, electric vehicles’ share of all vehicles
produced rose from around 12% in 2023 to around 13% in 2024.

The energy and raw materials sector expanded by 2.1%. Growth in this sector was mainly driven by
the production of non-energy raw materials, the refining business and energy supply. However, oil and
gas production remained largely stagnant.

Demand in the construction industry remained subdued, despite the interest rate reversal initiated by
central banks in Europe and the United States in 2024, already reflected in falling longer-term rates.
Overall, construction activity expanded by 1.4%. Development varied across the individual construction
segments: Residential construction declined slightly, while commercial building construction saw a
modest uptick. As in previous years, the infrastructure segment saw considerable growth. The EU
construction industry saw a considerable overall decline, most notably with a sharp downturn in new
residential construction. Conversely, construction activity in North America recorded solid growth across
all segments. This was partly due to base effects in the U.S. residential construction sector given the
decline in construction activity of nearly 10% in the previous year and extremely limited supply of existing
properties on the market. In China, building construction activity, measured by area under construction,
continued to decline considerably.
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After stagnating in the previous year, consumer goods production increased by 1.5% in 2024, lagging
behind global GDP growth. Production in the furniture industry remained stable after experiencing a
sharp decline in the previous year. The textile industry returned to moderate growth after a decrease in
the previous year. Production of chemicals for the manufacture of care products grew slightly faster than
global GDP.

The electronics industry saw considerable expansion of 7.6% again after stagnating in the prior-year
period. Key drivers of growth were electronic components (semiconductors), computers and the again
increasing demand for replacements in consumer electronics.

Production in the health and nutrition sector increased by 2.4%. The pharmaceutical industry grew at a
similar rate to global GDP. All major markets generated growth again following a weak previous year.
Food production as a whole grew at a slower pace. It increased in the EU and emerging Asian markets,
while declining in the United States and Japan.

At 2.2%, growth in the agricultural sector was below the level of the previous year. Production in the EU
largely stagnated. South America built on its solid above-average growth from the previous year, driven
primarily by catch-up effects in Argentina. Brazilian agricultural production, on the other hand, decreased
considerably. In North America, growth remained at the low level of the previous year. The growth rate of
agricultural production in Asia was slightly higher than the global average.
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Trends in the chemical industry

Despite significant regional differences, growth in the global chemical industry in 2024 (+3.9%)
considerably outpaced overall industrial production. While the chemical industry in China grew by around
6.8%? on the basis of official figures, it increased by 1.1% in the rest of the world. In 2024, China
accounted for 86% of global chemical growth.

Starting from the very low prior-year level, chemical production in the EU rose considerably in the first
half of 2024. This was partly due to supply bottlenecks on international trade routes through the Red Sea
and production constraints at non-European producers. Over the course of the year, however, weak
European demand resulted in a considerable decline in production. For the year as a whole, production
in the EU only grew by around 1.6%. Chemical production in Germany followed a similar trend.
However, the annual growth rate was higher due to the lower starting base at the end of 2023 (2024:
+3.1%, 2023: -12.1%).

In the United Kingdom, chemical production decreased by 1.7% (2023: -12.7%).

In the United States, the chemical industry stagnated for the second consecutive year amid overall weak
industrial demand (2024: 0.0%, 2023: -0.2%).

Chemical production in Asia rose by 5.6%, slightly more than in the previous year (+4.5%). China, the
world’s largest chemical market, grew by 6.8%.2 India increased production by 1.8% after stagnating in
the previous year. Nearly all other countries in the region also reported growth in the chemical industry.
Only Japan experienced a decline of 2.9%.

Chemical production in the Middle East also increased by a total of 2.5%. In Iran and in Saudi Arabia,
the region’s leading producers, chemical production increased slightly more than the regional average. In
contrast, Israel saw a decline in production.

Chemical production (excluding pharmaceuticals)

Real change compared with previous year 2024 2023
World 3.9% 1.4%
European Union 1.6% -8.2%
USA 0.0% -0.2%
China? 6.8% 7.4%
Emerging markets of Asia excluding China 2.4% -2.5%
Japan -2.9% -6.6%
South America 1.7% -5.7%

8 Our own estimate of the growth rate, based on official statistics from China for the overall market and individual products.

BASF Report 2024 Fundamentals of the Group | 44



At a Glance Combined Management’s Report Consolidated Financial Statements Further Information

Price trends for key commodities

Due to increasing oil supply, weak overall growth in oil demand and OPEC’s announcement to increase
production, Brent North Sea crude prices fell from an average of $84 per barrel in the first half of 2024 to
$74 per barrel in the fourth quarter. The annual average oil price was $81 per barrel, only slightly below
the price of the previous year ($82 per barrel). In contrast, the average monthly price for the chemical raw
material naphtha was $656 per metric ton, around 2% higher than the previous year ($643 per metric
ton).

Compared with the previous year, gas prices in northwestern Europe rose more sharply in 2024 due to
colder weather. However, the average annual price of €34.17 per MWh ($10.83 per mmBtu) was below
that of 2023 (€40.52 per MWh or $12.83 per mmBtu). The average price of gas in the United States was
$2.20 per mmBtu, likewise slightly lower than in the previous year ($2.54 per mmBtu.) In China, gas
prices averaged around $13.13 per mmBtu nationally (2023: $12.77 per mmBtu).
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Results of Operations

In the 2024 business year, sales stood at €65,260 million, compared with €68,902 million in the previous
year. Considerable volume increases in some core businesses, coupled with slight volume growth in
Agricultural Solutions, overcompensated for the decrease in sales volumes in Surface Technologies,
which was due to the weak momentum in the automotive industry. The overall decline in sales, however,
was mainly due to competition-driven price decreases in all segments. A particularly pronounced decline
was seen in precious metal prices in the Surface Technologies segment. Currency effects further
dampened sales performance.

Sequential development of sales
Billion €

2023 68.9

2022 87.3
2021 78.6

2020 59.1

Factors influencing BASF Group sales

Change in million € Change in %

Volumes 1,216 1.8
Prices -3,564 -5.2
Currencies -1,206 -1.8
Acquisitions = -
Divestitures -86 -0.1
Changes in the scope of consolidation -3 0.0
-3,643 -5.3

Total change in sales

Compared with the prior-year figure, EBITDA before special items’ rose by €187 million to

€7,858 million. This was due to higher earnings in our core businesses. In the Nutrition & Care, Industrial
Solutions and Chemicals segments, EBITDA before special items grew considerably — mainly owing to a
volume-related increase in the contribution margin — while it grew slightly in the Materials segment. This
was offset by earnings declines in our standalone businesses. In Agricultural Solutions, EBITDA before
special items declined considerably, mainly as a result of developments in the glufosinate-ammonium
business and higher fixed costs, partly due to an insurance payment received in the previous year. The
steep drop in precious metal prices and lower sales volumes in the Catalysts division played a
substantial role in the slight earnings decline in Surface Technologies. The decrease in EBITDA before
special items in Other was caused by currency results, hedging and other valuation effects contained in
other expenses as well as lower earnings contributions from other businesses. The EBITDA margin
before special items reached 12.0%, compared with 11.1% in the previous year.

1 For an explanation of this indicator, see the reconciliation tables in Results of Operations on page 49.
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Sequential development of EBITDA before special items

Billion €
2023 7.7
2022 10.8
2021 11.3
2020 7.4

EBITDA? amounted to €6,681 million, compared with €7,180 million in the prior-year period.

Special items?® in EBITDA amounted to -€1,176 million in 2024. Special charges for restructuring
measures in the amount of €667 million arose, in particular, for provisions in connection with the shutting
down of glufosinate-ammonium production plants and the associated site closures in the Agricultural
Solutions division, as well as for the conversion of the ERP system in the Coatings division for a
differentiated steering of the business. In addition, special charges were incurred in connection with the
cost savings program focusing on Europe and for modifications to the production structure at the
Verbund site in Ludwigshafen, Germany. Special charges from other charges and income in the amount
of €500 million included, in particular, charges in the amount of €301 million for the class settlement,
which does not constitute any admission of liability, in connection with the aqueous film-forming foam
(AFFF) multidistrict litigation in the United States.

Special items

Million € 2024 2023
Restructuring measures -667 -379
Integration costs 2 -17
Divestitures i -58
Other charges and income -500 -36
Total special items in EBITDA -1,176 -490
Impairments and reversals of impairments in special items -702 -1,076
Total special items in EBIT -1,878 -1,566

EBIT came in at €2,033 million, down on the prior-year figure by €206 million (for more information, see
the Statement of Income on page 329). Depreciation and amortization* stood at €4,648 million (previous
year: €4,941 million). This included impairments in the amount of €776 million (of which €702 million was
attributable to special items), which mainly related to the battery materials business in the Surface
Technologies segment. In the previous year, EBIT included impairments totaling around €1.1 billion.

We use the return on capital employed (ROCE) indicator to measure our rate of return. In 2024, ROCE
was 5.1% (2023: 4.5%; for more information, see page 28 onward).

2 For an explanation of this indicator, see the reconciliation tables in Results of Operations on page 49.

3 Special items may arise from the integration of acquired businesses, restructuring measures, gains or losses resulting from divestitures and sales of shareholdings, and other
expenses and income that arise outside of ordinary business activities.

4 Depreciation and amortization of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (including impairments and reversals of impairments)
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ROCE

Million € 2024 2023
EBIT BASF Group 2,033 2,240
— EBIT Other -1,340 -778
EBIT of the segments 8,378 3,018
Cost of capital basis of segments, average of month-end figures 65,527 66,687
ROCE % 5.1 45

Capital employed

Million € 2024 2023
Intangible assets 11,920 12,733
+ Property, plant and equipment 24,427 22,425
+ Integral companies accounted for using the equity method 1,614 1,753
+ Inventories 13,846 14,961
+ Accounts receivable, trade 11,305 11,989
+ Current and noncurrent other receivables and other assets® 2,403 2,827
+ Assets of disposal groups 13 -
Cost of capital basis of segments, average of month-end figures 65,527 66,687
+ Deviation from cost of capital basis at closing rates as of December 31 -721 -3,959
+ Assets not included in cost of capital basis 15,609 14,667
Assets of the BASF Group as of December 31 80,415 77,395

@ Including customer/supplier financing and other adjustments

Net income from shareholdings, financial result and income after taxes

The year-on-year increase in net income from shareholdings of €798 million to €598 million was mainly
due to the improved earnings of non-integral companies accounted for using the equity method. This
was primarily attributable to special income of €390 million in connection with the transfer of Wintershall
Dea’s assets to Harbour Energy plc, London, United Kingdom. In the previous year, special items of
-€164 million were incurred at Wintershall Dea.

The financial result improved by €57 million compared with the previous year. This primarily resulted
from higher income from the capitalization of construction period interest in the other financial result. By
contrast, the interest result was down by €20 million on the prior-year figure, mainly due to increased
financial indebtedness and higher interest expenses for hedges.

Overall, income before income taxes rose by €649 million compared with the previous year to

€2,069 million in 2024. Income tax expenses came in at €616 million (previous year: €1,041 million). The
tax rate for 2024 stood at 29.8% and was particularly influenced by the nonrecognition of deferred tax
assets on loss carryforwards. This effect had been stronger in the previous year, leading to a tax rate of
73.3%.

Income after taxes rose by €1,074 million compared with the previous year to €1,453 million.
Noncontrolling interests were almost at prior-year level at €155 million. This led to net income of
€1,298 million.

Earnings per share for 2024 amounted to €1.45 (previous year: €0.25).
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Further indicators of results of operations

We also use alternative performance measures (APMs) to steer the BASF Group. Investors, analysts and
rating agencies use them to assess our performance. These are not defined in IFRS®. As such, the
methods of calculation may differ from those used by other companies. Alternative performance
measures for the results of operations are EBIT, EBITDA, the EBITDA margin before special items and
adjusted earnings per share. Other APMs are net debt (for more information, see page 54 onward) and
capital expenditures (see also from page 33 onward).

At the start of the 2024 business year, we introduced EBITDA before special items and free cash flow as
new most important key performance indicators for the short- and medium-term steering of the

BASF Group. For a detailed explanation of how these indicators are calculated, see Our Steering
Concept from page 28 onward of this report.

EBITDA before special items

Million € 2024 2023
EBIT 2,033 2,240
— Special items -1,878 -1,566
EBIT before special items 3,911 3,806
+ Depreciation and amortization 3,872 3,798
+ Impairments and reversals of impairments on property, plant and equipment and

intangible assets before special items 74 67
Depreciation, amortization, impairments and reversals of impairments on property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets before special items 3,946 3,865
EBITDA before special items 7,858 7,671
Sales 65,260 68,902
EBITDA margin before special items % 12.0 11.1
EBITDA
Million € 2024 2023
EBIT 2,033 2,240
+ Depreciation and amortization 3,872 3,798
+ Impairments and reversals of impairments on property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 776 1,143
Depreciation, amortization, impairments and reversals of impairments on property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets 4,648 4,941
EBITDA 6,681 7,180

Compared with earnings per share, the adjusted earnings per share are firstly adjusted for special items.
Amortization, impairments and reversals of impairments on intangible assets are then eliminated.
Amortization of intangible assets primarily results from the purchase price allocation following
acquisitions and is therefore of a temporary nature. The effects of these adjustments on income taxes
and on noncontrolling interests are also considered. This makes adjusted earnings per share a suitable
measure for making comparisons over time and predicting future profitability.

In 2024, adjusted earnings per share amounted to €3.51, compared with €2.78 in the previous year.
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Million €

Income after taxes

— Special items®?

+ Amortization, impairments and reversals of impairments on intangible assets

— Amortization, impairments and reversals of impairments on intangible assets
contained in special items

— Adjustments to income taxes

Adjusted income after taxes

— Adjusted noncontrolling interests

Adjusted net income

Weighted average number of outstanding shares®
Adjusted earnings per share

@ Includes special items in net income from shareholdings and in the financial result of €386 million in the 2024 business year and -€245 million for 2023.

in thousands

€

2024
1,453
-1,492
670

77

223
3,315
183
3,132
892,522
3.51

2023
379
-1,811
879

257
171
2,640
156
2,484
892,641
2.78

Due to the share buyback program terminated in February 2023, the weighted average number of outstanding shares in the 2024 business year was 892,522,164 and

892,640,562 in the 2023 business year.

Sales and earnings

Million € 2024 2023 +/-
Sales 65,260 68,902 -5.3%
EBITDA before special items 7,858 7,671 2.4%
Special items in EBITDA -1,176 -490 -139.9%
EBITDA 6,681 7,180 -7.0%
EBITDA margin before special items % 12.0 1.1 -
Depreciation and amortization® 4,648 4,941 -5.9%
EBIT before special items 3,911 3,806 2.8%
Special items in EBIT -1,878 -1,566 -19.9%
EBIT 2,033 2,240 -9.2%
Income before income taxes 2,069 1,420 45.7%
Income after taxes 1,453 379 283.3%
Net income 1,298 225 475.8%
Earnings per share € 1.45 0.25 475.9%
Adjusted earnings per share € 3.51 2.78 26.1%

a Depreciation and amortization of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (including impairments and reversals of impairments)
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Million € Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Full year
Sales 17,553 16,111 15,739 15,856 65,260
EBITDA before special items 2,712 1,957 1,622 1,567 7,858
Special items in EBITDA -57 -394 -345 -380 -1,176
EBITDA 2,655 1,563 1,277 1,187 6,681
EBITDA margin before special items % 15.4 121 10.3 9.9 12.0
Depreciation and amortization® 965 1,047 1,027 1,609 4,648
EBIT before special items 1,754 969 635 554 3,911
Special items in EBIT -64 -453 -385 -976 -1,878
EBIT 1,689 516 250 -422 2,033
Income before income taxes 1,772 398 570 -671 2,069
Income after taxes 1,411 470 343 -770 1,453
Net income 1,368 430 287 -786 1,298
Eamings per share € 1.53 0.48 0.32 -0.88 1.45
Adjusted earnings per share € 1.68 0.93 0.32 0.59 3.51
Sales and earnings by quarter 20232

Million € Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Full year
Sales 19,991 17,305 15,735 15,871 68,902
EBITDA before special items 2,864 1,944 1,545 1,317 7,671
Special items in EBITDA -54 -37 -182 -217 -490
EBITDA 2,811 1,908 1,363 1,099 7,180
EBITDA margin before special items % 14.3 1.2 9.8 8.3 11.1
Depreciation and amortization® 944 934 969 2,094 4,941
EBIT before special items 1,931 1,007 575 292 3,806
Special items in EBIT -65 -33 -181 -1,287 -1,566
EBIT 1,867 974 394 -995 2,240
Income before income taxes 1,930 851 -38 -1,323 1,420
Income after taxes 1,604 555 -209 -1,571 379
Net income 1,562 499 -249 -1,587 225
Earnings per share € 1.75 0.56 -0.28 -1.78 0.25
Adjusted earnings per share € 1.93 0.72 0.32 -0.18 2.78

@ Quarterly results not audited

b Depreciation and amortization of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (including impairments and reversals of impairments)
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Intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment

Integral investments accounted for using the equity method
Non-integral investments accounted for using the equity method
Other financial assets

Deferred tax assets

Receivables for income taxes?

Other receivables and miscellaneous assets?

Noncurrent assets

Inventories

Accounts receivable, trade

Receivables for income taxes?

Other receivables and miscellaneous assets?
Marketable securities

Cash and cash equivalents

Assets of disposal groups

Current assets

Total assets

2 Since the 2024 business year, receivables for income taxes, which were previously included in other receivables and miscellaneous assets,

The prior-year figures have been adjusted.

December 31, 2024

Million €
11,983
27,197

2,399
3,411
1,165
574

88
2,366
49,183

13,681
10,393
740
3,256
67
2,914
181
31,232
80,415

%
14.9
33.8

3.0
4.2
1.4
0.7
0.1
2.9
61.2

17.0
12.9
0.9
4.0
0.1
3.6
0.2
38.8
100.0

December 31, 2023

Million €
12,216
24,080

2,054
4,518
1,099
617
80
1,258
45,923

13,876
10,414
717
3,787
53
2,624
31,472
77,395

0/0
15.8
31.1

2.7
5.8
1.4
0.8
0.1
1.6
59.3

17.9
13.5
0.9
4.9
0.1
3.4
40.7
100.0

have been reported separately.

Total assets amounted to €80,415 million as of December 31, 2024, around €3 billion above the prior-

year figure.

Noncurrent assets increased by €3,260 million compared with December 31, 2023. The slight decrease
of intangible assets amounted to €233 million and was mainly attributable to amortization of €670 million,
including impairments of €87 million. Alongside additions of €133 million, currency effects (€341 million)

in particular had an offsetting effect.

The increase of €3,118 million in property, plant and equipment was mainly due to additions of
€6,694 million, particularly in connection with the construction of our Verbund site in Zhanjiang, China.
Currency effects in the amount of €537 million also contributed to the rise in property, plant and
equipment. Depreciation amounted to €3,978 million and included impairments and reversals of
impairments totaling €689 million, which mainly related to the battery materials business in the Surface

Technologies segment.

Compared with the prior year-end, the carrying amounts of integral investments accounted for using the
equity method increased by €344 million to €2,399 million, mainly due to the addition of the shareholding
in the Nordlicht 1 and 2 wind farm projects. The carrying amounts of non-integral shareholdings
accounted for using the equity method as of December 31, 2024, were €1,107 million below the prior
year-end figure. This was mainly attributable to the decline in the carrying amount of Wintershall Dea,
which resulted from the transfer of assets to Harbour Energy, a capital decrease and a dividend
payment. This was only partially offset by the addition of the equity-accounted shareholding in Harbour

Energy.
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Noncurrent other receivables and miscellaneous assets rose by €1,107 million to €2,366 million, which
was mainly attributable to a rise in defined benefit assets. Derivatives with positive market values had a
slightly offsetting effect.

Current assets amounted to €31,232 million as of December 31, 2024, €240 million below the prior-year
figure. The decline in inventories of €195 million mainly resulted from the Agricultural Solutions segment,
whereas all other segments recorded a slight increase in inventories. Trade accounts receivable
remained at the prior-year level. Current other receivables and miscellaneous assets amounted to
€3,256 million, €531 million below the prior-year figure, which was mainly attributable to lower precious
metal trading items and lower tax refund claims.

Cash and cash equivalents rose by €289 million to €2,914 million.

Assets of disposal groups amounted to €181 million as of December 31, 2024, and mainly included the
assets from the agreed sale of BASF’s Food and Health Performance Ingredients business.

For more information on the composition of individual asset items and their development, see the Notes
to the Consolidated Financial Statements from page 336 onward.
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December 31, 2024

December 31, 2023

Million € % Million € %
Subscribed capital 1,142 14 1,142 15
Capital reserves 3,139 3.9 3,139 4.1
Retained earnings 30,883 38.4 32,517 42.0
Other comprehensive income 435 0.5 -1,521 -2.0
Noncontrolling interests 1,284 1.6 1,368 1.8
Equity 36,884 45.9 36,646 47.3
Provisions for pensions and similar obligations 2,403 3.0 2,896 3.7
Deferred tax liabilities 1,005 1.2 1,140 1.5
Income tax provisions 885 0.4 335 0.4
Other provisions 1,883 2.3 1,684 2.2
Financial indebtedness 19,122 23.8 17,085 22.1
Other liabilities 1,744 2.2 1,739 2.3
Noncurrent liabilities 26,492 32.9 24,879 32.2
Accounts payable, trade 6,923 8.6 6,741 8.7
Provisions 3,320 41 3,214 4.2
Liabilities for income taxes® 404 0.5 442 0.6
Financial indebtedness 2,639 83 2,182 2.8
Other liabilities® 3,714 4.6 3,291 4.3
Liabilities of disposal groups 39 0.0 - -
Current liabilities 17,039 21.2 15,871 20.5
Total equity and liabilities 80,415 100.0 77,395 100.0

@ In the previous year, liabilities for income taxes were reported together with liabilities for other taxes. As of the 2024 business year, these are recognized under other
liabilities. The prior-year figure has been consequently adjusted by the amount for other taxes (€359 million).

Equity stood at €36,884 million, on a level with December 31, 2023. Retained earnings declined by
€1,634 million compared with the end of the previous year. This resulted mainly from dividend payments
to the shareholders of BASF SE for 2023 in the amount of €3,035 million and from net income in the
amount of €1,298 million. Other comprehensive income rose by €1,956 million, in particular as a result of
actuarial gains and currency effects.

On account of the increase in total assets, the equity ratio stood at 45.9%, down on the prior-year figure
(47.3%).

Noncurrent liabilities increased by €1,614 million compared with the 2023 year-end, mainly due to the
€2,037 million rise in noncurrent financial indebtedness. This increase was primarily attributable to the
issue of new bonds with a carrying amount of around €1.7 billion, of which around €1.4 billion related to
private placements, and extending the utilization of the credit line in China for the construction of the
Verbund site in Zhanjiang by around €2 billion. This was offset by the reclassification of five bonds, with a
total carrying amount of around €1.7 billion, from noncurrent to current financial indebtedness.

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations decreased by €493 million compared with December 31,
2023, mainly due to slightly higher interest rates and income on plan assets.

Deferred tax liabilities declined by €135 million, whereas income tax provisions remained on a level with
the previous year.
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The increase of €199 million in other provisions was mainly due to increased provisions for restoration
obligations and for contract liabilities, particularly in connection with the planned closure of the
glufosinate-ammonium production plants in Germany.

Current liabilities rose by €1,169 million compared with December 31, 2023, to €17,039 million. Trade
accounts payable were up by €181 million on the prior year-end figure. The €105 million increase in
current provisions was mainly due to higher provisions for emission rights.

At €404 million, income tax liabilities were down slightly on the prior-year level.

The aforementioned reclassification of bonds from noncurrent to current financial indebtedness was the
main cause of the €457 million increase in financial liabilities. This was offset by the scheduled
repayment of a bond with a carrying amount of €500 million as well as the €710 million decrease in
liabilities to banks, mainly due to the repayment of two loans.

Compared with the previous year, other liabilities rose by €424 million, in particular due to the liability
relating to the class settlement in connection with the AFFF multidistrict litigation in the United States.

Liabilities of disposal groups stood at €39 million.

Net debt amounted to €18,781 million on December 31, 2024, and was therefore around €2.2 billion
higher than the figure at the end of the previous year.

For more information on the composition and development of individual asset items, see the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements from page 336 onward.

Net debt

Million € December 31,2024  December 31, 2023
Noncurrent financial indebtedness 19,122 17,085
+ Current financial indebtedness 2,639 2,182
Financial indebtedness 21,762 19,268
— Marketable securities 67 53
— Cash and cash equivalents 2,914 2,624
Net debt 18,781 16,590

Off-balance sheet obligations

Off-balance sheet obligations amounting to €29 billion (2023: €30 billion) mainly relate to long-term
purchase obligations for raw materials and long-term supply agreements for electricity from renewable
sources (for more information, see the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements from page 412
onward). In addition, obligations exist in connection with initiated or planned investment projects
amounting to €7 billion (2023: €11 billion), primarily in connection with the construction of the new
Verbund site in Zhanjiang, China (for more information, see page 85).
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Financing policy and credit ratings

Our financing policy aims to ensure our solvency at all times, limiting the risks associated with financing
and optimizing our cost of capital. We preferably meet our external financing needs on the international
capital markets.

BASF strives for a single A rating, which ensures unrestricted access to financial and capital markets.
Our financing measures are aligned with our operational business planning as well as the company’s
strategic direction and also ensure the financial flexibility to take advantage of strategic options.

Maturities of financial indebtedness
Million €

2025
2026
2027
2028
2029

2030 and beyond 10,880

BASF enjoys good credit ratings, especially compared with competitors in the chemical industry.
Standard & Poor’s maintained its rating of A—/A-2/outlook stable on December 2, 2024. Moody’s rating
of A3/P-2/outlook stable was most recently confirmed on November 18, 2024. Fitch confirmed its rating
of A/F1/outlook stable on November 1, 2024.

We have solid financing, both for ongoing business and for investment projects initiated or planned.
Corporate bonds form the basis of our medium to long-term debt financing. These are issued in euros
and other currencies with different maturities as part of our €20 billion debt issuance program. The goal
is to create a balanced maturity profile, diversify our financing and optimize our debt capital financing
conditions.

For short-term financing, we use BASF SE’s global commercial paper program, which has an issuing
volume of up to $12.5 billion. As of December 31, 2024, no commercial paper was outstanding under this
program. A firmly committed, syndicated credit line of €6 billion with a term until 2029 covers the
repayment of outstanding commercial paper. It can also be used for general company purposes. In 2024,
the term of this credit line was extended until 2029, and the credit line was not used at any point in 2024.
In 2023, BASF Integrated Site (Guangdong) Co. Ltd., China, signed a syndicated bank term loan facility
totaling 40 billion Chinese renminbi with a maturity of 15 years for the construction of the Verbund site in
Zhanjiang. Of this amount, 17 billion Chinese renminbi (€2.1 billion) was utilized as of December 31,
2024. Our external financing is largely independent of short-term fluctuations in the credit markets.

BASF Group’s most important financial contracts contain no side agreements with regard to specific
financial ratios (financial covenants) or compliance with a specific rating (rating trigger). To minimize risks
and leverage internal optimization potential within the Group, we bundle the financing, financial
investments and foreign currency hedging of BASF SE’s subsidiaries within the BASF Group where
possible. Foreign currency risks are primarily hedged centrally using derivative financial instruments in
the market.

Our interest risk management generally pursues the goal of reducing interest expenses for the
BASF Group and limiting interest risks. Interest rate hedging transactions are therefore conducted with
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banks in order to turn selected liabilities to the capital market from fixed to variable interest rates or vice
versa (for more information, see the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements on pages 397 and
412).

Statement of cash flows

In the 2024 business year, cash flows from operating activities stood at €6,946 million, down by
€1,165 million on the prior-year figure. The decline was mainly caused by €1,434 million less cash
released from net working capital. Cash inflows, both from the reduction in inventories and trade
accounts receivable, were considerably lower in 2024 than in the previous year and totaled €264 million
(previous year: €3,339 million). The increase in trade accounts payable led to cash released in the
amount of €96 million, whereas cash in the amount of €1,544 million was tied up in the previous year.

In addition, the change in current and deferred taxes resulted in €784 million more tied up in cash than in
the previous year. Dividends received from investments accounted for using the equity method fell by
€180 million to €442 million; this was due in particular to reduced dividend payments from BASF-YPC
Company Ltd., Nanjing, China.

By contrast, income after taxes and after adjustment of noncash items resulted in cash inflows that were
€591 million higher than in the previous year; in addition, payments for variable compensation were
€689 million lower than in the previous year.

Cash flows from investing activities totaled -€5,081 million in the business year under review, after
-€4,991 million in the previous year. Payments for intangible assets and property, plant and equipment
increased by €803 million and were mainly incurred in connection with investments in the new Verbund
site in China.

In the 2024 business year, €202 million was paid for acquisitions. This mainly related to the takeover of
plants at the MDI production facility in Shanghai, China, which was previously operated jointly by BASF
and Huntsman. Payments received in the amount of €75 million related to various smaller divestitures.

Payments were made in the amount of €598 million for the acquisition of equity-accounted shareholdings
in the Nordlicht 1 and 2 wind farm projects, and for subsequent capital increases. Payments received in
connection with the disposal of equity instruments included €1,169 million in connection with the transfer
of Wintershall Dea assets to Harbour Energy and a capital repayment from Wintershall Dea in the amount
of €556 million.

Cash flows from financing activities amounted to -€1,547 million, compared with -€2,905 million in
2023. The repayment and addition of financial and similar liabilities was reduced and their net change
resulted in an improvement of €1,524 million in cash flows from financing activities. The dividend
payment of €3,035 million to the shareholders of BASF SE remained unchanged compared with the
previous year. By contrast, dividends paid to noncontrolling shareholders climbed by €190 million to
€249 million.

Free cash flow, which remains after deducting payments made for property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets from cash flows from operating activities, represents the financial resources remaining
after investments. Free cash flow amounted to €748 million, compared with €2,715 million in 2023.

For more information on the statement of cash flows, see Note 26 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements from page 430 onward.
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Statement of cash flows

Million € 2024 2023
Net income 1,298 225
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortization of intangible assets 4,648 4,941
Changes in net working capital® 360 1,795
Miscellaneous items® 639 1,150
Cash flows from operating activities 6,946 8,111
Payments made for property, plant and equipment and intangible assets -6,198 -5,395
Acquisitions/divestitures -127 27
Changes in financial assets and miscellaneous items 1,244 377
Cash flows from investing activities -5,081 -4,991
Capital repayments and other equity transactions -46 -70
Changes in financial and similar liabilities 1,783 259
Dividends -3,284 -3,094
Cash flows from financing activities -1,547 -2,905
Cash-effective changes in cash and cash equivalents 318 215
Changes in cash and cash equivalents from foreign exchanges rates and changes in the scope of

consolidation -21 -106
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 2,624 2,516
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year® 2,921 2,624

@ The cash flow statement was adjusted in 2023. Net working capital and miscellaneous items have been redefined. Net working capital now comprises inventories and
trade accounts receivable less trade accounts payable.
b n 2024, the cash and cash equivalents in the cash flow statement differ from the figure in the balance sheet due to the existence of disposal groups.

Free cash flow

Million € 2024 2023
Cash flows from operating activities 6,946 8,111
— Payments made for property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 6,198 5,395
Free cash flow 748 2,715

Reconciliation of segment cash flow to free cash flow

Million € 2024 2023
Segment cash flow 2,339 5,462
+ Net income from shareholdings 598 -200
+ Financial result -563 -620
+ Income taxes? -616 -1,041
— Income after taxes attributable to noncontrolling interests 155 154
+ Changes in items included in the segment cash flow that are recognized under Other, as well as

other items presented in the cash flows from operating activities® -855 -733
Free cash flow 748 2,715

@ The value corresponds to the amount reported in the statement of income and does not represent a cash flow.
For more information on the composition of the items, see page 30.
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Actual Development Compared with Outlook for 2024

Earnings and cash flow forecast for the BASF Group

In 2024, the BASF Group generated EBITDA before special items of €7.9 billion. This figure is slightly
below the forecast range at the beginning of the year of €8.0 billion to €8.6 billion. This was mainly due to
the earnings declines in our standalone businesses. While we had forecast a slight decline in EBITDA
before special items for Agricultural Solutions in February 2024, the segment posted much lower
earnings. In the Surface Technologies segment, EBITDA before special items fell slightly, after we had
anticipated a result on par with the previous year (for more information on the background to the
deviating developments, see below). Our core businesses increased their earnings as assumed.

The BASF Group’s free cash flow amounted to €0.7 billion in the 2024 business year and therefore
exceeded our forecast range of €0.1 billion to €0.6 billion. This increase was due to payments for
intangible assets and property, plant and equipment, which rose considerably compared with the
previous year, but were lower than expected at €6.2 billion (forecast: €6.5 billion). Cash flows from
operating activities amounted to €6.9 billion and were within our forecast range of €6.6 billion to
€7.1 billion.

CO, emissions forecast for the BASF Group

CO, emissions amounted to 17.0 million metric tons and were therefore within the range we had forecast
in February 2024 of between 16.7 million metric tons to 17.7 million metric tons. Additional emissions
due to higher production volumes were offset by reductions in emissions as a result of process
efficiencies and the increased use of renewable energies.

Capex forecast for the BASF Group

In 2024, we invested around €6.0 billion in property, plant and equipment, excluding additions from
acquisitions, IT investments, restoration obligations and right-of-use assets arising from leases. The
figure forecast in February 2024 was around €6.2 billion. All core businesses and the Agricultural
Solutions segment invested less than originally planned. Only the Surface Technologies segment’s
investments were slightly higher than planned.

Earnings and cash flow forecast for the segments

In the Chemicals segment, EBITDA before special items and the segment cash flow developed as
expected in February 2024. The segment considerably increased its earnings, whereas the cash flow fell
sharply.

The Materials segment also developed in line with our expectations. Earnings improved slightly. As
forecast, the Performance Materials division increased EBITDA before special items, primarily due to a
higher contribution margin. In the Monomers division, EBITDA before special items rose considerably.
Here too, a higher contribution margin played a significant role and, contrary to our expectations,
overcompensated for the forecast increase in fixed costs. We had initially forecast a slight earnings
decline for the division in February 2024. In accordance with our forecast, the segment’s cash flow
decreased considerably.

As assumed, the Industrial Solutions segment also considerably increased EBITDA before special
items. As forecast, the segment’s cash flow declined considerably.

In the Nutrition & Care segment, we had forecast a considerable earnings increase and a sharp fall in
segment cash flow for the 2024 business year. Both indicators developed as forecast.
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Earnings in the Surface Technologies segment were slightly below the prior-year figure. We originally
expected EBITDA before special items at the prior-year level. This decrease was caused by a sharp
earnings decline in the Catalysts division, which primarily resulted from lower precious metal prices and
volumes. We had expected a slight increase in earnings. In the Coatings division, EBITDA before special
items, on the other hand, was slightly above the prior-year level, although we had projected a slight
decline. A higher contribution margin more than compensated for higher fixed costs and lower volumes.
As forecast, cash flow declined considerably in both divisions.

In the Agricultural Solutions segment, EBITDA before special items decreased considerably rather than
slightly. Alongside the expected rise in fixed costs, the difficult market conditions in the glufosinate-
ammonium business were instrumental in the decline being steeper than planned. Unlike earnings, the
segment’s cash flow developed more positively than expected. It was slightly above the prior-year figure
mainly due to significant inventory reduction and a lower increase in receivables. We had anticipated a
considerable decrease.
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EBITDA before

Million € Sales special items EBITDA

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Chemicals 10,838 10,369 1,342 1,167 1,314 1,167
Materials 13,510 14,149 1,805 1,650 1,769 1,523
Industrial Solutions 8,175 8,010 1,161 965 1,140 1,010
Nutrition & Care 6,729 6,858 814 565 819 578
Surface Technologies 12,898 16,204 1,375 1,520 1,160 1,351
Agricultural Solutions 9,798 10,092 1,938 2,270 1,659 2,177
Other 3,312 3,220 -578 -466 -1,179 -626
BASF Group 65,260 68,902 7,858 7,671 6,681 7,180
Segment overview

Segment Investments including

Million € cash flow Assets acquisitions?

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Chemicals -2,051 -936 14,266 11,468 3,403 2,706
Materials 766 1,369 10,135 9,716 1,139 1,083
Industrial Solutions 868 1,292 5,629 5,576 289 285
Nutrition & Care -31 503 7,887 7,496 809 765
Surface Technologies 925 1,488 11,513 12,657 560 621
Agricultural Solutions 1,861 1,746 15,377 16,089 387 353
Other® 15,609 14,393 241 195
BASF Group 80,415 77,395 6,826 6,006

8 Additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
P Includes assets of businesses recognized under Other and reconciliation to assets of the BASF Group
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Sales?
Million € Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Chemicals 2,764 2,833 2,838 2,679 2,714 2,430 2,521 2,427
Materials 3,441 3,844 3,416 3,609 3,413 3,349 3,240 3,348
Industrial Solutions 2,057 2,143 2,147 2,050 2,092 1,948 1,879 1,869
Nutrition & Care 1,729 1,826 1,667 1,712 1,711 1,688 1,623 1,631
Surface Technologies 3,347 4,578 3,235 4,226 3,132 3,887 3,183 3,514
Agricultural Solutions 3,478 3,891 1,937 2,231 1,849 1,744 2,534 2,227
Other 736 877 870 799 829 689 876 855
BASF Group 17,553 19,991 16,111 17,305 15,739 15,735 15,856 15,871
EBITDA before special items?
Million € Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Chemicals 453 426 444 393 342 252 103 95
Materials 508 448 448 462 484 360 365 380
Industrial Solutions 332 300 320 207 301 207 208 250
Nutrition & Care 262 192 183 140 201 104 168 130
Surface Technologies 356 402 366 374 341 404 312 340
Agricultural Solutions 1,361 1,432 135 392 49 225 394 221
Other -560 -336 62 -24 -96 -8 16 -99
BASF Group 2,712 2,864 1,957 1,944 1,622 1,545 1,567 1,317
Segment cash flow?
Million € Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Chemicals -556 -187 -406 31 -363 -171 -726 -609
Materials 85 111 137 573 299 354 246 332
Industrial Solutions 59 148 150 414 356 416 303 314
Nutrition & Care -64 3 19 186 52 157 -38 157
Surface Technologies 292 307 190 427 232 307 211 448
Agricultural Solutions -715 -758 1,005 1,079 612 853 959 572

@ Quarterly results not audited
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Chemicals

The Chemicals segment comprises the Petrochemicals and Intermediates
operating divisions. It contributes to our direct customer business and supplies
the other segments with basic chemicals and intermediates, contributing to the
organic growth of our key value chains. Alongside internal transfers, our
customers mainly come from the chemical and plastics industries. We aim to
further strengthen our competitiveness through technological leadership,
operational excellence and products with a lower carbon footprint.

At a glance

€1,342 million -€2,051 million
EBITDA before special items Segment cash flow

2023: €1,167 million 2023: -€936 million

Compared with the previous year, sales in the Chemicals segment rose. Sales growth in the
Petrochemicals division more than made up for the decline in the Intermediates division.

Factors influencing sales

Chemicals Petrochemicals Intermediates
Volumes 8.1% 8.7% 6.8%
Prices -3.1% 0.3% -11.7%
Currencies -0.5% -0.5% -0.6%
Portfolio - - -
Sales 4.5% 8.5% -5.5%

The increase in sales were mainly attributable to higher volumes in both divisions, due primarily to lower
imports to Europe in the first half of 2024 as a result of the conflict in the Red Sea, as well as both
planned and unplanned plant shutdowns among competitors. The Petrochemicals division increased
volumes across all value chains, particularly in the propylene value chain, for steam cracker products as
well as styrene monomers. The Intermediates division posted higher sales volumes, especially in Europe,
in the amines as well as acids and polyalcohols business areas.

By contrast, lower prices in all business areas of the Intermediates division weighed on sales
performance for the segment. This development was mainly driven by overcapacities in the market.
Prices were slightly above the prior-year level in the Petrochemicals division, with higher prices for steam
cracker products making up for lower prices in the propylene value chain.

Minor negative currency effects in both divisions resulted primarily from the Brazilian real and the
Chinese renminbi.
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EBITDA before special items' for the Chemicals segment rose considerably compared with the prior-
year figure. The increase was based on considerable earnings growth in the Petrochemicals division. The
division improved EBITDA before special items, thanks in particular to a volume-related increase in the
contribution margin, especially the margin for steam cracker products. Higher fixed costs, which were
predominantly incurred in connection with the construction of the Verbund site in Zhanjiang, China, had
an offsetting effect. In the Intermediates division, EBITDA before special items declined considerably.
The decrease was attributable above all to a price-related decrease in the contribution margin in North
America, especially in the butanediol and derivatives business, and a lower earnings contribution from
equity-accounted shareholdings in China.

Segment cash flow' was considerably below the prior-year figure in both divisions. This was mainly
driven by higher capital expenditures, especially for the construction of the Verbund site in China. A
buildup in inventories to support the increase in sales volumes had an additional negative impact on the
segment’s cash flow development. Both divisions had reduced inventories in the prior-year period.

Segment data — Chemicals

Million € 2024 2023 +/-
Sales to third parties 10,838 10,369 4.5%
of which Petrochemicals 8,050 7,418 8.5%
Intermediates 2,788 2,951 -5.5%
Intersegment transfers 3,962 3,606 9.9%
Sales including transfers 14,800 13,975 5.9%
EBITDA before special items 1,342 1,167 15.0%
Special items in EBITDA -28 0 .
EBITDA 1,314 1,167 12.6%
EBITDA margin before special items % 12.4 1.3 -
Depreciation and amortization? 885 803 10.3%
EBIT before special items 503 361 39.4%
Special items in EBIT -74 4 .
Income from operations (EBIT) 429 364 17.7%
Investments including acquisitions® 3,403 2,706 25.8%
Segment cash flow -2,051 -936 -119.2%
Assets (December 31) 14,266 11,468 24.4%
Research and development expenses 80 83 -4.4%

8 Depreciation and amortization of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (including impairments and reversals of impairments)
b Additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

Chemicals — sales by region

By location of customer

5.5%

South America, Africa,
Middle East

52.8%

Europe

15.1%
Asia Pacific €10,838 million

26.6%

North America

' For EBITDA before special items and cash flow, “slight” means a change of 0.1%-10.0%, while “considerable” and its synonyms are used for changes of 10.1% and higher.
“At prior-year level” indicates no change (+/-0.0%).
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Materials

In terms of production capacity, our Materials segment is one of the world’s
leading suppliers of high-performance plastics as well as their precursors and
home to the operating divisions Performance Materials and Monomers. With its
broad portfolio of large-volume monomers and basic polymers in the isocyanate
and polyamide value chains, the Monomers division follows a lean and cost-
driven approach. The Performance Materials division offers innovative and
customized solutions in engineering plastics, polyurethanes and thermoplastic
polyurethanes, and creates value through cocreations with customers,
particularly in the field of sustainability.

At a glance

€1,805 million €766 million
EBITDA before special items Segment cash flow
2023: €1,650 million 2023: €1,369 million

In the Materials segment, sales were below the prior-year figure in both operating divisions.

Factors influencing sales

Performance
Materials Materials Monomers
Volumes 21% 0.7% 3.5%
Prices -5.5% -4.8% -6.2%
Currencies -1.0% -1.2% -0.8%
Portfolio -0.1% -0.2% -
Sales -4.5% -5.5% -3.5%

Both divisions were able to increase sales volumes, particularly in the Asia Pacific region. The Monomers
division additionally increased volumes in Europe. In particular, it increased sales of MDI and propylene
oxide. Volumes in the Performance Materials division were mainly higher for polyurethane systems.

However, the positive volume development was more than offset by negative price effects in all regions
and value chains. The Monomers division reported the biggest price decline in the TDI business, with TDI
prices in China plummeting to 2015 levels at times.

Currency effects, primarily relating to the Chinese renminbi, the Brazilian real and the South Korean won,
had a slight negative impact on the segment’s sales performance.
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EBITDA before special items grew in both divisions. The increase was attributable to a higher
contribution margin in Europe due to higher volumes. Higher fixed costs had an offsetting effect.
However, the cost savings measures implemented were unable to offset the contribution of positive
one-off effects from the previous year.

The segment’s EBITDA included special items totaling -€37 million. Special charges resulted above all
for expenses relating to adapting the production structure at the Verbund site in Ludwigshafen, Germany.
Special income arose mainly from a contractually agreed one-time payment.

Segment cash flow for the Materials segment was considerably below the figure for the previous year.
Cash tied up in the working capital of both divisions was a key factor in the cash flow decrease, whereas
cash had been released in the previous year based primarily on systematic inventory reductions. Higher
earnings and lower capital expenditures were unable to make up this deficit.

Segment data — Materials

Million € 2024 2023 +/-
Sales to third parties 13,510 14,149 -4.5%
of which Performance Materials 6,848 7,244 -5.5%
Monomers 6,661 6,905 -3.5%
Intersegment transfers 825 864 -4.5%
Sales including transfers 14,335 15,013 -4.5%
EBITDA before special items 1,805 1,650 9.4%
Special items in EBITDA -37 -127 71.1%
EBITDA 1,769 1,523 16.1%
EBITDA margin before special items % 13.4 1.7 -
Depreciation and amortization® 830 1,146 -27.6%
EBIT before special items 987 826 19.4%
Special items in EBIT -48 -449 89.2%
Income from operations (EBIT) 939 378 148.6%
Investments including acquisitions® 1,139 1,083 5.2%
Segment cash flow 766 1,369 -44.1%
Assets (December 31) 10,135 9,716 4.3%
Research and development expenses 180 185 -2.7%

a Depreciation and amortization of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (including impairments and reversals of impairments)
b Additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

Materials — sales by region

By location of customer

5.4%
South America, Africa,
Middle East 37.6%
Europe
€13,510 million
34.5%
Asia Pacific
22.5%

North America
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Industrial Solutions

The Industrial Solutions segment consists of the Dispersions & Resins and the
Performance Chemicals divisions. It develops and markets ingredients and
additives for industrial applications, such as polymer dispersions, resins,
additives, electronic materials and antioxidants. We aim to grow organically in key
industries, such as paints and coatings, construction, electronic materials,
chemicals, plastics and adhesives, paper coatings, automotive as well as energy
and resources, and expand our market position by leveraging our comprehensive
industry expertise and application know-how.

At a glance

€1,161 million €868 million
EBITDA before special items Segment cash flow
2023: €965 million 2023: €1,292 million

Industrial Solutions increased sales compared with 2023 due to sales growth in the Dispersions & Resins
division. Sales in the Performance Chemicals division were slightly below the prior-year figure.

Factors influencing sales

Industrial Dispersions Performance

Solutions & Resins Chemicals
Volumes 7.0% 7.0% 6.9%
Prices -3.6% -2.1% -6.1%
Currencies -1.1% -1.1% -1.1%
Portfolio -0.2% - -0.5%
Sales 21% 3.8% -0.7%

The increase in sales was mainly driven by higher volumes in all regions and in nearly all business areas
based on a slight uptick in demand.

By contrast, prices declined in all regions and business areas, primarily as a result of lower prices for raw
materials. Prices were also reduced in order to secure market share.

Sales in the Industrial Solutions segment were additionally impacted by negative currency effects, above
all relating to the Brazilian real, the Chinese renminbi and the Japanese yen.

EBITDA before special items saw a considerable year-on-year increase in both divisions, mainly due to
a volume-related increase in the contribution margin. Earnings growth also received slight support from
lower fixed costs compared with 2023. The decline in fixed costs resulted mainly from currency effects
and cost reduction measures.
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Segment cash flow declined considerably in the Industrial Solutions segment, mainly due to buildups of
inventories after having reduced inventories in 2023. In addition, there was a lower reduction in
receivables compared with the previous year. By contrast, higher earnings had a positive impact on cash
flow in both divisions.

Segment data - Industrial Solutions

Million € 2024 2023 +/-
Sales to third parties 8,175 8,010 2.1%
of which Dispersions & Resins 5,110 4,921 3.8%
Performance Chemicals 3,065 3,088 -0.7%
Intersegment transfers 385 436 -11.7%
Sales including transfers 8,560 8,445 1.4%
EBITDA before special items 1,161 965 20.3%
Special items in EBITDA -22 45 .
EBITDA 1,140 1,010 12.8%
EBITDA margin before special items % 14.2 12.0 -
Depreciation and amortization® 360 349 3.0%
EBIT before special items 811 625 29.8%
Special items in EBIT -32 35 .
Income from operations (EBIT) 780 660 18.1%
Investments including acquisitions® 289 285 1.3%
Segment cash flow 868 1,292 -32.8%
Assets (December 31) 5,629 5,576 1.0%
Research and development expenses 144 150 -3.9%

a Depreciation and amortization of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (including impairments and reversals of impairments)
b Additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

Industrial Solutions — sales by region

By location of customer
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Nutrition & Care

The Nutrition & Care segment consists of the Care Chemicals and the Nutrition &
Health divisions. This segment serves the growing demands of food and feed
producers and of the pharmaceutical, cosmetics, detergent and cleaner
industries as well as the ever-increasing requirements of fast-moving consumer
goods. We leverage the BASF Verbund to offer innovative products, combining
application performance with beneficial sustainability profiles. We strive to expand
our position as a leading provider of essential ingredients in the areas of nutrition,
home and personal care, mainly through organic growth. We focus on growth
markets, positioning ourselves as the preferred partner for the green and digital
transformation of our customers.

At a glance

€814 million -€31 million
EBITDA before special items Segment cash flow
2023: €565 million 2023: €503 million

Sales in the Nutrition & Care segment declined compared with 2023. The increase in sales of the Care
Chemicals division was unable to offset a decline in sales in the Nutrition & Health division.

Factors influencing sales

Nutrition & Care Nutrition &

Care Chemicals Health

Volumes 5.2% 7.9% -0.7%
Prices -5.2% -5.5% -4.4%
Currencies -1.5% -1.7% -1.1%
Portfolio -0.4% - -1.2%
Sales -1.9% 0.7% -7.4%

Sales performance was positively impacted by strong volume growth overall within the segment. The
Care Chemicals division raised volumes in all business areas. However, the sales performance in the
Nutrition & Health division declined slightly. Lower volumes due to force majeure on deliveries of selected
precursors of vitamin A, vitamin E and carotenoids as well as of certain aroma ingredients as a result of a
fire in the isophytol plant could not be offset by volume growth in almost all other business areas. On
January 24, 2025, we lifted the force majeure for some of the aroma ingredients affected. It continues to
remain in force for the other aroma substances and the precursors of vitamin A, vitamin E and
carotenoids.

This sales decline of the segment resulted above all from competition-driven price decreases across all
business areas.

Sales were also impacted by negative currency effects, particularly relating to the Argentine peso, the
Brazilian real and the Turkish lira.
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Both divisions considerably increased EBITDA before special items. In the Care Chemicals division, the
increase was mainly the result of a volume-related rise in the contribution margin. Earnings for the
Nutrition & Health division were above the prior-year level due to higher margins. Higher fixed costs,
particularly as a result of the fire at the isopyhtol plant, had a negative impact on the division’s earnings
growth.

Segment cash flow declined considerably compared with the previous year. The Nutrition & Health
division recorded negative cash flow, in part as a result of higher expenditures for the investments in the
aroma business in Zhanjiang, China, and Ludwigshafen, Germany. In addition, the reduction in
inventories was less pronounced than in the previous year. Higher earnings improved cash flow. The
Care Chemicals division recorded positive cash flow, although it was considerably below the figure for
the previous year. Here, the increase in earnings was unable to compensate for cash tied up in
inventories to support the positive sales performance. In contrast, a considerable reduction in inventories
and receivables due to lower demand made a positive contribution to cash flow in the previous year.

Segment data — Nutrition & Care

Million € 2024 2023 +/-
Sales to third parties 6,729 6,858 -1.9%
of which Care Chemicals 4,751 4,721 0.7%
Nutrition & Health 1,978 2,137 -7.4%
Intersegment transfers 446 429 41%
Sales including transfers 7,176 7,286 -1.5%
EBITDA before special items 814 565 44.0%
Special items in EBITDA 5 12 -56.8%
EBITDA 819 578 41.8%
EBITDA margin before special items % 12.1 8.2 -
Depreciation and amortization? 599 459 30.6%
EBIT before special items 273 107 155.9%
Special items in EBIT -53 12 .
Income from operations (EBIT) 220 119 84.8%
Investments including acquisitions® 809 765 5.8%
Segment cash flow =3 503 .
Assets (December 31) 7,887 7,496 5.2%
Research and development expenses 149 150 -0.7%

a Depreciation and amortization of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (including impairments and reversals of impairments)
b Additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

Nutrition & Care — sales by region

By location of customer
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Surface Technologies

Until the end of 2024, the Surface Technologies segment comprised the
Catalysts and Coatings divisions (for more information on the future composition
of the segment, see page 12). Its portfolio includes, for example, automotive
OEM and refinish coatings, surface treatment, catalysts, battery materials as well
as precious metals and base metal services for the automotive and chemical
industries. We improve our customers’ applications and processes with tailored
products, technologies and solutions, and support them through geographical
proximity across all regions. The aim is to drive BASF’s growth by leveraging our
portfolio of technologies and existing customer networks and expanding our
position as a leading and innovative provider of surface coatings solutions and

battery materials.

At a glance

€1,375 million €925 million
EBITDA before special items Segment cash flow
2023: €1,520 million 2023: €1,488 million

In the Surface Technologies segment, sales declined in both operating divisions compared with the

previous year. The negative sales performance was especially notable in the Catalysts division.

Factors influencing sales

Surface
Technologies Catalysts Coatings
Volumes -7.6% -10.3% -0.3%
Prices -11.0% -16.0% 2.5%
Currencies -1.6% -0.5% -4.5%
Portfolio -0.2% -0.3% -0.1%
Sales -20.4% -271% -2.4%

The decline in segment sales was mainly driven by lower prices for both precious and base metals’ in the
Catalysts division. Price increases, especially in the automotive OEM coatings and surface treatments
business areas of the Coatings division, were unable to compensate for the aforementioned lower prices.

The decline in sales was exacerbated by considerably lower sales volumes in the Catalysts division,
particularly in the mobile emissions catalysts business area. Volumes remained nearly at the prior-year
level in the Coatings division. Volume growth in the surface treatments and decorative paints businesses
almost made up for slightly lower volumes in the automotive OEM coatings business area.

1 Sales, factors influencing sales, EBITDA before special items and the EBITDA margin before special items excluding precious and base metals for the BASF Group and for

the Surface Technologies segment are presented under Selected Key Figures Excluding Precious and Base Metals on page 472.
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Negative currency effects — mainly relating to the Argentine peso, the Brazilian real and the Turkish lira —
also reduced the segment’s sales.

In addition, the segment’s sales performance was impacted by portfolio effects, particularly those arising
from the divestiture of the Catalysts division’s production site in De Meern, Netherlands as of August 31,
2023.

The segment’s EBITDA before special items decreased slightly. The decrease was due to the
considerable earnings decline in the Catalysts division compared with 2023, which was attributable
above all to the decline of precious metal prices in combination with lower sales volumes. Earnings in the
Catalysts division benefited from a higher contribution margin in the chemical and refinery catalysts
business. However, in the Coatings division, EBITDA before special items was slightly above the prior-
year level. An increased contribution margin was contrasted primarily by higher fixed costs due to
inflation and negative currency effects.

Special items in EBITDA amounted to -€215 million in 2024 and mainly resulted from special charges in
connection with the conversion of the ERP system to support the differentiated steering of the business.
In addition, costs were incurred in the Catalysts division in connection with impairments on property,
plant and equipment in the battery materials business. Also in 2023, special charges were incurred in this
business in connection with impairments on property, plant and equipment.

The segment cash flow fell considerably, primarily as a result of a lower reduction in receivables and
inventories compared with the previous year and lower EBITDA in the Catalysts division. The cash flow
development in the Coatings division was mainly due to lower EBITDA as a result of special items as well
as cash tied up in inventories.

Segment data — Surface Technologies

Million € 2024 2023 +/-
Sales to third parties 12,898 16,204 -20.4%
of which Catalysts 8,617 11,818 -27.1%
Coatings 4,280 4,387 -2.4%
Intersegment transfers 206 176 17.0%
Sales including transfers 13,104 16,381 -20.0%
EBITDA before special items 1,375 1,520 -9.5%
Special items in EBITDA -215 -168 -27.9%
EBITDA 1,160 1,351 -14.2%
EBITDA margin before special items % 10.7 9.4 -
Depreciation and amortization? 1,137 986 15.4%
EBIT before special items 786 938 -16.3%
Special items in EBIT -763 -572 -33.3%
Income from operations (EBIT) 22 366 -93.9%
Investments including acquisitions® 560 621 -9.8%
Segment cash flow 925 1,488 -37.8%
Assets (December 31) 11,513 12,657 -9.0%
Research and development expenses 313 304 2.9%

@ Depreciation and amortization of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (including impairments and reversals of impairments)
b Additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
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Surface Technologies — sales by region

By location of customer
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Agricultural Solutions

In the Agricultural Solutions segment, we aim to further strengthen our market
position as a leading provider of innovative solutions in the agricultural industry.
Our product portfolio is designed for different crop systems. We connect seeds
and traits, seed treatment products, biological and chemical crop protection
products, digital tools and our commitment to sustainability to deliver the best
possible outcomes for farmers, growers and our other stakeholders along the
value chain. Our strategy is based on innovation-driven organic growth and
targeted portfolio enhancement and expansion through collaborations and
acquisitions. Customer needs, societal expectations and reduced environmental
impact are what motivate us to innovate. (Our innovation pipeline has a peak
sales potential of more than €7.5 billion for products launched by 2034.)

At a glance

€1,938 million €1,861 million
EBITDA before special items Segment cash flow

2023: €2,270 million 2023: €1,746 million

In the Agricultural Solutions segment, sales were below the figure of the previous year at €9,798 million
in 2024. This was due to considerable negative currency effects and slightly lower prices, particularly for
the herbicide glufosinate-ammonium. Increased volumes were unable to fully offset this.

Factors influencing sales

Agricultural

Solutions

Volumes 2.8%
Prices -0.3%
Currencies -5.4%
Portfolio -
Sales -2.9%

Sales in Europe declined by €190 million to €2,410 million due to lower volumes of crop protection
products and negative currency effects, particularly in relation to the Turkish lira. Higher prices had a
positive effect.

In North America, sales dropped below the level of the previous year to €3,897 million. The decline was
mainly driven by lower prices, especially for glufosinate-ammonium. Negative currency effects — in
particular in relation to the Canadian dollar and the Mexican peso — also contributed to the sales decline.
Sales volumes remained stable.
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In Asia, sales rose by €63 million to €1,135 million due to volume increases in nearly all indications.
Negative currency effects, particularly in relation to the Chinese renminbi and the Japanese yen, as well
as lower prices dampened the performance.

Sales in the South America, Africa, Middle East region declined by €63 million on the previous year to
€2,356 million. The decrease was attributable to negative currency effects, particularly in relation to the
Brazilian real and the Argentine peso, as well as lower prices. Higher volumes in nearly all indications had
an offsetting effect.

EBITDA before special items decreased considerably. This was mainly due to developments in the
glufosinate-ammonium business as a result of difficult market conditions. In addition, fixed costs
increased compared with the previous year due to inflation and, among other things, an insurance
payment included in the previous year. The decrease in earnings also led to a decline in the EBITDA
margin before special items, which amounted to 19.8% compared to 22.5% in the previous year.

EBITDA for 2024 included special items of -€279 million. These resulted in particular from expenses for
provisions, which were recognized due to the announced closure of the German production and
formulation plants for glufosinate-ammonium in Knapsack and Frankfurt am Main.

Despite a significant decrease in EBITDA, the segment cash flow was slightly above the previous year’s
figure, mainly due to positive effects from a considerable reduction in inventories and a lower increase in
receivables.

Segment data — Agricultural Solutions

Million € 2024 2023 +/-
Sales to third parties 9,798 10,092 -2.9%
of which Fungicides 3,014 3,047 -1.1%
Herbicides 2,965 3,380 -12.3%

Insecticides 1,102 1,041 5.9%

Seed Treatment 598 662 -9.6%

Seeds & Traits 2,119 1,962 8.0%
Intersegment transfers 50 36 39.1%
Sales including transfers 9,848 10,128 -2.8%
EBITDA before special items 1,938 2,270 -14.6%
Special items in EBITDA S21) -93 -200.7%
EBITDA 1,659 2,177 -23.8%
EBITDA margin before special items % 19.8 22.5 -
Depreciation and amortization® 675 1,046 -35.4%
EBIT before special items 1,270 1,563 -18.8%
Special items in EBIT -286 -433 33.9%
Income from operations (EBIT) 984 1,131 -13.0%
Investments including acquisitions® 387 353 9.7%
Segment cash flow 1,861 1,746 6.6%
Assets (December 31) 15,377 16,089 -4.4%
Research and development expenses 919 900 2.0%

a Depreciation and amortization of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (including impairments and reversals of impairments)
b Additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
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Agricultural Solutions — sales by region

By location of customer
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Other
At a glance
€3,312 million -€578 million
Sales EBITDA before special items
2023: €3,220 million 2023: -€466 million

Sales in Other were above the prior-year level. This was mainly due to an increase in commodity and
energy trading.

EBITDA before special items of Other fell considerably compared with the previous year. This resulted
from currency results, hedging and other measurement effects included in other expenses as well as
lower earnings contributions from other businesses.

EBITDA in Other included special items amounting to -€601 million in 2024. This included special
charges in the amount of €301 million for the class settlement, which does not constitute any admission
of liability, in connection with AFFF multidistrict litigation in the United States.

Financial data — Other

Million € 2024 2023 +/-
Sales to third parties 3,312 3,220 2.8%
EBITDA before special items -578 -466 -24.0%
of which costs for cross-divisional corporate research -183 -227 19.4%
costs of corporate headquarters -232 -222 -4.4%

other businesses 171 200 -14.6%
miscellaneous income and expenses -334 -218 -53.6%

Special items in EBITDA -601 -159 -277.0%
EBITDA -1,179 -626 -88.5%
Depreciation and amortization? 161 153 5.5%
EBIT before special items -718 -614 -16.9%
Special items in EBIT -622 -164 -279.1%
Income from operations (EBIT) -1,340 -778 -72.2%
Investments including acquisitions® 241 195 23.2%
Assets (December 31)° 15,609 14,393 8.4%
Research and development expenses 276 356 -22.5%

8 Depreciation and amortization of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (including impairments and reversals of impairments)
b Additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
® Includes assets of businesses recognized under Other and reconciliation to assets of the BASF Group
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Forecast

We expect global GDP growth of 2.6% and industrial growth of 2.4%.
Demand for goods is therefore expected to have a somewhat stronger
significance for economic development than in 2024. In this economic
environment, we expect chemical production to grow by 3.0%. The
macroeconomic risks are high in view of geopolitical conflicts and
increasing protectionist tendencies.

Economic Environment in 2025°

The decline in consumer price inflation in 2024 and associated real income gains will support consumer
purchasing power in the United States and Europe. Short-term interest rates are also likely to continue
falling, at least in the eurozone. However, long-term interest rates, which are crucial for the development
of real estate markets and corporate investments, are no longer expected to decline significantly. Fiscal
stimulus measures to boost growth are increasingly constrained by the high level of government debt in
many countries, which rose considerably during the coronavirus pandemic. Particularly in Europe, the
economic challenges of demographic change and effects of the accelerated climate policy
transformation on corporate competitiveness and household purchasing power are becoming more
pronounced.

Furthermore, the high level of geopolitical and trade policy uncertainty will weigh on consumer and
business confidence. In particular, higher import tariffs imposed by the United States and retaliatory
measures from trading partners could drive up global inflation and interest rates, thereby dampening
economic growth more than assumed in our forecast.

Trends in the global economy in 2025

We anticipate global GDP to grow by 2.6% at around the same rate as in 2024. For the advanced
economies, we expect growth to remain largely unchanged at 1.5% overall. The emerging markets are
expected to grow by around 4%, as in 2024.

For the European Union (EU), we expect slightly higher GDP growth (2025: +1.2%, 2024: +0.9%). Since
leading economic indicators do not point to an imminent recovery in industrial demand, we anticipate
subdued growth in EU countries with a high industrial share. For Germany in particular, despite a rise in
private household purchasing power, we expect weak growth of only 0.3% following stagnation in 2024.
We also expect only slight growth for Italy and France. For Spain, we are forecasting slightly higher
growth of just over 2%. Given the overall muted growth environment in western Europe, eastern EU
countries are also expected to expand only slightly more than in 2024 (2025: +2.5%, 2024: +1.7%).

For the United Kingdom, we anticipate slightly higher growth (2025: +1.0%, 2024: +0.8%) amid falling
interest rates and the increased willingness of private households to spend.

1 Our assumptions account for current estimates by external institutions, including economic research institutes, banks, multinational organizations and consulting firms.

BASF Report 2024 Fundamentals of the Group | 78



At a Glance Combined Management’s Report Consolidated Financial Statements Further Information

In the United States, we expect economic growth to slow down (2025: +2.0%) following the strong
upswing in 2024 (+2.8%). The economic tailwind from falling interest rates and positive wealth effects in
private portfolios is expected to fade. Wage growth is also likely to decrease given the slightly weaker
labor market. Rising import tariffs could also lead to a renewed increase in consumer price inflation. This
is countered by the economic stimulus effects of potential tax cuts and additional investments.

China’s economy is expected to weaken slightly with growth of around 4.5% (2024: +5.0%). While we
expect demand for private goods to stabilize further, growth in demand for services is expected to slow,
likely resulting in a lower overall growth rate of private consumption. Exports are also expected to grow
slightly less than in 2024. Higher import tariffs in the United States represent a risk factor. In 2024, the
United States accounted for around 15% of China’s total goods export. However, the impact of rising
U.S. tariffs should not be overestimated given that gross exports to the United States account for around
3% of GDP and that trade diversion in response to increasing tariffs will mitigate some effects.

For the other emerging Asian markets, we expect growth to remain largely unchanged (2025: +5.2%,
2024: +5.2%). In the long term, the region will benefit from the diversification of international supply
chains and a growing young population with rising incomes. In India, we expect above-average growth of
around 6.5%, and for the ASEAN countries consistently high growth of around 4.7%.

For Japan we expect GDP to grow again (2025: +1.1%, 2024: +0.1%). Industrial production is expected
to recover slightly following the sharp downturn in the automotive industry and information and
communications technologies. In addition, rising incomes are likely to support private household
consumption.

In South America, we anticipate higher overall growth (2025: +2.3%, 2024: +2.0%). This growth spurt is
primarily attributable to higher expectations for Argentina fueled by declining inflation rates and market
liberal reforms. After a decline of 2.9% in Argentina’s GDP in 2024, growth of more than 3% is forecast
for 2025. In contrast, Brazil’s growth is expected to slow down, but still remain solid at around 2%.

Outlook for gross domestic product 2025 and 2025-2027

Real change compared with previous year 2025 2025-2027
World 2.6% 2.6%
European Union 1.2% 1.4%
United States 2.0% 1.7%
China 4.5% 4.4%
Emerging markets of Asia excluding China 5.2% 5.1%
Japan 1.1% 0.8%
South America 2.3% 2.4%
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Outlook for key customer industries

We anticipate global industrial production to increase by 2.4% (2024: +2.1%). In the advanced
economies it is likely to grow again slightly (2025: +0.8%, 2024: -0.1%). Growth in the emerging markets
will probably remain at a similar level to the previous year (2025: +3.6%, 2024: +3.9%).

We are forecasting stagnation for the entire transportation industry.” For the production of passenger
cars and light commercial vehicles, we expect stagnation after the decrease in 2024. Global production
will therefore remain at around 89.5 million vehicles. Marginal growth is expected for the Chinese
market. In contrast, we anticipate a decline in production for the EU, the United States, South Korea
and Japan. For Japan, production should stabilize after the sharp decline in 2024 and only decrease
slightly. The share of battery electric vehicles (BEVs) in the total production volume is expected to
increase further from around 13% in 2024 to around 17% in 2025.

Given the slightly higher global industrial growth, the energy and raw materials sector is likely to grow
at a slightly faster pace in 2025 compared with the previous year. All subsectors (energy supply, oil and
gas production, refining, non-energy raw materials extraction) are expected to contribute to growth.

For the construction industry, we anticipate a slight recovery with continued weak residential
construction, moderate growth in nonresidential construction and solid growth in the infrastructure
segment. Demand for residential properties will continue to be impacted by comparatively high interest
rates and high construction costs in the United States and Europe. In the United States, the positive
effects in government-subsidized industrial construction are expected to diminish. Further, we anticipate
a decline in residential construction given the current trend in construction starts. Weak expansion in the
overall EU market is expected after a considerable decline in 2024, while residential construction will
continue to contract. The real estate crisis in China is expected to ease. Despite a continued decline in
new residential construction, we anticipate the overall market to grow moderately.

Overall, consumer goods production is likely to grow at a similar rate as global GDP. Demand for
nondurable (care products) and durable consumer goods (textiles) in particular is expected to grow
largely in line with GDP. After stagnating in 2024, we now expect weak growth in the furniture industry.

Growth in the electronics industry is likely to remain dynamic, but slightly weaker than in 2024. In
particular, above-average growth rates are expected in the computer and communications technology
sector. However, traditional consumer electronics is likely to see weaker growth.

In the health and nutrition sector, we anticipate growth to be stronger than in 2024 and slightly above
GDP. In line with long-term trends, the food industry is expected to grow at the same rate as global GDP,
while slightly higher growth is projected for the pharmaceutical industry.

Agricultural production is expected to grow at a slightly higher rate in 2025 than in the prior-year
period. Following the weather-related lower growth in 2024, we anticipate a higher growth rate in Europe.
In North America, however, we expect a slowdown. South America is also unlikely to maintain the high
growth momentum of 2024. In Asia, by far the world’s largest agricultural market with a two-thirds share,
agricultural production is expected to grow slightly faster than in 2024.

1 The transportation industry includes the production of motor vehicles, motor vehicle parts and the construction of other vehicles (especially ships and boats, trains, air and
spacecraft, and two-wheelers).
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Outlook for the chemical industry

Growth in the global chemical industry (excluding pharmaceuticals) is expected to be slightly lower
(3.0%) in 2025 compared with 2024 (+3.9%). We anticipate weak growth in the advanced economies
following stagnation in the previous year (2025: +0.8%, 2024: +0.1%). Expansion in the emerging
markets is expected to slow slightly (2025: +3.9%, 2024: +5.5%).

In China, which accounts for half of global chemical production, growth is expected to ease slightly from
the high level of the previous year (2025: +4.2%, 2024: +6.8%). While domestic demand for goods is
expected to expand slightly more, growth momentum from foreign trade in the chemicals sector and its
customer industries is likely to be somewhat weaker. Demand from the Chinese automotive industry is
also expected to increase at a slower pace than in 2024.

In the other emerging markets of Asia, we anticipate slightly higher growth in the chemical industry
(2025: +3.5%, 2024: +2.2%). This is primarily due to higher growth in India (+4.5%), while the rest of the
region is expected to grow by around 3%.

Following the catch-up effects of the previous year and the already evident slowdown in the second half
of 2024, we expect a slight decline by 0.3% in the EU. Positive momentum for regional demand should
come primarily from consumer goods industries and the construction industry, although it is only growing
at a weak rate, while demand from the automotive industry is likely to continue to decline.

In the United States, we expect chemical demand to grow slightly (+1.5%) after stagnating in 2024.
Increased demand is expected primarily in the food industry, production of chemicals for care products,
the plastics industry, and information and communications technology. However, the anticipated decline
in automotive production and weak construction demand are likely to dampen growth.

For Japan, we forecast that chemical production will stabilize after the sharp decline in the previous two
years (2025: +0.6%, 2024: -2.9%, 2023: -6.6%). The demand for chemicals is likely to be supported by
the anticipated stabilization in local automotive production and a return to growth in the technology
sector.

In South America, we expect chemical production to grow by slightly more than 2%. While growth in
Brazil is anticipated to slow slightly, Argentina is likely to make a positive contribution amid its
anticipated economic recovery.

Outlook for chemical production (excluding pharmaceuticals) 2025 and 2025-2027

Real change compared with previous year 2025 2025-2027
World 3.0% 3.0%
European Union -0.3% 0.7%
United States 1.5% 1.3%
China 4.2% 4.1%
Emerging markets of Asia excluding China 3.5% 3.7%
Japan 0.6% 0.5%
South America 21% 2.2%
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Outlook 2025

Our forecast for the BASF Group and segments for 2025 is based on the assumption that a moderate
recovery in demand for goods will support the growth in gross domestic product and industrial
production. In particular, the decline in consumer price inflation and the associated increase in real
incomes are expected to boost consumer purchasing power in the United States and Europe. However,
challenges such as increasing geopolitical uncertainty and a further escalation of trade conflicts in
particular, will weigh on business and consumer confidence. Following the decline in automotive
production in 2024, we expect stagnation in 2025. For the global chemical industry, we anticipate slightly
higher growth compared with expectations for gross domestic product and industrial production. Growth
in the chemical industry should result primarily from the anticipated expansion of the sector in China and
other emerging Asian markets. We anticipate an average oil price of $75 for a barrel of Brent crude and
an exchange rate of $1.05 per euro (for more information on the outlook on the economic environment in
2025, see page 78 onward and for opportunities and risks, see page 87 onward).

Earnings and free cash flow forecast for the BASF Group'
Forecast at Group level

Million € 2024 2025 forecast
EBITDA before special items 7,858 €8.0 billion to €8.4 billion
Cash flows from operating activities 6,946 €5.6 billion to €6.0 billion
— Payments made for property, plant and equipment and intangible

assets 6,198 €5.2 billion
Free cash flow 748 €0.4 billion to €0.8 billion

In 2025, the BASF Group’s EBITDA before special items is expected to increase to between €8.0 billion
and €8.4 billion (2024: €7.9 billion). The Materials, Nutrition & Care, Industrial Solutions? and Surface
Technologies segments? are likely to contribute to this. For some, this may be primarily attributable to
sales volume growth and, in some cases, also to higher margins. In the standalone business Agricultural
Solutions, we forecast slightly higher volume-related earnings. EBITDA before special items for the
Chemicals segment is expected to decrease slightly compared with 2024. In particular, earnings in the
Petrochemicals division will be impacted by rising fixed costs in connection with the startup of the new
Verbund site in China and scheduled turnarounds. The anticipated considerable earnings growth in the
Intermediates division will only be able to partially offset this.

We forecast the BASF Group’s free cash flow to be between €0.4 billion and €0.8 billion (2024:

€0.7 billion). This is based on expected cash flows from operating activities of between €5.6 billion and
€6.0 billion, minus expected payments made for property, plant and equipment and intangible assetsin
the amount of €5.2 billion.

CO, emissions forecast for the BASF Group

CO, emissions are expected to be between 16.7 million metric tons and 17.7 million metric tons in 2025
(2024: 17.0 million metric tons). We anticipate additional emissions compared with the previous year from
higher forecast production volumes based on rising demand. We will counteract this increase with
targeted measures to reduce emissions, such as increasing energy efficiency and optimizing processes
as well as continuing the shift to electricity from renewable energies through the shareholding in the
Hollandse Kust Zuid offshore wind farm, for example.

1 For EBITDA before special items and cash flow, “slight” represents a change of 0.1% to 10.0%, while “considerable” applies to changes of 10.1% and higher. “At prior-year
level” indicates no change (+/-0.0%).

2 The assumptions for the Industrial Solutions and Surface Technologies segments already take into account the reclassification of the chemical and refining catalysts business
as of January 1, 2025, and are based on correspondingly adjusted figures for 2024.
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Forecast for the segments

Segment overview

Million € EBITDA before special items Segment cash flow

2024 2025 forecast 2024 2025 forecast
Chemicals 1,342 Slight decrease -2,051 Considerable increase
Materials 1,805 Slight increase 766 At prior-year level
Industrial Solutions? 1,437 Slight increase 1,102 Slight decrease
Nutrition & Care 814 Slight increase -31 Considerable decrease
Surface Technologies? 1,099 Considerable increase 691 Considerable increase
Agricultural Solutions 1,938 Slight increase 1,861 Considerable decrease

@ The forecasts for the Industrial Solutions and Surface Technologies segments already take into account the reclassification of the chemical and refining catalysts business
as of January 1, 2025, and are based on correspondingly adjusted figures for 2024.

In the Chemicals segment, we expect a slight decline in EBITDA before special items in 2025 due to
higher fixed costs in the Petrochemicals division, primarily related to the startup of the new Verbund site
in Zhanjiang, China. Furthermore, a lower earnings contribution from our equity-accounted investment in
Nanjing, China, mainly the consequence of scheduled turnarounds, will burden EBITDA before special
items for the division. The anticipated strong earnings growth in the Intermediates division, primarily due
to higher sales volumes and margins for amines, will only partially offset this. We assume a considerable
improvement in the segment cash flow compared to 2024. We plan to reduce capital expenditures for
Zhanjiang, which could more than offset the impact on earnings and the expected buildup of inventories
in connection with the startup of the new Verbund site in China.

Compared with 2024, we anticipate a slight increase in EBITDA before special items for the Materials
segment. This will be attributable to targeted volume growth coupled with stable margins in the
Performance Materials division. For the Monomers division, we are forecasting earnings at the prior-year
level. While the division also aims to increase volumes, slightly rising fixed costs are expected to
counteract this. We plan to largely offset the higher fixed costs associated with the startup of the HMD
plant in Chalampé, France, and inflation through ongoing efficiency measures and rigorous cost
discipline. Segment cash flow is expected to remain on a level with the previous year. The assumed
considerable increase in cash flow in the Monomers division is expected to offset the anticipated
considerable decline in the Performance Materials division, primarily due to rising capital expenditures
and a higher amount of cash tied up in working capital.

In the Industrial Solutions segment, EBITDA before special items is expected to increase slightly. This is
attributable to the anticipated considerable earnings growth in the Performance Chemicals division,
primarily due to higher volumes. In addition, the division plans to reduce fixed costs through ongoing
restructuring measures. A slight decline in earnings is anticipated for the Dispersions & Resins division
due to continued competitive pressure on margins. The ongoing cost savings program is expected to
offset the division’s inflation-related increase in fixed costs. Segment cash flow is anticipated to be
slightly below the prior-year level. In the Dispersions & Resins division, this will likely be mainly
attributable to lower earnings and higher capital expenditures in the electronic materials business. In the
Performance Chemicals division, higher capital expenditures in the chemical and process catalysts
business are expected to more than offset the positive impact of earnings growth.
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In the Nutrition & Care segment, we anticipate slightly higher EBITDA before special items in 2025,
primarily as a result of increased margins in the Nutrition & Health division. Earnings in the Care
Chemicals division are expected to be on a level with 2024. Segment cash flow is likely to be negative
again in 2025. In the Nutrition & Health division, we anticipate a higher amount of cash to be tied up in
working capital in connection with preparations for the restart of the isophytol plant in Ludwigshafen,
Germany. It is unlikely that the projected considerable improvement in cash flow in the Care Chemicals
division will be able to compensate for this.

For the Surface Technologies segment, we anticipate a mainly volume-related improvement in earnings
across all divisions. Segment cash flow is expected to be considerably above the prior-year level. This is
due to the projected development in the Coatings and Battery Materials divisions. In the Coatings
division, this is expected to be mainly attributable to a reduction in inventories and lower special charges.
In 2024, significant special charges were incurred in connection with the conversion of the ERP system.
The Battery Materials division anticipates an increase in cash flow, particularly due to the forecast
earnings improvement and significantly reduced capital expenditures. In the ECMS division, we
anticipate considerably lower cash flow due to expected reduced positive effects from working capital
compared with the previous year.

In the Agricultural Solutions segment, we expect EBITDA before special items in 2025 to be slightly
above the level of 2024. Higher sales volumes due to gradual normalization of channel inventories are
expected to more than offset the inflation-related rise in fixed costs. In addition, we expect to see an
improvement in the glufosinate-ammonium business compared with 2024. We expect segment cash flow
to decline considerably compared with 2024, primarily due to lower positive contributions from
inventories.
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In 2025, the BASF Group is planning capital expenditures of around €5.0 billion (additions to property,
plant and equipment excluding acquisitions, IT investments, restoration obligations and right-of-use
assets arising from leases). For the four-year period from 2025 to 2028, we are planning capital
expenditures totaling €16.2 billion, including around €3.0 billion for the new Verbund site in China. The
investment volume in the next four years will thus be considerably below that of the planning period 2024

to 2027 (€19.5 billion).

Projects currently being planned or underway include:

Capex: selected projects

Location

Geismar, Louisiana
Ludwigshafen, Germany
Zhanjiang, China

Capex by segment 2025-2028

Project

Capacity expansion at MDI plants

Modernization of chloroformates and acid chlorides plant

Construction of an integrated Verbund site

29%

Chemicals

16%

Materials

8%

)

€16.2 billion -

«

Industrial Solutions

Capex by region 2025-2028

12%

Nutrition & Care

6%

Surface Technologies
6%

Agricultural Solutions

23%

Other
(infrastructure, R&D)

23%

North America

28%

€16.2 billion

44%

Europe

BASF Report 2024

Asia Pacific

2%

South America, Africa, Middle East

3%

Alternative sites currently being investigated
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Dividend

As part of its new strategy, BASF continues to offer its shareholders an attractive dividend yield. In the
medium term, we are committed to keeping the overall distribution to shareholders at least at prior-year
levels through a combination of dividends and share buybacks. We have set ourselves the target of
distributing at least €12 billion to shareholders from 2025 to 2028. Specifically, we strive to pay out a
dividend of at least €2.25 per share annually or distribute around €2 billion per year to our shareholders.
The proposed dividend?® for the 2024 business year is consequently €2.25 per share.

Financing

In 2025, we expect cash outflows in the equivalent amount of around €1.7 billion from the scheduled
repayment of bonds. To refinance maturing bonds and to optimize our maturity profile, we continue to
have medium- to long-term corporate bonds and our global commercial paper program at our disposal
(for more information, see page 56).

Events after the reporting period

On February 17, 2025, BASF announced the sale of the Brazilian decorative paints business, which is
part of BASF’s Coatings division, to Sherwin-Williams, Cleveland, Ohio. The purchase price on a cash-
and debt-free basis is $1.15 billion. The transaction is structured as a share deal and includes the
production sites in Demarchi and Jaboatéo, related contracts, the Suvinil and Glasu! brands, and around
1,000 employees. The decorative paints business generated sales of approximately €485 million in 2024
and operates almost exclusively in Brazil. The divestiture is expected to close in the second half of 2025,
subject to the approval of the relevant authorities.

3 Dividend proposed to the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting
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Opportunities and Risks

The goal of BASF’s risk management is to identify and evaluate
opportunities and risks as early as possible and to take appropriate
measures to seize opportunities and limit risks. The aim is to avoid risks
that pose a threat to BASF’s continued existence and to make improved
managerial decisions to create value. We understand opportunities and
risks to be any event that can positively or negatively impact the
achievement of our short-, medium- or long-term goals.’

Where appropriate, we measure and manage opportunities and risks in terms of probability of
occurrence and economic impact in the event they occur. Where possible, we use statistical methods to
aggregate opportunities and risks into risk categories. In addition, we use a qualitative evaluation scale
for opportunities and risks to assess both business and sustainability-related aspects that cannot be
quantified. In this way, we achieve an integrated overall view, allowing us to prioritize economic and
sustainability-related opportunities and risks at Group level by the highest economic impact or qualitative
evaluation and probability as well as to take effective risk management measures.

Overall assessment

For 2025, we anticipate similar global economic growth as in 2024, albeit with slightly weaker growth on
the chemicals market. General macroeconomic uncertainty will remain high.

A further escalation of current geopolitical conflicts could lead to disruptions in global supply chains and
greater restrictions on the supply of energy, industrial raw materials and intermediates. The wars in
Ukraine and the Middle East continue to pose significant risks for market development and the supply of
raw materials.

There is also the risk of increases in U.S. tariffs and of backlashes among its trading partners. Higher
inflation and interest rates could hamper demand. Due to our strategy of producing locally for the
respective markets, the introduction of tariffs may also result in opportunities for the BASF Group. As
uncertainties and volatilities are currently high, neither opportunities nor risks can be assessed yet.

Additional opportunities may arise in particular from stronger economic growth resulting from better
macroeconomic development than assumed. Furthermore, material opportunities and risks for our
earnings arise from margin volatility. Our assessment of opportunities and risks arising from the volatility
of margins and currencies is based on forward-looking market-related assumptions in order to reflect the
specific expectations of the market.

According to our assessment, there continue to be no significant individual risks that pose a threat to the
continued existence of BASF SE or the BASF Group. The same applies to the sum of all risks (for more
information, see page 147 onward).

Ultimately, residual risks (net risks) remain in all entrepreneurial activities that cannot be ruled out, even
by comprehensive risk management.

1 At the beginning of the one-year assessment period, the targets correspond to the forecasts.
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Potential short-term effects on EBITDA of key opportunity and risk factors subsequent to measures
taken?

Outlook
Possible variations related to: - 2025 +
Business environment and sector
Market growth oo0es 80000
Margins mim] | [ ] 80000
Competition (m[m[m] [ ] 00000
Regulation/policy go0oes 00000
Company-specific opportunities and risks
Procurement 0000e 80000
Supply chain (m[m[m] [ ] 00000
Investments/production go0oes 00000
Personnel 00000 00000
Information technology 00000 00000
Compliance/legal 0000e 80000
Tax 0o000e 00000
Financial
Exchange rate volatility Ooo0Oes 80000
Other financial opportunities and risks oo0es 00000

0000® >€0 milion <€100 million
000®® =£€100 million <€500 million
O0®®® =€500 million <€1,000 million
O@8@@® =<1,000 million <€1,500 million
BBB8E =£1,500 milion <€2,000 million

8 Using a 95% confidence interval per risk factor based on planned values; summation is not permissible.

Risk management process and internal control system

ESRS 2 GOV-5

The BASF Group’s risk management process is based on the international risk management standard
COSO Il Enterprise Risk Management — Integrated Framework and comprises the risk management
system, the internal control system and compliance management and has the following key features:

Organization and responsibilities

- Risk management and the internal control system are the responsibility of the Board of Executive
Directors. It defines the basic requirements and processes as well as the organization of the risk
management system. It also determines the processes for approving investments, acquisitions and
divestitures.

— The Board of Executive Directors is supported by the Corporate Center. The Corporate Center units
Corporate Finance, which reports to the Chief Financial Officer, and Corporate Development, which
reports to the Chairman of the Board of Executive Directors, and the Chief Compliance Officer (CCO)
coordinate the risk management process at Group level. This involves examining economic and
sustainability-related opportunities and risks and providing structures as well as appropriate
methodologies. Opportunity and risk management is thus integrated into the strategy, planning and
budgeting processes.
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— BASF’s risk committee reviews the BASF Group’s risk portfolio at least twice a year to evaluate any
adjustments to risk management measures and informs the Board of Executive Directors of these.
Members of the risk committee are the president of Corporate Finance (chair), the president of
Corporate Development, the president of Corporate Legal, Compliance & Insurance and the heads of
the Corporate Audit, Corporate Environmental Protection, Health, Safety & Quality, Corporate
Treasury, and Group Reporting & Performance Management departments.

— The management and control of specific opportunities and risks is largely delegated to the divisions,
the service and research units and the regions,? and is steered at a decentralized level. This also
applies to sustainability-related topics relevant to BASF in accordance with ESRS, such as the impact
of climate change on BASF. A network of risk managers in the operating divisions, in the service and
research units as well as in the regions advances the implementation of appropriate risk management
practices in daily operations. Financial risks are an exception. The management of liquidity, currency
and interest rate risks is conducted in the Corporate Finance unit. The management of commodity
price risks takes place in the Global Procurement unit or in authorized Group companies. As part of
the new strategy, the management of opportunities and risks at regional level is being reorganized in
2025.

— In order to ensure the efficacy of risk management in the operating divisions as well as in the service
and research units, Corporate Finance performs integrated checks within risk reporting and also
regularly reviews compliance with internal risk management guidelines. The BASF Group’s
management is informed of short-term operational opportunities and risks that fall within an
observation period of up to one year in the monthly Management’s Report produced by Corporate
Finance. In addition, Corporate Finance provides information twice a year on the aggregated
opportunity/risk exposure of the BASF Group, including information about risk management measures
and the corresponding residual net risks. Furthermore, any arising individual risks with a probability of
occurrence of at least 10% that have an impact of more than €10 million on earnings or any risks
qualitatively evaluated to have a material impact on our sustainability targets as well as on our
reputation must be internally reported immediately. The Supervisory Board is informed annually about
short-term operational opportunities and risks. The Audit Committee also deals with the internal
control system and the risk management system as well as their further development.

— As part of strategy development, the Corporate Development unit conducts strategic opportunity/risk
analyses with a five-year medium-term assessment period. These analyses are annually reviewed as
part of strategic controlling and are adapted if necessary. Scenarios are also developed to map
possible impacts beyond the five-year horizon from a long-term perspective, for example from
climate-related developments. The Board of Executive Directors and Supervisory Board are informed
annually about strategic opportunities and risks.

— We also regularly consider exceptional situations that can have a fundamental impact at global,
regional and local level — from process safety incidents and goods spillages to pandemics and
cyberattacks. In addition, there is a crisis management organization that proactively draws up crisis
plans where necessary and appropriate and which is activated in the event of a sudden crisis (for more
information, please see page 270 onward).

2 As part of the new strategy, the regional structures are being dissolved and the management of opportunities and risks at regional level is being reorganized in 2025.
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— The Chief Compliance Officer (CCO) manages the implementation of our Compliance Management
System, supported by compliance officers worldwide. The CCO reports regularly to the Board of
Executive Directors on the status of implementation as well as on any significant results and provides
a status report to the Supervisory Board’s Audit Committee at least once a year, including any major
developments. The Board of Executive Directors immediately informs the Audit Committee about
significant incidents (for more information on compliance, see page 317 onward).

Organization of the BASF Group’s risk management

Supervisory Board

Corporate Audit® External auditors
Board of Executive Directors

Chief Compliance Officer® . .
|

Corporate Center

Corporate Legal Corporate Corporate Corporate Corporate
Corporate Corporate P : 94, P Environmental p Communications & Corporate Net Zero
) Compliance & Taxes & . Human .
Development Finance : Protection, Health, Government Investor Relations Accelerator®
Insurance Duties ) Resources )
Safety & Quality Relations

mm

The Corporate Audit unit is part of the Corporate Center.

The Chief Compliance Officer is the head of the Corporate Legal, Compliance & Insurance unit.

The activities of the Net Zero Accelerator unit were transferred to existing units and divisions, effective January 1, 2025.

As part of the new strategy, the regional structures are being dissolved and the management of opportunities and risks at regional level will be reorganized in 2025.

o
d
— Risk-specific monitoring and control systems, some of which are decentralized, have been set up for

each area identified in the risk portfolio. The results of the monitoring processes are incorporated into
regular risk reporting to the risk committee and the Board of Executive Directors. Compared with
internal control systems in financial reporting, these monitoring and control systems in other subject
areas have a lower degree of formalization. As a rule, however, they also include organizational
security precautions such as compliance with the basic principles of transparency, dual control,
segregation of duties and least privilege, deployment of sufficiently qualified employees and adequate
IT systems. The design of internal controls depends on the subject area. It ranges from monitoring the
development of specific key indicators and evaluating internal and external reports or benchmarking
analyses to formalized committee meetings in which decisions are made on applications for
investments or research projects, for example. In addition, the appropriateness and effectiveness of
the topic-specific internal control systems is monitored by the Corporate Center units responsible for
the respective topics. To this end, the individual Corporate Center units choose different approaches
depending on the subject area, such as the evaluation of questionnaires for self-assessment of the
effectiveness of the internal control system, sample tests to validate the implementation and
effectiveness of internal controls or the monitoring of compliance-related key indicators.

— The Corporate Audit department is responsible for regularly auditing the effectiveness and
appropriateness of the risk management system, internal control system and the compliance
management system.

— In addition, the Audit Committee addresses the effectiveness and appropriateness of these systems
as part of its monitoring activities. The suitability of the early risk detection system set up by the Board
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of Executive Directors in accordance with section 91(2) of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) is
assessed and evaluated by the auditors.

Tools

— The Governance, Risk Management, Compliance (GRC) Policy, applicable throughout the Group,
forms the framework for risk management and is implemented by the operating divisions, the service
and research units and the regions according to their specific business conditions.

— A catalog of opportunity and risk categories helps identify all relevant economic and sustainability-
related opportunities and risks relating to our targets as comprehensively as possible. We derive the
sustainability-related opportunities and risks from the double materiality analysis, in accordance with
ESRS requirements.

— The positive contributions and negative impacts of our business activities on sustainability topics
along the value chain, and the impact of sustainability topics on our business, are assessed in a
materiality analysis. Opportunities and risks for our business activities that could arise from material
sustainability topics, or for sustainability topics that could arise from our business activities, can only
rarely be measured in specific financial terms and mainly have a medium- to long-term impact.
Relevant sustainability topics are systematically considered in our strategic and operational risk
management through our integrated risk catalog. The results are presented in the respective chapters
(for more information, see page 167 onward).

— We also systematically assess opportunities and risks with effects that cannot yet be measured in
monetary terms, such as climate and reputational risks. To reflect these, risks for companies in
connection with the transition to a low-emission economy (transition risks) as well as physical risks as
defined by the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD), among others, were added
to this catalog.

— Because global climate policy ambitions and the implementation of the relevant measures play a
decisive role in the ongoing growth of the chemical industry and its customer industries, we defined
and quantified global long-term scenarios (up to 2050) with various global warming paths. To assess
the impact of different global climate policy approaches on our business units, the scenarios were
discussed with the business units in workshops. The feedback was incorporated into the ongoing
development of the scenarios. A dataset of scenario-specific macroeconomic parameters is provided
to test the economic feasibility of investments and business strategies. We use the results of the
double materiality analysis to document reportable sustainability risks within the meaning of section
289b et seq. of the German Commercial Code. No reportable residual net risks within the meaning of
section 289b et seq. of the German Commercial Code were identified for 2024 (for more information,
see page 150 onward).

— We use standardized evaluation and reporting tools for the identification and assessment of risks. The
aggregation of opportunities, risks and sensitivities at division and Group level using a Monte Carlo
simulation helps us to identify effects and trends across the Group. We base our sensitivities to oil and
gas prices and currency developments on forward-looking assumptions in order to reflect specific
market expectations and improve the quality of our forecasts. We also aggregate qualitatively
assessed risks at Group level using a risk portfolio.

— Our Group-wide Compliance Program aims to ensure adherence to legal regulations and the
company’s internal guidelines. Our global employee Code of Conduct firmly embeds these mandatory
standards into everyday business. Members of the Board of Executive Directors are also expressly
obligated to follow these principles (for more information, see page 317 onward).

— (Based on the reviews and findings of the risk management process, the Board of Executive Directors
has no indication that BASF’s risk management system and the internal control system are not
adequate or effective in all material respects.)
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Significant features of the internal control and risk management system with
regard to the Group financial reporting process

The Combined Management’s Report and the Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared by a unit
in the Corporate Finance department. The Consolidated Financial Statements are derived from the
separate financial statements of the subsidiaries and joint operations, taking into account the relevant
data for the joint ventures and associated companies accounted for using the equity method. The
BASF Group’s accounting process is based on a uniform accounting guideline that, alongside
accounting policies based on the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS®) applicable in the
European Union, defines the significant processes and deadlines for the Group. There are binding
directives for the internal reconciliations and other accounting operations within the Group. Standard
software is used to carry out the accounting processes for the preparation of the individual financial
statements as well as for the Consolidated Financial Statements. There are clear rules for the access
rights of each participant in these processes.

Employees involved in the accounting and reporting process meet the qualitative requirements and
participate in training on a regular basis. There is a clear assignment of responsibilities between the
specialist units, companies and service units involved. We strictly adhere to the principles of segregation
of duties and dual control, or the “four-eyes principle.” Complex actuarial reports and evaluations are
produced by specialized service providers or specially qualified employees.

An internal control system for financial reporting continuously monitors these principles. To this end,
methods are provided to ensure that evaluation of the internal control system in financial reporting is
structured and uniform across the BASF Group. These are based on the international standard

COSO I Internal Controls — Integrated Framework, which forms an integral part of the international risk
management standard COSO Il Enterprise Risk Management — Integrated Framework.

Material risks for the BASF Group regarding a reliable control environment for proper financial reporting
are reviewed and updated on an annual basis. Risks are compiled into a central risk catalog.

Moreover, a centralized selection process identifies companies that are exposed to particular risks, that
are material to the Consolidated Financial Statements of the BASF Group, or that provide service
processes. The selection process is conducted annually. Persons responsible for implementing the
requirements for an effective control system in financial reporting are appointed at the relevant
companies.

The process for identifying, evaluating, managing and controlling risks related to preparing the
Consolidated Financial Statements as well as the monitoring of these processes in the selected
companies comprise the following steps:

— Evaluation of the control environment
Adherence to internal and external guidelines that are relevant to the maintenance of a reliable control
environment for financial reporting is checked by means of a standardized questionnaire.

- Identification and documentation of control activities
In order to mitigate the risks to the financial reporting processes listed in our central risk catalog,
critical processes and control activities are documented.
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— Assessment of control activities
After documentation, a review is performed to verify whether the described controls are capable of
adequately covering the risks. In the subsequent test phase, spot checks are carried out to test
whether, in practice, the controls were executed as described and were effective.

— Monitoring of control weaknesses
The responsible leaders receive reports on any control weaknesses identified and their resolution, and
an interdisciplinary committee investigates their relevance to the BASF Group. The Board of Executive
Directors and the Audit Committee are informed if control weaknesses with a considerable impact on
financial reporting are identified. Only after material control weaknesses have been resolved does the
company’s managing director confirm the effectiveness of the internal control system.

— Internal confirmation of the internal control system
All managing directors and chief financial officers of each consolidated Group company must confirm
to the Board of Executive Directors of BASF SE every half-year and at the end of the annual cycle, in
writing, that the internal control system is effective with regard to accounting and reporting.

Operational opportunities and risks

Market growth

Opportunities and risks arise from the development of our sales markets. For more details on our
assumptions regarding short-term growth rates for the global economy, regions and key customer
industries, such as the chemicals, automotive and construction sectors, see Economic Environment in
2025 from page 78 onward.

We also consider opportunities and risks caused by deviations in assumptions. Macroeconomic
opportunities arise from an easing of geopolitical conflicts and the resulting increase in the supply of
energy, industrial raw materials and other intermediate goods.

Increases in energy prices caused, for example, by the wars in Ukraine and the Middle East, and the
higher inflation rates resulting from this for manufacturer and consumer prices pose a risk to the
economy. Additional macroeconomic risks result from the escalation of geopolitical conflicts and a
further intensification of global trade conflicts, especially between the United States and its trading
partners. We constantly monitor these risks and mitigate them as far as possible through our diversified
customer and product portfolio.

Weather-related influences can result in positive or negative effects on our business, particularly in the
Agricultural Solutions segment.

Compared with the previous year, we see lower market growth opportunities.

Margins

The greatest opportunities and risks for the BASF Group primarily result from higher or lower margins in
all segments, particularly the Chemicals and Agricultural Solutions segments. Further declining margins
for a number of products and value chains could increase pressure on margins. Additional shortages of
raw materials could have both a negative and positive impact on margins. This would have a
corresponding effect on our EBITDA. We counter margin risks with ongoing cost and price management
as well as process optimization.

BASF Report 2024 Fundamentals of the Group | 93



At a Glance Combined Management’s Report Consolidated Financial Statements Further Information

The year’s average oil price for Brent crude was $81 per barrel in 2024, compared with $82 per barrel in
the previous year. For 2025, we anticipate an average oil price of $75 per barrel.

Compared with the previous year, we see higher margin opportunities.

Competition

We continuously enhance our products and solutions in order to remain competitive. The market entry of
new competitors and increased price pressure may lead to lower margins and volumes, particularly in the
Agricultural Solutions and Industrial Solutions segments. We counter these risks through our margin
management and other measures, such as the targeted promotion of innovations, for example in the area
of sustainability.

Compared with the previous year, we see lower competitive risks.

Regulation/policy

Risks for us can arise from intensified geopolitical tensions, new trade sanctions, a lack of global
coordination for stricter emission limits for production plants and stricter energy and chemicals
legislation as well as a lack of acceptance of new technologies in the EU. Furthermore, risks can also
arise from regulatory delays in the expansion of capacities and infrastructure for electricity from
renewable sources, the necessary CO, infrastructure and delayed product approvals.

However, political measures could also give rise to opportunities. For example, we view opportunities
around the world to increase energy efficiency and reduce greenhouse gas emissions as a strategic
opportunity for increased demand for products such as our insulation foams for buildings, catalysts,
battery materials for electromobility, or our solutions for wind turbines. For more information on these
measures, such as meetings with political decision-makers and social stakeholders, see page 150
onward.

Procurement and supply chain

Operational risks in procurement are a key topic for BASF, as they can impact the company’s supply
capability and therefore its competitiveness. Operational risks in procurement include disruptions and
delays in the delivery of raw materials due to supplier insolvencies, quality concerns, extreme weather or
geopolitical events, for example. To counter these risks, BASF relies on comprehensive risk assessment
and control along the entire supply chain, global diversification and close cooperation with suppliers (for
more information, see page 292 onward).

Investments/production

We try to prevent unscheduled plant shutdowns by adhering to high technical standards and by
continuously improving our plants. We reduce the effects of an unscheduled shutdown on the supply of
intermediate and end products through diversification within our global Production Verbund.

In the event of a production outage — caused by an accident, for example — our global, regional or local
emergency response plans and crisis management structures are engaged, depending on the scope of
impact. Crisis management teams at country level not only coordinate the necessary emergency
response measures, they also initiate immediate measures for damage control and resumption of normal
operations as quickly as possible.
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Crisis management also includes dealing with extreme weather conditions such as hurricanes (for
example, at the sites in Freeport, Texas, and Geismar, Louisiana) or significantly elevated water
temperatures in rivers due to extended heat waves, which limit the available cooling capacity.
Appropriate precautions are taken at the sites in the case of a change in risk associated with climate
change. For example, due to an increase in heat waves, we have implemented several measures at the
Verbund sites in Ludwigshafen, Germany, and Geismar in recent years to increase cooling capacity, such
as expanding and optimizing the central recooling plants and optimizing cooling water flows. These
optimization measures are designed to prevent production outages due to extreme heat waves.

Short-term risks from investments can result from, for example, technical malfunctions or schedule and
budget overruns. We counter these risks with stringent project management and controlling.

Personnel

Due to BASF’s worldwide compensation principles, the development of personnel expenses is partly
dependent on the amount of variable compensation, which is linked to the company’s success, among
other factors. The correlation between variable compensation and the success of the company has the
effect of minimizing risk. Another factor is the development of interest rates for discounting pension
obligations. Furthermore, changes to the legal environment of a particular country can have an impact on
the development of personnel expenses for the BASF Group. For countries in which BASF is active, we
therefore constantly monitor the relevant developments in order to identify potential risks at an early
stage and enable suitable measures to be taken (for more information, see pages 93 and 270 onward).

Information technology

BASF employs a large number of IT systems. We use technologies such as artificial intelligence, big data
and the Internet of Things to develop new business models, corporate concepts and strategies and to
respond appropriately to changing customer behavior. The global cybersecurity team is tasked with
protecting these IT systems and the data and business processes they handle. In a connected, ever-
evolving world, the challenge of protecting BASF against attackers is becoming increasingly difficult.

The threat environment has changed in recent years, as attackers have become better organized, use
more sophisticated technology and have far more resources available. This development reflects the fact
that a variety of vulnerabilities in software and hardware products constantly provide new incentives to
develop malware, and anonymization technologies make it almost impossible to trace and punish
attacks.

A successful attack can, for example, negatively affect asset reliability, delivery quality or the accuracy of
our financial reporting. Unauthorized access to sensitive data, such as personnel records or customer
data, competition-related information or research results, can result in consequences under liability law
or jeopardize our competitive position. This could also cause monetary losses, a potential loss of
reputation or even a loss of customers’ and partners’ confidence in the security of our products and
services.

To minimize such risks, BASF uses globally uniform processes and systems to ensure IT availability and
IT security, which are based on the recognized ISO 27001 standard. These include stable and
redundantly designed IT systems, backup processes, virus and access protection, encryption systems,
and integrated and standardized IT infrastructure, applications and processes. The systems used for
information security are constantly tested, continuously updated, and expanded if necessary. In addition,
our employees receive regular training on information and data protection. Cybersecurity-related risk
management is conducted using Group-wide regulations for organization and application, as well as an
internal control system based on these regulations.
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Our modern protection concepts range from efficient detection and professional response to defense
against attacks and minimizing their potential impact. Strong cybersecurity alliances are also crucial here.
BASF works closely with security authorities and associations, for example as a founding member of the
German Cyber Security Organization (DCSO) and the Cyber Security Sharing and Analytics (CSSA)
platform in Berlin, Germany. BASF has also established an information security management system and
is internationally certified according to DIN EN ISO/IEC 27001:2017.

With respect to the outlook for the 2025 business year, short-term opportunities or risks have been
identified but possible impacts on EBITDA have not been quantified.

Compliance/legal

We constantly monitor current and potential legal disputes and proceedings, and regularly report on
these to the Board of Executive Directors and the Supervisory Board. In order to assess the risks from
current legal disputes and proceedings and any potential need to recognize provisions, we prepare our
own analyses and assessments of the circumstances and claims considered. In addition, in individual
cases, we consider the results of comparable proceedings and, if needed, independent legal opinions.
Risk assessment is particularly based on estimates as to the probability of occurrence and the range of
possible claims. These estimates are the result of close cooperation between the relevant operating and
service units together with Corporate Legal and Corporate Finance. If sufficient probability of occurrence
is identified, we recognize a provision for the proceeding concerned. Should a provision be unnecessary,
we continue to assess whether these litigations nevertheless represent a risk for the BASF Group’s
EBITDA as part of general risk management (for more information, see page 411 onward).

We use our internal control system to limit risks from potential infringements of rights or laws. For
example, we try to avoid patent and licensing disputes whenever possible through extensive clearance
research. As part of our Group-wide Compliance Program, our employees receive regular training.

Tax

The recognized tax-related opportunities and risks only concern taxes that impact the BASF Group’s
EBITDA in the short term. These arise when BASF has taken a position that differs from the opinion of a
competent administrative authority. If a tax payment has already been made and could be reclaimed, we
present this as an opportunity. Conversely, if a potential payment is outstanding in accordance with the
administrative opinion, this is a risk. We primarily evaluate opportunities and risks with regard to their
probability of occurrence and, if necessary, set up a provision for the relevant risk. If a provision is not
necessary, we take this into account in determining EBITDA-relevant risks for the BASF Group.

Exchange rate volatility

Our competitiveness on global markets is influenced by fluctuations in exchange rates. For BASF’s sales,
opportunities and risks arise in particular when the U.S. dollar exchange rate fluctuates. On the
production side, we counter exchange rate risks by producing in the respective currency zones.

Financial currency risks result from the translation of receivables, liabilities and other monetary items in
accordance with IAS 21 at the closing rate into the functional currency of the respective Group company.
If necessary, we hedge these risks using derivative instruments.

Based on market expectations, we see greater currency risks due to greater volatility in the U.S. dollar
exchange rate compared with the previous year.
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Other financial opportunities and risks

Financial risks arise from unplanned cost increases, for example due to higher inflation than assumed. In
connection with the war in Ukraine, further financial risks arise from potential asset losses.
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Strategic opportunities and risks

Long-term demand development

We assume that growth in chemical production (excluding pharmaceuticals) will be slightly higher than
that of global gross domestic product in the coming years. With our market-oriented and broad portfolio,
which we will continue to strengthen in the years ahead, through investments in new production
capacities, through our research and development activities and through targeted acquisitions,
particularly in the core businesses, we want to participate in this market growth. Should global economic
growth see unexpected, considerable deceleration, for example, because of an ongoing weak period in
individual emerging markets, protectionist tendencies or bottlenecks in the energy markets, the expected
growth rates could prove too ambitious.

Additional risks arise from geopolitical tensions and outright military conflicts, which could impact supply
chains and reduce efficiency in the international allocation of resources. Moreover, the ambitions of
global climate policy and its implementation will significantly impact the structure of demand from our
customer industries. This is shown by a comparison of climate policy scenarios that envisage limiting
global warming to below two degrees Celsius with alternative scenarios that allow for more warming. In
ambitious climate policy scenarios, the structure of demand changes due to the use of alternative energy
sources and raw materials, high investment in resource-conserving technologies, and changing customer
preferences. By contrast, macroeconomic growth rates typically vary little compared with scenarios with
pathways with higher levels of warming.

Market opportunities in ambitious climate policy scenarios include, for example, alternative surface
coatings for wind and solar modules, feedstocks that make plastics easier to recycle, stronger demand
for insulation materials for buildings, increased electromobility with changed demand for plastics,
insulation materials, coolants and battery materials, and more alternative proteins in agriculture. By
contrast, fossil feedstocks and the production technologies and product segments based on fossil
feedstocks will become less important. This requires further decarbonization of production processes
and alternative sources of raw materials, as well as a corresponding willingness to pay on the part of
customer industries, in order to remain competitive (for more information on the corporate strategy, see
page 18 onward).

Development of competitive and customer landscape

We expect competitors from Asia, North America and the Middle East in particular to gain increasing
significance in the years ahead, especially as a result of advantageous raw materials and energy prices.
Furthermore, we predict that many producers in countries rich in raw materials will expand their value
chains in specialty chemicals and consumer chemicals. In addition, the proliferation of large-scale digital
marketplaces for chemicals could impact existing customer and supplier relationships.

We expect a rise in customer demand for more sustainable solutions — for example, for products with a
lower carbon footprint, made from recycled, circular or bio-based raw materials that are biodegradable,
or for products with other measurable sustainability benefits. However, an increase in customer demand
for sustainable solutions is also highly dependent on regulation that leads to a growing willingness to pay
for low-emission solutions. Companies with a proven track record of providing more sustainable
solutions will then be able to achieve stronger growth and higher profitability. We are therefore
addressing these topics in research and investment programs for the sustainable transformation of
BASF.
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To strengthen our competitiveness, we are continuously improving our production processes,
streamlining our structures, simplifying procedures and optimizing our business portfolio. In this regard,
our focus is on attractive businesses and differentiation through sustainability advantages, among other
things, to make our customers and BASF more successful.

Regulation/policy

We expect continued regulatory and societal pressure to achieve environmentally friendly energy
production, emission-free energy consumption, a climate-neutral resource and raw material base, and
far-reaching environmental targets. This also includes regulations in respect of environmental protection,
water and biodiversity, which are addressed in detail in the chapters E2 Pollution Prevention, E3 Water,
and E4 Biodiversity and Ecosystems in this report (for more information, see page 205 onward). The
political approaches to address these issues will vary greatly from region to region. However, particularly
in Europe, we expect measures with a continuously high level of detailed and complex regulation,
including changes to chemical and industry-related regulations that have the potential to significantly
impact the competitiveness of BASF’s operations and product portfolio as well as those of our
customers. Another overarching risk is that political decision-makers, particularly in the EU, may not act
quickly and decisively enough to create the necessary framework conditions for a successful location for
industry.

We see the risk of the current geopolitical shifts potentially leading to the establishment of uncoordinated
or divergent global legislative standards and regulatory systems, not just in relation to chemicals or the
regulatory framework for digitalization, but also to climate, environmental, social and corporate
governance criteria. We see risks but also opportunities in the setting of international standards for
specific product categories or technologies.

We explain our strategy in meetings with political decision-makers and social stakeholders. In doing so,
we also inform ourselves of the changes we must undergo and advocate for a favorable and stable

regulatory framework at both a national and international level. BASF is in a position to make significant
contributions toward achieving the U.N. Sustainable Development Goals, particularly regarding climate
neutrality, through new technologies, innovative products and processes and a broad product portfolio.

Innovation

We expect the trend toward increased sustainability requirements in our customer industries to continue.
Our aim is to leverage the resulting opportunities in a growing market with more sustainable innovations.
The key areas are products with a lower or even net-zero carbon footprint, circular economy solutions,
and safe and sustainable products. To be successful in these fields, we have launched specific research
and investment programs for the sustainable transformation of BASF. Furthermore, in order to steer our
innovation portfolio toward increased sustainability, we also began applying our TripleS method to the
evaluation of innovation projects and have integrated it into our research and development processes.

There are technical and commercial risks of failure associated with every single research and
development project. We address this by maintaining a balanced and comprehensive project portfolio as
well as through professional, milestone-based project management.

Further risks may arise from increasing state protectionism and demands for localization of intellectual
property in order to achieve technological independence. Through our global Know-How Verbund in
research and development, we ensure that intellectual property is generated and protected in countries
with high intellectual property standards. We expect that the digital disruption of established processes
will lead to a considerable increase in efficiency and effectiveness in some fields through the use of
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artificial intelligence, among other things. BASF is therefore committed to taking a leading role in the
digital transformation of the chemical industry. Possible applications of digital technologies and solutions
are evaluated along the entire value chain and implemented throughout the company, for example, in
production, logistics, research and development, business models and corporate governance (for more
information, see page 37 onward).

Procurement and supply chain

Strategic risks in procurement are of great importance to BASF, as they can impact the company’s long-
term competitiveness and positioning. Strategic risks include structural changes on the global markets,
climate change and political developments. Supply security for raw materials, energy and services is
increasingly affected by trade disputes, protectionism, sanctions and geopolitical conflicts. To counter
these risks, BASF relies on comprehensive risk assessment, a diversified supplier base, close
cooperation with various strategic suppliers and continuous analysis of markets and trends.

We are also seeing an expansion of the regulatory framework affecting us and our suppliers (for example,
the German Supply Chain Due Diligence Act, the EU Corporate Sustainability Due Diligence Directive and
the EU Regulation on Deforestation-Free Products). Potential noncompliance by our suppliers may lead
to a reduced supplier base. All risks are continuously analyzed and appropriate strategies and measures
developed to avert risks or minimize their impact on BASF (for more information see page 292 onward).

Investments

We expect growth in chemical production in emerging markets to remain above the global average in the
years to come. This will create opportunities that we want to exploit by focusing our investments more
closely on growth markets and expanding our local presence. In addition, regional value chains help
mitigate risks from trade conflicts and barriers that pose a challenge to global markets and supply
chains.

Decisions on the type, scope and location of our investment projects are made on the basis of
established comprehensive assessment processes. They take into account long-term forecasts for the
market, margin and cost development, and raw materials availability, as well as country, currency,
sustainability and technology risks. Opportunities and risks arise from potential deviations in actual
developments from our assumptions. Mitigation plans are in place where risks are substantial.

Investments in more sustainable technologies, switching our production to renewable energy sources
and harnessing potential energy savings represent a long-term opportunity, even though they may not
yet be profitable in the short term, depending on the market and the prevailing regulatory framework (for
more on our investment projects, see page 85). The transformation of our company toward low-emission
chemistry is presented in detail in the E1 Climate Change chapter.

Acquisitions/divestitures

We want to expand and refine our portfolio through value-adding acquisitions, especially in our core
businesses. We will expand our regional presence in growth markets in a targeted manner and support
our green transformation through sustainable business models.

The evaluation of opportunities and risks plays a significant role during the assessment of acquisition

targets. A detailed analysis and quantification is conducted as part of due diligence. Examples of risks
include increased staff turnover, delayed realization of synergies, or the assumption of obligations that
were not precisely quantifiable in advance. Opportunities could also arise, for example, from additional
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synergies. We are also continuing to develop our portfolio through carve-outs and divestitures. In this
context, risks could arise as a result of potential warranty claims or other contractual obligations, such as
long-term supply agreements (for more information, see page 36).

Personnel

BASF anticipates growing challenges in attracting and retaining qualified employees and leaders in the
medium and long term. In combination with evolving competence profiles and demographic change, this
may result in losing skills and knowledge within our own workforce or not being able to develop them
either sufficiently or at all. The macroeconomic situation, combined with structural adjustments at BASF,
may unsettle employees and pose challenges in terms of employee retention and engagement. We are
taking measures to attract qualified personnel and to maintain and improve the skills and knowledge
required by our employees, and regularly assess employee engagement by means of our employee
survey (for more information, see page 270 onward).

Climate

As BASF is an energy-intensive company, climate-related risks arise in a physical sense and from
regulatory changes, such as in CO, prices through emissions trading systems, taxes or energy
legislation. In addition, BASF’s emissions footprint and intensity could lead to a negative perception and
reduced appeal among external stakeholders such as customers, investors and skilled workers. We
counter these risks with our carbon management measures and by transparently disclosing our positions
on climate protection and progress in the implementation of our climate strategy, in publicly accessible
sources such as this annual report or on the BASF website, and in direct dialog with political decision-
makers and external stakeholders (for more information, see page 94).

To assess the changing physical risks for our sites from climate change, BASF compiles climate data
based on the latest scenarios of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) in cooperation
with an external partner. This comprehensive analysis enables sites to assess their potential physical
impact from climate change in the coming decades, with the focus on a scenario representing a
significant degree of global warming in addition to a climate protection scenario. The analysis centers on
the current situation and long-term projections (30 years), whereas the midterm analysis is only used as a
supplementary source of information where potential long-term materiality is identified.

Based on these analyses, we anticipate that most sites will be particularly affected by increasing heat
and drought, whereas some may be faced with heavy precipitation and a few could also be exposed to
risks in connection with flooding, hail, water stress and forest fires. The information gained from this
analysis helps our sites to prepare their strategies, which include maintaining wide-ranging insurance
coverage to mitigate the majority of risks and instituting a variety of adaptation measures. These include
process optimization, investing in assets and infrastructure, and monitoring and updating occupational
healthcare measures to minimize risks in the short, medium and long term.

In 2024, a specific analysis of physical climate risks was carried out at selected sites. It is planned to roll
out this assessment approach to all key BASF sites in the coming years and, on this basis, bolstering our
resilience to climate-related challenges (for more information, see page 178 onward).

Alongside climate-related risks, opportunities also arise for our sustainable products for climate
protection. Our broad product portfolio includes, among other things, solutions for the circular economy
and climate protection, such as insulation materials for buildings, materials for electromobility and bio-
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based products. Increased societal demands and the resulting regulations offer additional market
opportunities for these products. We are working with numerous scientific and public organizations and
initiatives on solutions for sustainable agriculture that meet economic, environmental and social demands
over the long term (for more information, see page 150).

» For more information on our positions on and contributions to climate protection, see basf.com/climate_protection
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Disclosures on BASF SE in Accordance with the German Commercial
Code (HGB)

The Management’s Report of BASF SE is combined with the
Management’s Report of the BASF Group. As the publicly listed parent
company in the BASF Group, BASF SE takes a central position: Directly
or indirectly, it holds the shares in the companies belonging to the
BASF Group and is also one of the largest operating companies. A
complete overview of BASF SE’s operating business is provided by the
Consolidated Financial Statements of the BASF Group.

Corporate Structure

BASF SE operates the BASF Group’s largest Verbund site in Ludwigshafen, Germany, and is therefore
one the most important operating companies of the BASF Group. In addition to marketing its own
production to third parties, BASF SE supplies its products to other BASF Group companies, which
process them in downstream production or sell them on the local market. BASF SE also distributes
products from other BASF Group companies. All divisions, with the exception of Coatings, were active
within BASF SE in 2024. As the parent company, BASF SE is also responsible for various central tasks,
such as Group management and large parts of the Corporate Center. In addition, extensive research
activities are bundled here.

As the top parent company, BASF SE directly or indirectly holds the shares in the companies belonging
to the BASF Group. This is reflected above all in the financial assets and the financial result.

Due to this distinct integration into the BASF Group, BASF SE is managed within the framework of the
BASF Group’s Steering Concept and has not implemented a separate steering concept. Income from
operations is the most suitable indicator for assessing business performance and is therefore BASF SE’s
most important financial key performance indicator.

The Financial Statements of BASF SE are prepared in accordance with section 61 of the Council
Regulation (EC) No 2157/2001 of October 8, 2001, on the Statute for a European company (SE) and the
applicable regulations for public limited-liability companies in the Member State in which it has its
registered office, i.e., in accordance with the accounting regulations for the business year ending
December 31, 2024, in particular the German Commercial Code (HGB) and the German Stock
Corporation Act (AktG). The Consolidated Financial Statements of the BASF Group, however, include the
Financial Statements of BASF SE, which are prepared in accordance with the International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS®) of the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB®) valid on the
balance sheet date and the additional applicable rules under section 315¢e(1) of the German Commercial
Code (HGB). IFRSs® are generally only applied after they have been endorsed by the European Union.
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Results of Operations of BASF SE

Statement of income

Consolidated Financial Statements Further Information

Million € 2024 2023
Sales revenue 21,791 22,832
Cost of sales 18,841 20,070
Gross profit on sales 2,950 2,762
Selling expenses 1,886 1,807
General administrative expenses 529 497
Research and development expenses 1,221 1,238
Other operating income 1,000 247
Other operating expenses 1,317 1,631
Income from operations -1,003 -2,064
Income from shareholdings 3,622 9,801
Interest result 367 30
Other financial result 20 78
Financial result 4,009 9,909
Income before income taxes 3,006 7,845
Income taxes 302 411
Net income 2,704 7,434

BASF SE’s sales revenue declined by €1,041 million to €21,791 million in the fiscal year. Despite higher
sales volumes, sales decreased in the operating business due to lower sales prices. The economic
environment continues to pose exceptional challenges for the chemical industry. Against this backdrop,
low plant capacity utilization and impairments on property, plant and equipment recorded in production
costs totaling €65 million had a negative impact on BASF SE’s profit. Effects from lower raw materials
and energy prices as well as from inventory valuation led to a positive earnings contribution in the fiscal
year. Gross profit on sales increased by €188 million overall to €2,950 million.

In line with our forecast, income from operations increased by €1,061 million to -€1,003 million,
marking a considerable improvement. In the fiscal year, income from operations also benefited by
changes to the actuarial assumptions made about pension obligations. In the fiscal year, selling
expenses increased by €79 million and administrative expenses by €32 million. Research expenses
decreased by €17 million. The lower expenditure for exploratory research was offset by impairments of
€46 million.

The balance of other operating income and expenses improved by €967 million compared with the
previous year to -€317 million. Out-of-period income increased by €443 million, mainly due to higher
reversals of provisions, gains from asset disposals, refunds and grants. Furthermore, €160 million lower
expenses from agreed cost transfers from Group companies were recognized. Foreign currency result
improved by €6 million. In addition, expenditures for portfolio measures related to the implementation of
strategic measures decreased by €58 million while impairments increased by €8 million. Expenses for
environmental protection measures increased by €39 million in the fiscal year.
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The financial result decreased by €5,900 million to €4,009 million. The decline in net income from
shareholdings resulted in particular from lower dividends of a Dutch subsidiary of BASF SE. These
dividends resulted mainly from retained earnings in the previous year. Lower profit transfers, which were
mainly influenced by a distribution of retained earnings from a Belgian Group company in the previous
year, continued to have an impact. The increase in the interest result was mainly due to higher interest
income from loans of financial assets to affiliated companies and lower interest expenses to affiliated
companies.

Income before income taxes decreased by €4,839 million year on year to €3,006 million. Income tax
expenses decreased by €109 million in the fiscal year. Due to deferred tax assets and liabilities,

€121 million lower expenses were recorded in the business year. By contrast, current income tax
expenses increased by €12 million.

Net income decreased by €4,730 million compared with the previous year to €2,704 million in 2024.
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Net Assets and Financial Position of BASF SE

Net assets

Assets

Further Information

Million €

Intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment
Financial assets

Fixed assets

Inventories

Accounts receivable, trade
Receivables from affiliated companies
Miscellaneous receivables and other assets
Receivables and other assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Current assets

Prepaid expenses

Deferred tax assets

Total assets

December 31, 2024
947
3,341
27,326
31,614
2,940
862
16,612
702
18,176
1,112
22,228
159

54,001

December 31, 2023
1,159
3,403

22,878
27,440
2,913
796
23,636
657
25,089
1,160
29,162
144
287
57,033

Total assets declined by €3,032 million compared with December 31, 2023, to €54,001 million.

Fixed assets increased by €4,174 million. Intangible assets declined by €212 million. In addition to
amortization, impairments of €46 million were recognized in the Nutrition & Care segment. Property, plant
and equipment decreased by €62 million. The investments were slightly higher than depreciation.
Furthermore, impairments of €86 million were recognized, which related, among other things, to a plant
in the Chemicals segment. Financial assets increased by €4,448 million mainly due to granting loans to

subsidiaries.

Current assets and other assets decreased by €7,206 million. Receivables from affiliated companies
declined by €7,024 million particularly due to the repayment of financial investments within the Group
and lower profit transfers. In addition, deferred tax assets declined by €287 million as a result of valuation
allowances. Cash and cash equivalents decreased by €48 million and consisted of cash at banks and on
hand as of December 31, 2024. By contrast, trade accounts receivable increased by €66 million and

inventories by €27 million.
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Financial position

Equity and liabilities

Million € December 31,2024 December 31, 2023
Subscribed capital 1,142 1,142
Capital reserve 3,172 3,172
Retained earnings 16,544 12,144
Retained profits 2,704 7,434
Equity 23,562 23,892
Special reserves 49 52
Provisions for pensions and similar obligations 529 1,294
Provisions for taxes 201 218
Other provisions 1,390 1,341
Provisions 2,120 2,853
Financial indebtedness 17,547 17,360
Accounts payable, trade 1,044 1,078
Liabilities to affiiated companies 8,760 10,913
Miscellaneous liabilities 683 650
Liabilities 28,034 30,001
Deferred income 236 235
Total equity and liabilities 54,001 57,033

Equity decreased by €330 million. The net income of €2,704 million was offset by the dividend of
€3,035 million paid for the 2023 reporting year.

Provisions decreased by a total of €733 million. This included a decrease of provisions for pensions by
€765 million to €529 million. The main reason for this decrease was the €270 million increase in pension
plan assets attributable to higher fair values. Additionally, pension obligations decreased by €495 million,
mainly due to benefits paid and changes to actuarial valuation parameters. Pension obligations in the
amount of €6,998 million were offset against pension plan assets totaling €6,469 million. Provisions for
taxes decreased by €17 million. By contrast, other provisions increased by €49 million, particularly due to
higher provisions for environmental protection measures.

Liabilities and other items decreased by €1,969 million. Within this item, liabilities to affiliated
companies decreased by €2,153 million, mainly due to the repayment of intragroup borrowings. By
contrast, financial indebtedness increased by €187 million because the issuance of financial debts was
higher than repayments in the fiscal year.
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Forecast, Opportunities and Risks of BASF SE

Earnings forecast
In its forecast, BASF SE essentially makes the same assumptions regarding the development of global
economic environment as the BASF Group.

Considering these assumptions, we expect income from operations in 2025 to be slightly below the level
of the previous year. In 2024, income from operations was affected by extraordinary effects on income,
particularly by the changes to actuarial assumptions for pension obligations, by gains from asset
disposals, and by effects from inventory valuation. Further restructuring measures had an offsetting
effect in 2024. For 2025, we anticipate positive earnings contributions from the cost saving measures
already implemented, which will be offset by the expenditure for additional restructuring measures
required for the implementation of the corporate strategy. Furthermore, we anticipate extraordinary
effects on income in 2025 to be lower.

Opportunities and risks, risk management system
BASF SE is generally exposed to the same opportunities and risks as the BASF Group.

BASF SE’s internal control and risk management system with regard to the financial reporting process
(section 289(4) HGB) is based on a uniform accounting guideline that sets out accounting policies and
the significant processes and deadlines on a Group-wide basis. There are binding directives for the
internal reconciliations and other accounting operations within the Group. Standard software is used to
carry out the accounting processes, and there are clear rules for the access rights of each participant in
these processes. The Financial Statements and parts of the disclosures on BASF SE in accordance with
the German Commercial Code (HGB) are prepared by a specialist unit in the Global Business Services
division.
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[Nonfinancial Disclosures of BASF SE]

Due to the importance of BASF SE within the BASF Group, specific disclosures are required when
reporting key sustainability-related information. Such disclosures also became mandatory for the parent
company of the BASF Group, BASF SE, as a result of the CSR Directive Implementation Act, which came
into effect in 2017. An integrated reference option within the (Consolidated) Sustainability Statement was
selected in the Management’s Report for the Nonfinancial Statement (NFS) to be issued in the reporting
year in accordance with sections 289b to 289e of the German Commercial Code (HGB). The table on this
and the following page shows the relevant nonfinancial key figures of BASF SE. All disclosures on
strategy, due diligence, targets, described processes and key figures contained in the statements in the
Combined Management’s Report, including the (Consolidated) Sustainability Statement, apply to the
BASF Group including BASF SE. No significant deviations were identified for BASF SE.

Nonfinancial disclosures of BASF SE

2024
Employees Employees 33,370
of which apprentices 1,978
Apprentices in final year of apprenticeship who received a job
offer? % 88
Participants in Training Verbund (cooperation with partner
companies in the Rhine-Neckar metropolitan region) 66
Training Verbund expenses million € 3
Personnel expenses million € 3,594
of which wages and salaries 2,972
of which social security contributions and expenses for pensions
and assistance 622
of which pension expenses 125
Participants in the “plus” employee share program 17,469
Innovation Employees in research and development 3,941
Research and development expenses million € 1,221
Procurement Procurement spend million € 7,447
Safety (process and Fatality rate® 0.0
occupational safety) Employees® 0.0
Nonemployees® 0.0
Contractors® 0.0
Number of fatalities 0
Employees 0
Nonemployees 0
Contractors 0
High-consequence work-related injury rate® 0.2
Employees® 0.1
Nonemployees® 0.8
Contractors® 0.2
Recordable work-related injury rate® © 8.4
Employees® 7.4
Nonemployees® 21.3
Contractors® 9.6
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Safety (process and
occupational safety)

Emergency response

Management systems
Environmental

Number of recordable work-related injuries®
Employees
Nonemployees
Contractors
Number of days lost to work-related injuries
Employees
Nonemployees
Contractors
Rate of high-severity work process-related injuries®
Rate of process safety incidents®
Rate of high-severity process safety incidents®
Transportation incidents

Incidents with spillage of more than 200 kilograms of dangerous
goods

of which with significant impact on the environment
Major incident drill
Drills and simulations of emergency measures
TUIS interventions
Responsible Care audits
Energy demand - electricity
Energy demand — steam
Energy demand — fossil fuels in power plants
Waste generation

of which recycled waste

of which waste disposed of

of which hazardous waste

Emissions of air pollutants (excluding CH,); CO, NOy, NMVOC, SOy,
dust, NH3 / other inorganic substances

Greenhouse gas emissions: CO,, N,O, CH,, HFC, PFC, SFg

Water abstraction

Water use

Water discharge

Emissions of organic substances to water
Emissions of nitrogen to water

Emissions of heavy metals to water
Emissions of phosphorus to water

a8 Apprentices in catering are excluded from these disclosures.

® per 1,000,000 working hours

¢ Recordable work-related injuries for BASF include all injuries recorded in the system in accordance with ESRS.

BASF Report 2024

MWh

metric tons
MWh
metric tons
%

%

%

metric tons

million metric
tons of CO,
equivalents

million cubic
meters

million cubic
meters

million cubic
meters

metric tons
metric tons
metric tons
metric tons

2024
537
353

55
129
4,377
2,898
376
1,103
0.2
1.7
0.3

0

0

1

163

136

24
4,587,399
14,737,149
12,056,102
636,663
46.8

53.2

98.1

5,320

5.1

1,063

2,021

962
4,077
1,068

63
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1.2 Corporate Governance'

Corporate Governance Report

Corporate governance refers to the entire system for managing and
supervising a company. This includes its organization, values, corporate
principles and guidelines as well as internal and external control and
monitoring mechanisms. Effective and transparent corporate governance
ensures that BASF is managed and supervised responsibly with a focus
on value creation and sustainability. It fosters the confidence of our
investors, the financial markets, our customers and other business
partners, employees, other groups affiliated with our company
(stakeholders) as well as the public in BASF.

The fundamental elements of BASF SE’s corporate governance system are: its two-tier management
system, with a transparent and clear separation of company management and supervision between
BASF’s Board of Executive Directors and the Supervisory Board; the equal representation of
shareholders and employee representatives on the Supervisory Board; and the shareholders’ rights of
coadministration and supervision at the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting.

Board of Executive Directors
ESRS 2 GOV-1 ESRS 2 GOV-2

Direction and management by the Board of Executive Directors

The Board of Executive Directors is responsible for managing the company and represents BASF SE in
business undertakings with third parties. BASF’s Board of Executive Directors is strictly separated from
the Supervisory Board, which monitors the Board of Executive Directors’ activities and decides on its
composition: A member of the Board of Executive Directors cannot simultaneously be a member of the
Supervisory Board. As the central duty of company management, the Board of Executive Directors
defines the corporate goals and strategic direction of the BASF Group as well as its individual business
areas, including the sustainability strategy. In doing so, the Board ensures that the opportunities and
risks associated with social and environmental factors for our company (outside-in perspective) as well
as the ecological and societal impacts of BASF’s corporate activities (inside-out perspective) are
systematically identified and evaluated. (In addition to long-term economic goals, the corporate strategy
appropriately takes environmental and social objectives into account, too. The corporate planning
defined on this basis comprises financial and sustainability-related goals.)

Furthermore, the Board of Executive Directors determines the company’s internal organization and
decides on the composition of management positions on the levels below the Board. It also manages
and monitors BASF Group business by planning and setting the corporate budget, allocating resources
and management capacities, monitoring and making decisions on significant individual measures, and
supervising operational management.

The Board’s actions and decisions are geared toward the company’s best interests. It is committed to
the goal of sustainably increasing the company’s value and developing the company over the long term,
taking into account environmental and social goals as well as economic targets. The Board’s
responsibilities include the preparation of the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements of

1 With the exception of the “Disclosures according to sections 289a and 315a of the German Commercial Code (HGB) and explanatory report of the Board of Executive
Directors according to section 176(1) sentence 1 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG),” the content of this section is not part of the statutory audit but is part of a
separate audit with limited assurance.
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BASF SE and reporting on the company’s financial and nonfinancial performance as well as half-year and
quarterly reporting. Furthermore, it must ensure that the company’s activities comply with the applicable
legislation and regulatory requirements as well as internal corporate requirements (compliance). This
includes the establishment of appropriate systems for control, compliance and risk management as well
as embedding a company-wide compliance culture with undisputed standards (see page 317).

Decisions that are reserved for the Board as a whole by law, through the Board of Executive Directors’
Rules of Procedure or through resolutions adopted by the Board, are made and all important matters of
the company are discussed at regularly held Board meetings called by the chair of the Board of
Executive Directors. Board decisions are based on detailed information and analyses provided by the
operating divisions and Corporate Center units as well the service and research units and, if deemed
necessary, by external consultants. The chair of the Board of Executive Directors leads the Board
meetings. Board decisions can generally be made via a simple majority. In the case of a tied vote, the
chair of the Board of Executive Directors gives the casting vote. However, the chair of the Board of
Executive Directors cannot enforce a decision against the Board of Executive Directors’ majority vote.
The chair of the Board also does not have the right to veto. Outside of matters that are assigned to the
entire Board for consultation and decision-making, all members of the Board of Executive Directors are
authorized to make decisions individually in their designated areas of responsibility.

The Board of Executive Directors can set up Board committees to consult and decide on individual
issues such as proposed material acquisition or divestiture projects or to prepare decisions to be made
by the entire Board. These committees must include at least three members of the Board of Executive
Directors. For the preparation of important decisions, such as those on acquisitions, divestitures,
investments and personnel, the Board has various commissions at the level below the Board. With the
support of the Corporate Center units and the service and research units and independently of the
affected operating division, these committees thoroughly assess the planned measures and evaluate the
associated opportunities and risks. Based on this information, they report and make recommendations to
the Board.

The Board of Executive Directors informs the Supervisory Board regularly, without delay and
comprehensively, of all issues important to the company with regard to planning, business development,
the risk situation, risk management and compliance. Furthermore, the Board of Executive Directors
coordinates the company'’s strategic orientation with the Supervisory Board (for additional information on
risk management, see the forecast report from page 87 onward). The Statutes of BASF SE and the
Supervisory Board have defined certain transactions that require the Board of Executive Directors to
obtain the Supervisory Board’s approval prior to their conclusion. Such cases that require approval
include the acquisition of enterprises and disposal of parts of enterprises, as well as the issue of bonds
or comparable financial instruments. However, this is only necessary if the acquisition or disposal price
or the amount of the issue in an individual case exceeds 3% of the equity reported in the most recent
approved Consolidated Financial Statements of the BASF Group.

The members of the Board of Executive Directors, including their areas of responsibility and
memberships in the supervisory bodies of other companies, are listed from page 141 onward.

» Additional information on the compensation of the Board of Executive Directors can be found in the Compensation Report at
basf.com/compensationreport.

» The Rules of Procedure for the Board of Executive Directors can be found at basf.com/rules-of-procedure.
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Competence profile, diversity concept and succession planning for the Board of Executive
Directors

The Supervisory Board works hand in hand with the Board of Executive Directors to ensure long-term
succession planning for the composition of the Board of Executive Directors. BASF aims to fill most
Board positions with leaders from within the company. It is the task of the Board of Executive Directors
to propose a sufficient number of suitable individuals to the Supervisory Board.

BASF SE’s two-tier management system

Board of Executive Directors Supervisory Board
@ @
@ @ o O o O O
w w w < appoints the Board of Executive Directors | w ? w ? w w
< monitors the Board of Executive Directors |
o O O o 6 6 6 o o
w ? w < advises the Board of Executive Directors | @ w w w w ﬂ
| reports to the Supervisory Board >
6 members 12 members
appointed by the Supervisory Board 6 shareholder representatives elected by
Chair the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting and
appointed by the Supervisory Board 6 employee representatives
Chair

elected by the Supervisory Board

Long-term succession planning is guided by the corporate strategy. It is based on systematic
management development characterized by the following:

— Early identification of suitable leaders of different professional backgrounds, nationalities and genders

— Systematic development of leaders through the successful assumption of tasks with increasing
responsibility, where possible in different business areas, regions and functions

— Desire to shape strategic and operational decisions and proven success in doing so, as well as
leadership skills, especially under challenging business conditions

— Role model function in putting corporate values into practice

The aim of systematic management development is to enable the Supervisory Board to ensure a
reasonable level of diversity with respect to education and professional experience, cultural background,
international representation, gender and age when appointing members of the Board of Executive
Directors. Irrespective of these individual criteria, a holistic approach will determine a person’s suitability
for appointment to the Board of Executive Directors of BASF SE. Both systematic succession planning
and the selection process aim to ensure that the Board of Executive Directors as a whole has the
following profile, which serves as a diversity concept:

— Many years of leadership experience in scientific, technical and commercial fields

International experience based on background and/or professional experience
At least one female Board member

A balanced age distribution to ensure the continuity of the Board’s work and enable seamless
succession planning

The first appointment of members of the Board of Executive Directors is for a term of no more than three
years. The standard age limit for members of the Board of Executive Directors is 63. The Supervisory
Board determines the number of members on the Board of Executive Directors. It is guided by the
concept of BASF as a company comprising core businesses and standalone businesses and is
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determined by the needs arising from cooperation within the Board of Executive Directors. The
Supervisory Board considers six to be an appropriate number of Board members given the current
business composition, future development tasks and the fundamental organizational structure of the

BASF Group.

Implementation of the competence profile and the diversity concept for the Board of
Executive Directors

The current composition of the Board of Executive Directors meets the competence profile and the
requirements of the diversity concept in full. On account of the different educational backgrounds and
management experience of its members — in scientific, technical and commercial fields — the Board of
Executive Directors as a whole covers the required spectrum of specialist and management expertise
and also possesses many years of international experience. In accordance with section 76 (3a) of the
German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), one woman sits on the Board of Executive Directors, with suitable
consideration of women forming an integral component of succession planning for the Board of
Executive Directors. In its current composition, the Board of Executive Directors exhibits a balanced age
structure and has an age range of seven years, meaning that sufficient continuity is assured in the work
of the Board of Executive Directors. Likewise, no member of the Board of Executive Directors exceeds
the standard age limit of 63 years.

For details, please see the matrix below:

Implementation of the competence profile and diversity concept of the Board of Executive Directors

Member of the
Board of Executive
Directors since

Position as of
December 31, 2024

Duties and regional
responsibilities
(2024 business year)

At BASF since

BASF Report 2024

Dr. Markus
Kamieth

2017

Chairman of the
Board of
Executive
Directors,

BASF SE,
Ludwigshafen,
Germany

Corporate
Development;
Corporate
Legal,
Compliance &
Insurance;
Corporate
Human
Resources;
Corporate
Communication
s & Government
Relations;
Corporate
Investor
Relations;
Senior Project
Net Zero
Accelerator

1999

Dr. Dirk
Elvermann

2023

Member of the
Board of
Executive
Directors, Chief
Financial Officer
and Chief Digital
Officer,

BASF SE,
Ludwigshafen,
Germany

Corporate
Finance;
Corporate
Audit;
Corporate
Taxes & Duties;
Global Business
Services; Global
Digital Services;
Global
Procurement;
BASF Venture
Capital

2003

Michael Anup
Heinz Kothari
2011 2024

Member of the Member of the

Board of Board of
Executive Executive
Directors, Directors,
BASF SE, BASF SE,
Chairman of Ludwigshafen,
BASF Germany
Corporation,

located in

Florham Park,

New Jersey

Agricultural Catalysts;
Solutions; Coatings;
Nutrition & Dispersions &
Health; Care Resins;
Chemicals; Performance
North America Chemicals
region; South

America region

1984 1999

Dr. Stephan
Kothrade

2023

Member of the
Board of
Executive
Directors, Chief
Technology
Officer,

BASF SE,
located in
Ludwigshafen,
Germany, and
Singapore

Monomers;
Performance
Materials;
Petrochemicals;
Intermediates;
Group
Research;
Greater China;
South & East
Asia, ASEAN &
Australia/New
Zealand; Mega
Projects Asia

1995

Dr. Katja
Scharpwinkel

2024

Member of the
Board of
Executive
Directors,
Industrial
Relations
Director, Site
Director of the
Ludwigshafen
site, BASF SE,
Ludwigshafen,
Germany

European Site &
Verbund
Management;
Global
Engineering
Services;
Corporate
Environmental
Protection,
Health, Safety &
Quiality; Europe,
Middle East,
Africa region

2010
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Implementation of the competence profile and diversity concept of the Board of Executive Directors

Dr. Markus
Kamieth

Leadership experience within BASF

Scientific
Technical
Commercial

Diversity
Date of birth

Gender
Degree

Nationality

v

November 25,
1970

Male
Chemistry

German

International experience

Europe

North/South/Central
America

China
Asia Pacific

Dr. Dirk

Elvermann

August 13,
1971

Male
Law

German

Michael
Heinz

February 18,
1964

Male
MBA

German

Anup
Kothari

January 8, 1968

Male

Chemical
engineering,
MBA

American

Dr. Stephan
Kothrade

March 13, 1967

Male
Chemistry

German

Experience relevant to the sectors, products, geographical locations and customer industries of BASF

Chemicals

Materials

Industrial Solutions

Surface
Technologies

BASF Report 2024

Director,

Business Mgmt.

Acrylics &
Superabsor-
bents North
America &
South America

SVP,
Performance
Chemicals
North America;
Director, Ciba
Integration for
Performance
Chemicals
Division
President,
Coatings

President,
Global
Integration
Team Ciba and
Chief Executive
Officer Ciba

President,
Performance
Chemicals;
SVP,
Performance
Chemicals
North America

VP, Business
Mgmt. Mobile
Emissions
Catalysts Asia
Pacific;

VP, Strategy &
Planning/New
Business
Development
Catalysts

President,
Intermediates;
Managing
Director Nanjing
Verbund site;
SVP, BASF
Antwerpen
N.V./Plant
Operations,
Engineering &
Infrastructure
SVP, BASF
Antwerpen
N.V./Plant
Operations,
Engineering &
Infrastructure
Operations
Manager,
Lutonal plant,
Ludwigshafen,
Germany

Dr. Katja
Scharpwinkel

September 10,
1969

Female
Chemistry

German

VP, Distribution
Business
Europe &
Managing
Director, BTC
Europe GmbH

Head of Sales
Lubricant
Additives
Central Europe,
Ciba Specialty
Chemicals

SVP,
Automotive
Refinish
Coatings
Solutions
EMEA, BASF
Coatings GmbH
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Implementation of the competence profile and diversity concept of the Board of Executive Directors

Dr. Markus
Kamieth

Nutrition & Care

Agricultural Solutions

Research & Research of
Development special and
process
chemicals
Technology

Staff of member
of the Board of

Corporate functions

Executive
Directors
Sustainability-related
specialist v
knowledge?
Automotive industry v

BASF Report 2024

Dr. Dirk Michael Anup
Elvermann Heinz Kothari
President, President,
Global Nutrition &
Integration Health;
Team Cognis; Global
Product Marketing
Manager PvP ~ Manager &
Polymers Business
Manager, Care
Chemicals
President, Crop
Protection;
Group Vice
President Global
Strategic
Marketing
Agricultural
Products
Technology &
Capital Program
Manager, BASF
Corporation
President, Managing
Corporate Director, BASF
Finance; Mexicana S.A.
member of the
Board,
Wintershall
Holding GmbH;
SVP, Corporate
M&A Projects;
Managing
Director, BASF
Polska Sp.
Z.0.0.;
Vice President,
Legal and Tax
Asia Pacific
v v v
v

Dr. Stephan
Kothrade

Production and
research for
water-soluble
special
polymers for
cosmetics and

Dr. Katja
Scharpwinkel

Head of Sales
Formulation
Technologies
Europe, BASF
Personal Care
and Nutrition

pharmaceuticals GmbH;
Regional Sales
Director
Functional
Products
Europe, Cognis;
Regional
Marketing
Director Care
Chemicals
North Europe,
Cognis

Production and

research for

water-soluble

special

polymers for

cosmetics and

pharmaceuticals

Managing

Director,

Nanjing

Verbund site;

SVP, BASF

Antwerpen

N.V./Plant

Operations,

Engineering &

Infrastructure

President, President,

Greater China; Europe, Middle

President YPC East and Africa

Joint Venture,

Nanjing;

Corporate

Strategy &

Planning;

Managing

Director, BASF

Hungaria &

Southeast

Europe,

Budapest,

Hungary

v v
v v
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Implementation of the competence profile and diversity concept of the Board of Executive Directors

Dr. Markus Dr. Dirk Michael Anup Dr. Stephan Dr. Katja
Kamieth Elvermann Heinz Kothari Kothrade Scharpwinkel
Construction industry v v v v v
Electronics industry
Agriculture v
Packaging industry v
Energy industry v v
Pharmaceutical and
o v v v v v
cosmetics industry
Household and
v v v v v

cleaning industry

an particular, taking into account the sustainability topics that are material for BASF, which were identified following the double materiality assessment. Details can be
found in the section “Competence of the Board of Executive Directors and Supervisory Board in monitoring sustainability aspects” from page 133 onward.

Proportions represented in the Board of Executive Directors according to the aspects of diversity taken
into account (as of December 31, 2024)

Proportion of women? 16.7%
Proportion of members with international experience based on their

background or professional experience 83.3%
Proportion of members with many years of leadership experience

— in scientific fields 33.3%
— in technical fields 66.7%
— in commercial fields 100%
Proportion of members under 60 years of age 83.3%

8 We do not currently record a third gender in the aspects of diversity represented in the Board of Executive Directors. We will regularly review the relevance of this category
in external reporting.
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Supervisory Board
ESRS 2 GOV-1 ESRS 2 GOV-2

Supervision of company management by the Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board appoints the members of the Board of Executive Directors. It supervises and
advises the Board of Executive Directors on management issues and must also be involved in making
decisions that are of key importance for the company. This also includes the Board of Executive
Directors’ consideration of sustainability issues with regard to corporate management. The Supervisory
Board is also responsible for auditing BASF SE’s and the BASF Group’s Annual Financial Statements. As
members of the Supervisory Board may not simultaneously be on the Board of Executive Directors, a
high level of independence is already structurally ensured with regard to the supervision of the Board of
Executive Directors.

In addition to the SE Regulation, the relevant legal basis for the size and composition of the Supervisory
Board is provided by the Statutes of BASF SE and the Agreement Concerning the Involvement of
Employees in BASF SE (Employee Participation Agreement). The latter also includes the regulations
applicable to BASF for implementing the statutory gender quota for the Supervisory Board. The German
Codetermination Act does not apply to BASF SE as a European stock corporation (Societas Europaea,
SE).

The Supervisory Board of BASF SE comprises 12 members. Six members are elected by the
shareholders at the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting via a simple majority. Six members are elected by the
BASF Europa Betriebsrat (BASF Works Council Europe), the European employee representation body of
the BASF Group. Newly elected members of the Supervisory Board are appointed for a term of four
years. This ensures that the maximum membership duration of 12 years up to which a Supervisory Board
member can be classified as independent in accordance with the German Corporate Governance Code
corresponds to a total of three election terms.

Meetings of the Supervisory Board and its four committees are called by their respective chairs and
independently, at the request of one of their members or the Board of Executive Directors. The
shareholder and employee representatives of the Supervisory Board prepare for Supervisory Board
meetings in separate preliminary discussions. Resolutions of the Supervisory Board are passed by a
simple majority vote of the participating Supervisory Board members. In the event of a tie, the vote of the
chair of the Supervisory Board, who must always be a shareholder representative, gives the casting vote.
This resolution process is also applicable for the appointment and dismissal of members of the Board of
Executive Directors by the Supervisory Board. Resolutions can, as needed, also be made in writing or
through electronic communication outside of the meetings, as long as no Supervisory Board member
objects to this form of passing a resolution. The Supervisory Board meets regularly even without the
Board of Executive Directors.

The Board of Executive Directors continually informs the Supervisory Board about matters such as the
course of business and expected developments, the results of operations, net assets and financial
position, material acquisition and divestiture projects, corporate planning, the implementation of the
corporate strategy, including the sustainability strategy, business opportunities and risks as well as risk
and compliance management and the internal control system. The Supervisory Board has embedded the
main reporting requirements in an information policy. The chair of the Supervisory Board is in regular
contact with the Board of Executive Directors, especially with its chair, outside of meetings as well.

A list of the members of BASF SE’s Supervisory Board indicating which members are shareholder or
employee representatives and their appointments to the supervisory bodies of other companies can be
found from page 143 onward.

» For more information on the Supervisory Board’s information policy, see basf.com/rules-of-procedure

BASF Report 2024 Corporate Governance | 118


https://basf.com/rules-of-procedure

At a Glance Combined Management’s Report Consolidated Financial Statements Further Information

» Additional information on the compensation of the Supervisory Board can be found at basf.com/compensationreport.

» The Statutes of BASF SE and the Employee Participation Agreement can be found at basf.com/statutes and
basf.com/en/corporategovernance.

Personnel Committee

Members

Prof. Dr. Stefan Asenkerschbaumer? (Chairman)
Dr. Kurt Bock?

Prof. Dr. Thomas Carell?

Tatjana Diether?

Sinischa Horvat?

Michael Vassiliadis

Duties

— Prepares the appointment of members to the Board of Executive Directors by the Supervisory Board
as well as the service contracts to be entered into with members of the Board of Executive Directors

— When making recommendations for appointments to the Board of Executive Directors, considers
professional qualifications, international experience and leadership skills as well as long-term
succession planning, diversity, and especially the appropriate consideration of women

— Prepares the resolutions made by the Supervisory Board with regard to the system and amount of
compensation paid to members of the Board of Executive Directors

Audit Committee

Members

Alessandra Genco? (Chairwoman)
Tatjana Diether?

Tamara Weinert?

Michael Vassiliadis

Duties

— Prepares the negotiations and resolutions of the Supervisory Board for the approval of the Financial
Statements, the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Management’s Reports, including the
Nonfinancial Statements and sustainability reporting and discusses the Quarterly Statements and the
Half-Year Financial Report with the Board of Executive Directors prior to their publication

— Deals with monitoring the accounting process, the annual audit, including sustainability reporting and
its audit, the appropriateness and effectiveness of the internal control system, the risk management
system, the internal auditing system and compliance management system as well as compliance
issues, including compliance with statutory regulations and internal environmental, health and safety
regulations (EHS compliance)

— Is responsible for business relations with the company’s auditor and the auditor of the company’s
sustainability report: prepares the Supervisory Board’s proposal to the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting
regarding the selection of an auditor for the Annual and Consolidated Financial Statements and the
audit review of the Half-Year Financial Report, monitors the auditor’s independence, defines the focus
areas of the audit together with the auditor, discusses the audit risk, audit strategy and audit plan with
the auditor, negotiates auditing fees, evaluates the quality of the annual audit, and establishes the
conditions for the provision of the auditor’s nonaudit services; the chair of the Audit Committee
regularly discusses this with the auditor outside of meetings as well and reports to the Committee on
such discussions; the Audit Committee regularly consults with the auditor, even without the Chief
Financial Officer or another member of the Board of Executive Directors.

2 Classified by the Supervisory Board as an “independent” member of the Supervisory Board (see page 122 for the criteria used to determine independence)
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— Deals with post-audits of key acquisition and investment projects

— Is responsible for monitoring the internal process of identifying related party transactions and ensuring
adherence to statutory approval and disclosure requirements; grants approval of related party
transactions

— Is authorized to request any information that it deems necessary from the auditor or from the Board of
Executive Directors and has a direct right to information from the heads of the units of the Corporate
Center such as Corporate Audit or Corporate Compliance; can also view all of BASF’s business
documents and examine these and all other assets belonging to BASF. The Audit Committee can also
engage experts such as auditors or lawyers to carry out these inspections.

Special expertise in the areas of the annual audit and accounting

The Audit Committee includes two members with expertise (special knowledge and experience within the
meaning of the German Corporate Governance Code) in the fields of accounting and auditing. The
Chairwoman of the Audit Committee, Alessandra Genco, has deep expertise in accounting, including
sustainability reporting, due to her studies in economics, her professional experience working for
financial institutions and her current role as chief financial officer of a publicly listed international
company based in the EU. Tamara Weinert has special expertise in the field of auditing, including the
audit of sustainability reporting, and accounting expertise due to her former role as the Chief Financial
Officer for EMEA at Outokumpu and her professional activities in the finance departments of various
companies around the world. Both closely monitor current developments in sustainability reporting,
particularly the European regulations of the Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive (CSRD), and its
auditing and actively contribute this expertise to the Supervisory Board and Audit Committee.

Nomination Committee

Members

Dr. Kurt Bock? (Chairman)

Prof. Dr. Stefan Asenkerschbaumer?
Prof. Dr. Thomas Carell®

Liming Chen®

Alessandra Genco®

Tamara Weinert®

Duties

— Identifies suitable individuals for the Supervisory Board based on objectives for the composition
decided on by the Supervisory Board

— Prepares the recommendations made by the Supervisory Board for the election of Supervisory Board
members representing the shareholders by the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting

3 Classified by the Supervisory Board as an “independent” member of the Supervisory Board (see page 122 for the criteria used to determine independence)
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Strategy Committee

Members

Dr. Kurt Bock* (Chairman)

Prof. Dr. Stefan Asenkerschbaumer*

Alessandra Genco*

Sinischa Horvat*

André Matta*

Michael Vassiliadis

Duties

— Handles the further development of the company’s strategy

— Prepares resolutions of the Supervisory Board on the company’s major acquisitions and divestitures

The Supervisory Board has not established a dedicated Sustainability Committee. Sustainability is a
topic of such pivotal importance to BASF with its economic success, environment and social-related
aspects that the entire Supervisory Board regularly discusses it in detail as a cross-cutting issue. This
also applies to the significant issue of reducing CO, emissions and the targeted conversion of business
activities to emission-free power supply and production processes with a lower emission rate.

Meetings and meeting attendance

In the 2024 business year, meetings were held as follows:

The Supervisory Board met six times.
The Personnel Committee met three times.

The Audit Committee met five times.

The Nomination Committee did not meet.

The Strategy Committee met three times.

All members attended all meetings of the Supervisory Board. The meetings of the Supervisory Board
committees were attended by all respective committee members. During the 2024 business year, the
meetings of the Supervisory Board and its committees were held almost entirely as general in-person
meetings with the additional option of virtual attendance. Only the Audit Committee held one of its five
meetings as a hybrid meeting.

For more information on the activities of the Supervisory Board and its committees in the 2024 business
year, see the Report of the Supervisory Board from page 462 onward.

» For an overview of meeting attendance, see basf.com/supervisoryboard/meetings

» The Rules of Procedure for the Supervisory Board and its committees can be found at basf.com/rules-of-procedure.

Competence profile, diversity concept, independence and further objectives for the
composition of the Supervisory Board

One important concern of good corporate governance is to ensure that seats on the responsible
corporate bodies, the Board of Executive Directors and the Supervisory Board are appropriately filled. In
December 2017, the Supervisory Board agreed for the first time on objectives for the composition, the
competence profile and the diversity concept of the Supervisory Board. These objectives and the
competence profile have since been continuously updated in the implementation of legal requirements
and further developed, taking into account the recommendations of the German Corporate Governance
Code (GCGQC). The guiding principle for the composition of the Supervisory Board is to ensure qualified
supervision and guidance for the Board of Executive Directors of BASF SE. For the election of
shareholder representatives to the Supervisory Board, individuals will only be nominated to the Annual

4 Classified by the Supervisory Board as an “independent” member of the Supervisory Board (see page 122 for the criteria used to determine independence)
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Shareholders’ Meeting who can, based on their professional knowledge and experience, integrity,
commitment, independence and character, successfully perform the work of a supervisory board
member at an international chemical company.

Competence profile
The following requirements and objectives (competence profile as amended in December 2022) are
considered essential to the composition of the Supervisory Board as a collective body:

— Leadership experience in managing companies, associations and networks
— Members’ collective knowledge of the chemical sector and the related value chains

— Appropriate knowledge within the body as a whole of finance, accounting, financial reporting, risk
management, law and compliance

— Appropriate expertise within the body as a whole on sustainability issues relevant to BASF

— At least one member with special knowledge and experience (special expertise) in the field of
accounting, including sustainability reporting

— At least one member with special knowledge and experience (special expertise) in the field of financial
auditing, including the audit of sustainability reporting

— At least one member with in-depth experience in innovation, research and development, and
technology

— At least one member with in-depth experience in the areas of digitalization, information technology,
business models and startups

— At least one member with in-depth experience in the areas of human resources, society,
communications and the media

— Specialist knowledge and experience in sectors outside of the chemical industry

Diversity concept

The Supervisory Board strives to achieve a reasonable level of diversity with respect to character,
gender, international representation, professional background, specialist knowledge and experience as
well as age distribution. It takes the following composition criteria into account:

At least 30% of members are women and 30% of members are men.

At least 30% of members have international experience based on their background or professional
experience.

At least 50% of members have different educational backgrounds and professional experience.

At least 30% of members are under the age of 60.

Independence

To ensure the independent monitoring and consultation of the Board of Executive Directors, the
Supervisory Board should have an appropriate number of independent members on the Board as a
whole and an appropriate number of independent shareholder representatives. The Supervisory Board
deems this to be the case if more than half of the shareholder representatives and at least eight members
of the Supervisory Board as a whole can be considered independent. The Supervisory Board’s
assessment of independence is based on the assessment criteria in the current respective version of the
German Corporate Governance Code.
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According to these criteria, indicators of a lack of independence of a Supervisory Board member are:

Membership of the Board of Executive Directors of the company in the two years prior to being
appointed to the Supervisory Board

Significant business relations with the company or an entity dependent on the company (such as a
customer, supplier, lender or adviser), either currently or in the year prior to their appointment, either
directly or as a shareholder of, or in a responsible position at, a third-party company

Close family relations with a member of the Board of Executive Directors
Membership of the Supervisory Board for more than 12 years

The Supervisory Board has additionally defined the following principles to clarify the meaning of
independence:

The independence of employee representatives is not compromised by their role as an employee
representative or employment by BASF SE or a Group company.

Prior membership of the Board of Executive Directors of BASF SE does not preclude independence
following the expiry of the statutory cooling-off period of two years.

Material transactions between a Supervisory Board member or a related party or undertaking of the
Supervisory Board member on the one hand, and BASF SE or a BASF Group company on the other,
exclude a member of the Supervisory Board from being qualified as independent. A material
transaction is defined as one or more transactions in a single calendar year with a total volume of 1%
or more of the sales of the companies involved in each case.

If a Supervisory Board member or a related party or undertaking of a Supervisory Board member has a
personal service or consulting agreement with BASF SE or one of its Group companies with an annual
compensation of over 50% of the Supervisory Board compensation, they do not qualify as
independent.

Furthermore, if a Supervisory Board member or a related party of a Supervisory Board member holds
more than 20% of the shares in a company in which BASF SE is indirectly or directly the majority
shareholder, the necessary independence is also not met.

The assessment criteria for independence of the German Corporate Governance Code and the
Supervisory Board’s own principles to clarify the meaning of independence are significantly narrower
than the new provisions of Delegated Regulation (EU) 2023/2772. As such, this ensures that the majority
of Supervisory Board members do not have any interests, positions, associations or relations that, from
the perspective of a reasonable and informed third party, are conducive to exerting undue influence on
decision-making or to causing bias.

Further objectives for the composition of the Supervisory Board

Character and integrity: Members of the Supervisory Board must be personally reliable and have the
knowledge and experience required to diligently and independently perform the work of a supervisory
board member.

Availability: Each member of the Supervisory Board ensures that they invest the time needed to
properly perform their role as a member of the Supervisory Board of BASF SE. The statutory limits on
appointments and the recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code must be
complied with when accepting further appointments.

BASF Report 2024 Corporate Governance | 123



At a Glance Combined Management’s Report Consolidated Financial Statements Further Information

— No conflicts of interest: Persons who may be subject to a conflict of interest may not be nominated for
election to the Supervisory Board. A conflict of interest is deemed to be any personal interest, or third-
party interest relevant to the nominated person, that, on account of its duration or intensity, gives
cause for concern that the business interests of BASF will be impaired or jeopardized.

— Age limit and period of membership: Persons who have reached the age of 72 on the day of election
by the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting should generally not be nominated for election. Membership on
the Supervisory Board should generally not exceed three regular statutory periods in office, which
corresponds to 12 years.

Implementation status of the competence profile, diversity concept, independence
requirements and further objectives for the composition of the Supervisory Board

According to the Supervisory Board’s own assessment, its current composition meets all of the
requirements of the competence profile: Every single area of competence is covered by multiple
members of the Supervisory Board. In particular, the in-depth knowledge and experience of the chemical
sector and the related value chains, which are crucial for understanding the business activities of BASF,
are broadly represented. The Supervisory Board also has the essential knowledge of accounting,
financial reporting and auditing, including sustainability reporting and its auditing, required for monitoring
the management of the company.

According to the Supervisory Board’s own assessment, its current composition also meets all of the
independence requirements in full: Eleven of the 12 current members, of which six are shareholder
representatives and five are employee representatives, are considered independent based on the above
criteria. As such, the Supervisory Board’s independence rate stands at 91.7%. Only the employee
representative Michael Vassiliadis is no longer considered independent as he has been a member of the
Supervisory Board since August 2004, and therefore for over 12 years.

Furthermore, the Supervisory Board meets the required composition criteria under the diversity concept
in full: The share of women stands at 33.3%, the share of members with international experience stands
at 50%, the share of different educational backgrounds and professional expertise stands at 66.7% and
the share of members under 60 at 66.7%.

The implementation status of the competence profile, diversity concept, independence requirements and
further objectives for the composition of the Supervisory Board is disclosed below in the form of a
qualification matrix:
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Dr.
Kurt
Bock

Prof. Dr.
Stefan

Asenkersch-

baumer

Membership of the Supervisory Board of BASF SE

Member since

Committee
memberships

June 18, 2020

Nomination
Committee
(Chairman);
Strategy
Committee
(Chairman);
Personnel
Committee

Personal suitability and availability

Independence in
accordance with
GCGC

Independence in
accordance with
Delegated Regulation
(EU) 2023/2772

Memberships of
other supervisory
bodies

No overboarding

Participation rate in
Supervisory Board
meetings and its

committees (2024)

Diversity
Date of birth

Gender
Vocational training

Position held

Nationality

BASF Report 2024

BMW AGe (Vice
Chairman,
Chairman of the
Audit
Committee,
member of the
Personnel and
Nomination
Committees)

v
100%

July 3, 1958

Male

Business
administration

Chairman of the
Supervisory
Board of

BASF SE

German

April 29, 2022

Nomination
Committee;
Strategy
Committee;
Personnel
Committee
(Chairman)

Robert Bosch
GmbH¢
(Chairman);

Stadler Rail AGY

100%

April 27, 1956

Male

Business
education;
business
administration

Managing
partner, Robert
Bosch
Industrietreu-
hand KG (RBIK),
Chairman of the
Supervisory
Board of Robert
Bosch GmbH

German

Prof. Dr.
Thomas
Carell

May 3, 2019

Nomination
Committee;
Personnel

Committee

None

100%

April 26, 1966

Male

Organic
chemistry

Professor of
Organic
Chemistry at
Ludwig-
Maximilians-
University
Munich

German

Liming
Chen

October 8,
2020

Nomination
Committee

ACWA Power
Company
SJSCe
(nonexecutive
independent
Board member
since January 5,
2025)

100%

January 29,
1960

Male
Food science

Nonexecutive
independent
Board member
of ACWA Power
Company SJSC

Singaporean

Alessandra
Genco?

April 29, 2022

Audit
Committee
(Chairwoman);
Nomination
Committee;
Strategy
Committee

Elettronica SpA?

(controlled
interest of
Leonardo SpA)

100%

August 4, 1973

Female
Economics

Chief Financial
Officer of
Leonardo SpA

[talian

Tamara
Weinert®

April 25, 2024

Audit

Committee;
Nomination
Committee

None

100%

February 16,
1965

Female

Banking;
finance;
protected
landscape
management

President and
Chief Executive
Officer of the
Business Area
Americas,
member of the
Leadership
Team of
Outokumpu
Corporation

German
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Qualifications matrix of the shareholder representatives in the Supervisory Board

International experience

Europe

North/South/Central
America

China
Asia Pacific

Prof. Dr.
Stefan
Asenkersch-
baumer

Prof. Dr.
Thomas
Carell

Professional knowledge and experience/competence profile®

Leadership of
companies,
associations and
networks

Chemical sector and
related value chains

Finance, accounting,
financial reporting,
risk management,
law and compliance

Sustainability’

Accounting and
auditing, including
sustainability
reporting
Innovation, research
and development
and technology

Digitalization, IT,
business models and
startups

Human resources,
society,
communications and
the media

Economic sectors
others than the
chemical industry

Publicly listed

a
b
[oF
9 Not publicly listed
e

Member with special knowledge of and experience in accounting, including sustainability reporting
Member with special knowledge of and experience in auditing, including sustainability auditing

Liming Alessandra Tamara
Chen Genco? Weinert®
v v v
v v v
v
v v v
v
v v v
v v v
v v
v v
v v v
v v v
v v v

Based on a self-assessment by the Supervisory Board and taking into account the individual assessment of each of its members. A check mark signifies at least good
knowledge in this area and thus the ability to understand relevant issues well and make informed decisions, either on the basis of existing qualifications or on the basis of

knowledge acquired through the Supervisory Board activity and in further training measures.
In particular, taking into account the sustainability topics that are material for BASF, which were identified following the double materiality assessment. Details can be

found in the section “Competence of the Board of Executive Directors and Supervisory Board in monitoring sustainability aspects” from page 133 onward.
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Sinischa
Horvat

Tatjana
Diether

Membership of the Supervisory Board of BASF SE

Member since

Committee
memberships

May 12, 2017

Personnel
Committee;
Strategy
Committee

Personal suitability and availability

Independence in
accordance with
GCGC

Independence in
accordance with

Delegated Regulation

(EU) 2023/2772

Memberships of
other supervisory
bodies

No overboarding

Participation rate in
Supervisory Board

meetings and its

committees (2024)

Diversity
Date of birth

Gender

Vocational training

Position held

Nationality

None

100%

January 30,
1976

Male

Process control
electronics;
business
administration

Chairman of the
Works Council
of BASF SE,
Ludwigshafen
site, of the
BASF Group
Works Council,
and of the BASF
Works Council
Europe

German

International experience

Europe

North/South/Central

America
China
Asia Pacific

BASF Report 2024

May 4, 2018

Audit
Committee;
Personnel
Committee

None

100%

April 4, 1975

Female

Technical
drawing:
commercial
training

Deputy
Chairwoman of
the Works
Council of
BASF SE,
Ludwigshafen
site, and
member of the
BASF Group
Works Council
and of the BASF
Works Council
Europe

German

André
Matta

April 29, 2022

Strategy
Committee

None

100%

June 30, 1970

Male

Machinist;
chemical
technician

Member of the
Works Council
of BASF SE,
Ludwigshafen
site, of the
BASF Group
Works Council
and of the BASF
Works Council
Europe

German

Natalie
Miihlenfeld

April 29, 2022
None

3M Deutschland
GmbH?;
Solventum
Germany
GmbH?

100%

August 13,
1980

Female
Law

Board secretary
of the Board
Division 1
Politics/
Transformation,
IGBCE

German

Michael
Vassiliadis

August 1, 2004

Audit
Committee;
Personnel
Committee;
Strategy
Committee

Steag GmbH®,
Henkel AG &
Co. KGaA®;
RAG
Aktiengesell-
schaft® (Vice
Chairman);
Vivawest
GmbH?

v
100%

March 13, 1964

Male

Chemical
laboratory
technician

Chairman of the
IGBCE

German

Peter
Zaman

April 29, 2022
None

None

100%

November 25,
1968

Male
Automotive

mechanic; plant
operator

Secretary of the
Works Council
of BASF
Antwerpen N.V.

Belgian
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Qualifications matrix of the employee representatives in the Supervisory Board

Sinischa Tatjana André Natalie Michael Peter
Horvat Diether Matta Mihlenfeld Vassiliadis Zaman

Professional knowledge and experience/competence profile®

Leadership of
companies,

o v v v v v
associations and
networks
Chemical sector and

) v v v v v v

related value chains
Finance, accounting,
financial reporting,
) v v v
risk management,
law and compliance
Sustainability® v v v v v v
Accounting and
auditing, includin

°] °] P v

sustainability

reporting

Innovation, research

and development v v
and technology

Digitalization, IT,
business models and v v v
startups

Human resources,
society,
communications and
the media

Economic sectors
others than the v v v
chemical industry
z Not publicly listed

Publicly listed
Cc

Based on a self-assessment by the Supervisory Board and taking into account the individual assessment of each of its members. A check mark signifies at least good

knowledge in this area and thus the ability to understand relevant issues well and make informed decisions, either on the basis of existing qualifications or on the basis of

knowledge acquired through the Supervisory Board activity and in further training measures.
In particular, taking into account the sustainability topics that are material for BASF, which were identified following the double materiality assessment. Details can
found in the section “Competence of the Board of Executive Directors and Supervisory Board in monitoring sustainability aspects” from page 133 onward.

Proportions represented in the Supervisory Board according to the aspects of diversity and
independence taken into account (as of December 31, 2024)

be

Proportion of women?

Proportion of members with international experience based on their
background or professional experience

Proportion of members with different educational backgrounds and
professional experience

Proportion of members under 60 years of age
Proportion of independent members in accordance with GCGC

Proportion of independent members in accordance with Delegated
Regulation (EU) 2023/2772

33.3%

50%

66.7%
66.7%
91.7%

100%

8 We do not currently record a third gender in the aspects of diversity represented in the Supervisory Board. We will regularly review the relevance of this category in

external reporting.

For more information on the statutory minimum quotas for the number of women and men on the

Supervisory Board, see the section “Commitments to promote the participation of women in leadership

positions at BASF SE” on page 135.

» For more information on the Supervisory Board’s competence profile, see basf.com/competence-profile/supervisoryboard
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The Board of Executive Directors’ and the Supervisory Board’s handling of
sustainability topics
ESRS 2 GOV-1 ESRS 2 GOV-2

Organization and responsibilities for monitoring sustainability-related impacts, risks and
opportunities

Sustainability aspects are systematically incorporated within the strategy, operations and assessment,
steering and compensation systems of BASF.

Sustainability-related opportunities and risks are systematically recorded as part of opportunity and risk
management. Sustainability-related impacts are analyzed and evaluated by the Corporate Sustainability
unit. Decisions regarding investments, acquisitions and divestitures take into account comprehensive
assessments of sustainability impacts. Sustainability topics and the related risk management as well as
the internal control system are the responsibility of the entire Board of Executive Directors. It defines the
basic requirements and processes as well as the organization of the risk management system. The Board
of Executive Directors also determines the processes for approving investments, acquisitions and
divestitures. In this regard, it is also supported by the units of the Corporate Center and the Risk
Committee, which reviews the Group-wide risk profile and any necessary adjustments to measures at
least twice a year.

The supervisory and advisory activities of the entire Supervisory Board also include the Board of
Executive Directors’ consideration of sustainability topics with regard to corporate management and
strategy development, including the impacts of the company’s activities. Supervision of the risk
management system and the internal control system, the internal auditing system, the appropriateness
and effectiveness of the compliance management system, and compliance with statutory provisions and
internal health, safety and environmental regulations falls within the responsibility of the Audit Committee.
The Audit Committee also deals with follow-up assessments of key acquisition and investment projects.
The Audit Committee also monitors sustainability reporting and its auditing as part of its supervision of
accounting and auditing. For additional information on organization and responsibilities in connection
with the management of opportunities and risks, see page 87 onward.

As part of the development of the new corporate strategy, which was communicated both internally and
externally in September 2024, the Board of Executive Directors identified the transformation toward a
more sustainable portfolio as a strategic lever to enable the green transformation of BASF’s customers
as their preferred chemical company. The Strategy Committee of the Supervisory Board was involved in
developing the new strategy and in the decision-making process; furthermore, the Supervisory Board as
a whole was regularly informed of the current status.

Together with specialists from operating divisions and service units, the Corporate Center is responsible
for integrating sustainability into decision-making processes and for steering and reporting processes
regarding sustainability topics. The Corporate Strategy & Sustainability unit is also responsible for the
global steering of climate-related matters. Group-wide risk and opportunity management is the
responsibility of the Corporate Center unit Corporate Finance, which reports to the Chief Financial
Officer. The Corporate Strategy & Sustainability unit reports to the Chairman of the Board of Executive
Directors.

Sustainability topics are discussed regularly and managed collectively by the Board of Executive
Directors. When making its decisions, the Board of Executive Directors considers the results and
recommendations from sustainability evaluations of business processes. It makes decisions with
strategic relevance for the Group and monitors the implementation of strategic plans and their target
achievement. The Supervisory Board is regularly briefed on the development of individual sustainability
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topics, on sustainability targets and the status of target achievement, by the Board of Executive
Directors.

The Chief Human Rights Officer is responsible for further embedding human rights aspects in decision-
making processes. He reports directly to the Chairman of the Board of Executive Directors.

The systematic evaluation of sustainability criteria, including the impacts of climate change, is an integral
part of decisions on investments, acquisitions and divestitures in property, plant and equipment and
financial assets. In this way, not only are economic dimensions assessed, but also the potential impacts
on areas such as the environment, human rights or the local community, with the assessment taking both
the potential impacts of company activities and the impacts on the company into account.

If potential negative impacts are identified, for example, in planned investments, these are presented
transparently in the internal decision-making process together with possible mitigation measures. In the
business year under review, the Board of Executive Directors therefore again took appropriate account of
compromises developed in connection with the impacts, risks and opportunities of significant
transactions and the risk management process, and discussed these compromises with the Supervisory
Board.

Pursuant to the Statutes of the company and the Rules of Procedure of the Supervisory Board,
investment, acquisition and divestiture decisions of the Board of Executive Directors and the
commencement of new business areas as well as the discontinuation of existing ones require the
consent of the Supervisory Board insofar as they are of material significance for the Group as a whole.
The Supervisory Board is thus always involved comprehensively and at an early stage in the
aforementioned evaluation of sustainability criteria in connection with strategic decisions of the Board of
Executive Directors.

In order to implement the climate protection targets and the measures contributing to them, appropriate
organizational structures have been put into place: The Corporate Center unit Corporate Environmental
Protection, Health, Safety & Quality, which reports to a member of the Board of Executive Directors,
develops Group-wide requirements and guidelines for collecting emissions and energy data and for
energy management. It conducts regular audits to monitor the implementation of and compliance with
internal and legal requirements by the BASF sites and Group companies. The Corporate Center unit
Corporate Strategy & Sustainability develops the BASF Group’s climate targets and emission reduction
levers for achieving them. The Net Zero Accelerator unit played a key role in driving the achievement of
our climate protection targets forward in the business year under review by accelerating and
implementing projects related to low-emission production technologies, circular economy and renewable
energy.® The Global Procurement unit, together with Corporate Strategy & Sustainability, is responsible
for purchasing processes and procurement requirements with regard to our raw materials-related
targets. Global Procurement reports to the Chief Financial Officer; Corporate Strategy & Sustainability
and Net Zero Accelerator report to the Chairman of the Board of Executive Directors. Once a year, the
Board of Executive Directors reports in detail to the Supervisory Board on the sustainability targets and
the status of target achievement. Group-wide Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions have also been anchored
in the BASF Group’s steering and compensation systems as the most important nonfinancial key
performance indicators since 2020 (see also page 134).

Information of the Board of Executive Directors and the Supervisory Board on sustainability
topics

The Board of Executive Directors and the Supervisory Board are regularly briefed on sustainability
aspects. In the business year under review, these also included the process of the double materiality
assessment and its findings. The Audit Committee was also provided with details of significant impacts,

5 In accordance with the new corporate strategy, the Net Zero Accelerator unit was dissolved as of January 1, 2025, and its responsibilities embedded within Global
Procurement, Petrochemicals, Monomers, European Site & Verbund Management, Corporate Development, Group Research and Ressort I.
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risks and opportunities. Corporate Finance provides information twice a year on the aggregated
opportunity/risk exposure of the BASF Group. A direct reporting obligation applies for new individual
risks with an impact of €10 million or more on earnings, as well as for risks with significant impacts on
the sustainability targets and reputation of BASF. The Supervisory Board’s Audit Committee is informed
annually about short-term operational opportunities and risks as well as the risk management system
and its further development, and reports on these matters to the entire Supervisory Board. The
Corporate Development unit addresses strategic opportunities and risks annually to the Board of
Executive Directors and Supervisory Board. Furthermore, the Board of Executive Directors reports to the
Supervisory Board once a year on the implementation status of the sustainability targets and the
effectiveness of the strategies, measures and parameters decided upon.

Risk-specific monitoring and control systems, some of which are decentralized, have been set up for
each area identified in the risk portfolio. The results of the monitoring processes are incorporated into
regular risk reporting to the Risk Committee and the Board of Executive Directors.

The Corporate Audit unit is responsible for regularly auditing the effectiveness and appropriateness of
the risk management system, internal control system and the compliance management system. It reports
on these matters twice a year to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee addresses the effectiveness
and appropriateness of these systems as part of its monitoring activities.

In order to implement due diligence, the Board of Executive Directors and the Supervisory Board receive
regular reports. The Corporate Center unit Corporate Environmental Protection, Health, Safety & Quality
reports to the Board of Executive Directors at the beginning of each business year on the Responsible
Care audits conducted in the previous year, as well as on the audit planning for the current year. In
meeting its due diligence obligation, the Board of Executive Directors also approved and implemented a
revised risk matrix in 2024 as part of its Process Safety Excellence Senior Project, the aim being to
improve process safety. Once a year, the Chief Financial Officer reports to the Supervisory Board’s Audit
Committee on the EHS audits conducted in the previous business year, as well as on the audit planning
for the current year.

The Board of Executive Directors and Supervisory Board dealt with the following significant impacts,
risks and opportunities of BASF during the reporting period:
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List of significant impacts, risks and opportunities with which the management, control and supervisory
bodies, or their responsible committees, dealt with during the reporting period

Material effects, risks,
opportunities

Mitigating climate change

Energy

Water pollution

Resource inflows including
resource utilization

Waste
Occupational safety and
health protection (S1)

Health and safety (S2)

Child labor (S2)
Other social and economic
rights (S3)

Free, prior and informed
consent (S3)

Corporate culture

Protection of whistleblowers

Corruption and bribery (for
example, prevention and
detection including training,
incidents)

Handled by the Board of Executive
Directors

CATch update — standard evaluation
methodology for CO, reduction measures
at BASF;

Net Zero Accelerator Senior Project —
further development of the organization;

Compensation strategy to safeguard
climate targets for 2030 and future
obligations in European emissions trading

Acquisition of a 49% stake in German
offshore wind farms N-6.6 and N-7.2
from Vattenfall;

Purchase of renewable energy;
Hydrogen technology

Aqueous film-forming foam (AFFF) — class
settlement with drinking water suppliers
in the United States

Technologies for recyclability and
recyclate content;

Gasification;
Renewable carbon;

Renewable raw materials in the BASF
Verbund

Use of recycled feedstocks

Responsible Care audits;

Process Safety Excellence Senior Project
Human Rights Report 2023

Human Rights Report 2023
Human Rights Report 2023

Human Rights Report 2023
Compliance Report 2023;
Employee Voices results;

Political Relations and Advocacy policy
Compliance Report 2023

Compliance Report 2023

Handled by the Supervisory

Board

Reduction of CO, emissions
(Scope 1 & 2, Scope 3.1)

Geothermal energy as a heat
source for steam generation
for the Ludwigshafen site

Renewable raw materials in
the BASF Verbund

Use of recycled feedstocks

Cross-thematic issues and other sustainability and risk management-related topics

BASF Report 2024

Sustainability-related targets of the
divisions

BASF Sustainability Award 2024
Corporate strategy: sustainable
transformation; green transformation;
corporate goals; capital allocation
framework; green transformation
narrative, updated sustainability setup

Update on BASF’s
sustainability targets

Handled by the Audit
Committee of the
Supervisory Board
Reduction of CO,
emissions (Scope 1 & 2,
Scope 3.1)

AFFF — class settlement
with drinking water
suppliers in the United
States

EHS audits

Case reporting on
human rights

Compliance in the BASF
Group

Compliance in the BASF
Group

Compliance in the BASF
Group
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Handled by the Audit

Material effects, risks, Handled by the Board of Executive Handled by the Supervisory = Committee of the
opportunities Directors Board Supervisory Board
Double materiality assessment in Double materiality assessment  Material effects, risks
connection with ESRS implementation in connection with ESRS and opportunities for
implementation; BASF; CSRD/ESRS
CSRD/ESRS: Legal reporting requirements

requirements for the
Supervisory Board;

ESRS implementation at
BASF

Sustainable finance

Sales revenue with
Sustainable-Future
Solutions

Risk management at
BASF

Corporate Audit Activity Report 2023, Report on the work of
Audit Planning 2024 Corporate Audit

Internal control system
(ICS) of financial
reporting

For more details on information processes, see Opportunities and Risks from page 87 onward.

Competence of the Board of Executive Directors and Supervisory Board in monitoring
sustainability aspects

Sustainable and responsible activities are firmly enshrined in BASF’s corporate purpose, strategy,
objectives and business operations. For instance, BASF’s innovations, products and technologies help to
use natural resources more efficiently, meet the demand for food, enable climate-smart mobility, reduce
emissions and waste, or increase the efficiency of renewable energy. At the same time, BASF causes
CO, emissions, uses water and sources raw materials from suppliers, which may involve a potential risk
of violating environmental, labor or social standards. Sustainability thus represents a material topic that
cuts across operating divisions and segments — and is dealt with by each member of the Board of
Executive Directors within their respective area of divisional responsibility. Therefore, sustainability-
related expertise is broadly anchored within the Board of Executive Directors.

In particular, the Board of Executive Directors possesses in-depth knowledge on the material topics of
climate protection and energy, and circular economy and resource use. Dr. Markus Kamieth, Dr. Michael
Heinz, Dr. Stephan Kothrade and Dr. Katja Scharpwinkel were directly involved in the Net Zero
Accelerator Senior Project, which focused on the provision of renewable energy, avoiding and managing
CO, and safeguarding access to renewable raw materials. On account of his former position as a
member of the Executive Board of Wintershall Holding GmbH and his current role on the Board of
Harbour Energy plc, Dr. Dirk Elvermann possesses in-depth expertise in the energy sector. As Chief
Financial Officer, he also deals intensively with sustainability reporting in accordance with CSRD
requirements and is familiar with sustainable finance. On account of his many years of experience as the
Site Director of the Nanjing Verbund site, Dr. Stephan Kothrade is familiar with climate-related topics at
Verbund sites, as well as with the material sustainability topics of air and water pollution. Based on his
career in the Catalysts division, Anup Kothari also holds expertise in air pollution in addition to battery
recycling and the responsible sourcing of raw materials. Thanks to Dr. Markus Kamieth and Industrial
Relations Director Dr. Katja Scharpwinkel, the Board of Executive Directors has broad knowledge of
health and safety at its disposal, both in relation to the company’s own workforce and the workforce in
the value chain. By virtue of their many years of leadership experience within BASF, all members of the
Board of Executive Directors are fully conversant with corporate governance, culture and policy, and in
particular with the Code of Conduct.
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The Supervisory Board as a whole possesses a broad spectrum of sustainability-related expertise, which
also, and in particular, encompasses the material sustainability topics for BASF identified as part of the
double materiality assessment. By dint of their decades of management experience, Dr. Kurt Bock and
Prof. Dr. Stefan Asenkerschbaumer have in-depth knowledge of corporate governance and corporate
policy. Thanks to his research activities in the field of organic chemistry, Prof. Dr. Thomas Carell is fully
versed in the topic of substances of concern and substances of very high concern. Due to his former role
in the chemical industry, Liming Chen possesses expertise in the areas of air and water pollution. On
account of her position as chief financial officer of a publicly listed international company based in the
EU, the Chairwoman of the Audit Committee, Alessandra Genco, is fully conversant with sustainability
reporting and regularly deals with the new CSRD requirements as part of her duties. She also boasts
expertise in the circular economy and recycling processes. In terms of the monitoring of sustainability
aspects, Tamara Weinert contributes relevant expertise from her former management positions in the
energy sector, which is important for BASF, and her operational and strategic management experience in
the areas of water withdrawals and consumption, water discharges and circular solutions. As part of their
respective activities, all shareholder representatives on the Supervisory Board regularly deal with climate
protection matters. Sinischa Horvat, Natalie Miihlenfeld and Michael Vassiliadis possess broad expertise
in the field of health and safety, both in relation to the company’s own workforce and the workforce in the
value chain. As part of their trade union and works council activities, all employee representatives on the
Supervisory Board have been dealing intensively with the topic of adequate wages for many years. In-
depth expertise on the topic of training and skills development is available among both the shareholder
representatives and employee representatives.

In addition, all members of the Supervisory Board attended an information event held by the company in
2024 concerning the reporting requirements pursuant to the CSRD and the process and results of the
double materiality assessment conducted at BASF. At this event, the identified material sustainability
topics for BASF were explained in detail. Further internal and external training events on sustainability
topics are planned for 2025. Where necessary, the members of the Supervisory Board also have the
option of consulting external experts on specific topics.

Compensation of the Board of Executive Directors and the Supervisory Board

ESRS 2 GOV-3

Compensation of the Board of Executive Directors is based on the size, complexity and economic
position of the company. The structure of this compensation is designed to contribute to sustainable
business success and the achievement of strategic corporate goals. The amount of the variable
compensation is derived both from the achievement of short- and long-term financial and sustainability-
related targets and from the development of the share price and dividend per share (total shareholder
return). Since the 2024 business year, the short-term incentive (STI) has accounted for 25% and the
long-term incentive (LTI) for 41% of the total target compensation for a business year.

In addition to three financial targets, which account for a total of 75% of the STI, the STI for the 2024
business year also defines the following targets®: employee engagement and satisfaction (employee
engagement index), occupational and process safety and strategic projects. Of these, the first two are
sustainability-related. All three of these targets are equally weighted in the STl and together account for
25% of the total STI formula. This means that 16.7% of the entire STI formula is sustainability-related.

6 These targets are referred to as “nonfinancial targets” in the Compensation Report (available at basf.com/compensationreport) and account for 25% of the STI formula.
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The LTI includes the reduction of CO, emissions (Scope 1 and 2) of the BASF Group as one of three
equally weighted (33.3%7) strategic goals. These have been anchored as the most important nonfinancial
key performance indicator in the BASF Group’s steering and compensation systems since 2020.

The sustainability-related performance of the BASF Group is thus included in the compensation of the
Board of Executive Directors.

The compensation of the Supervisory Board does not include any variable components and is therefore
not tied to the achievement of targets.

The structure and amount of compensation for the Board of Executive Directors are set by the
Supervisory Board at the recommendation of the Personnel Committee. In the event of significant
changes, but at least every four years, the compensation system determined by the Supervisory Board is
submitted to the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting for approval. Compensation for Supervisory Board
members is governed by the Statutes of BASF SE, which are decided upon by the Annual Shareholders’
Meeting (legally required by sections 87 and 87a AktG for the Board of Executive Directors and section
113 AktG for the Supervisory Board).

The Compensation Report in accordance with section 162 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG)
together with the assurance statement of the substantive and formal audit issued by the auditor and the
compensation system for the Board of Executive Directors are publicly available on the BASF website.

» The Compensation Report is available at basf.com/compensationreport.

» For more information on the compensation system for the Board of Executive Directors, see basf.com/compensation-system

Commitments to promote the participation of women in leadership positions at
BASF SE

ESRS 2 GOV-1

The supervisory board of a publicly listed European stock corporation (SE) that is composed of the same
number of shareholder and employee representatives must, according to section 17(2) of the SE
Implementation Act, consist of at least 30% women and 30% men. Since the 2018 Annual Shareholders’
Meeting, the Supervisory Board of BASF SE comprises four women, of whom two are shareholder
representatives and two are employee representatives, and eight men. The Supervisory Board’s
composition meets the statutory requirements.

Following the entry into force of the Act to Supplement and Amend the Regulations on Equal
Participation of Women and Men in Management Positions in the Private and Public Sector (FUPoG) on
August 12, 2021, if the management board of a listed company consists of more than three persons, at
least one woman and one man must be members of the management board (section 76 (3a) AktG). BASF
met this requirement in the reporting year. With Dr. Katja Scharpwinkel, there was one female Board
member. With six members of the Board of Executive Directors, this corresponds to a 16.7 percentage of
women.

In compliance with legal requirements of the FiIPoG, the Board of Executive Directors decided on target
figures for the proportion of women at the two management levels below the Board of Executive
Directors of BASF SE. For the target-attainment period from January 1, 2022, to December 31, 2026, the
Board of Executive Directors resolved as targets the quotas achieved as of December 31, 2021: 20.0%
for the proportion of women in the management level directly below the Board and 23.2% for the level
below that.

" The exact percentage influence on compensation depends on the target achievement. For more information, see the Compensation Report at basf.com/compensationreport.
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For more information on women in leadership positions in the BASF Group and on the inclusion of
diversity, including promotion of women, see page 276 onward.

» For more information on women in leadership positions in the BASF Group in Germany, see basf.com/diversity_and_inclusion

» The November 2015 Employee Participation Agreement relevant to the composition of the Supervisory Board is available at
basf.com/en/corporategovernance.

(Shareholders’ rights)

Shareholders exercise their rights of coadministration and supervision at the Annual Shareholders’
Meeting, which usually takes place within the first five months of the business year. The Annual
Shareholders’ Meeting elects half of the members of the Supervisory Board (shareholder representatives)
and, in particular, resolves on the formal discharge of the Board of Executive Directors and the
Supervisory Board, the distribution of profits, capital measures, the authorization of share buybacks,
changes to the Statutes and the selection of the auditor.

Each BASF SE share represents one vote. All of BASF SE’s shares are registered shares. Shareholders
are obliged to have themselves entered with their shares into the company share register and to provide
the information necessary for registration in the share register according to the German Stock
Corporation Act (AktG). There are no registration restrictions and there is no limit to the number of shares
that can be registered to one shareholder. Only the persons listed in the share register are entitled to
vote as shareholders. Listed shareholders may exercise their voting rights at the Annual Shareholders’
Meeting either personally, through a representative of their choice or through a company-appointed
proxy authorized by the shareholders to vote according to their instructions. Individual instructions are
only forwarded to the company on the morning of the day of the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting. Until the
Annual Shareholders’ Meeting 2024, voting rights could be exercised according to shareholders’
instructions by company-appointed proxies until the beginning of the voting process. There are neither
voting caps to limit the number of votes a shareholder may cast nor special voting rights. BASF has fully
implemented the principle of “one share, one vote.” All shareholders entered in the share register are
entitled to participate in the Annual Shareholders’ Meetings, to have their say concerning any item on the
agenda and to request information about company issues insofar as this is necessary to make an
informed judgment about the item on the agenda under discussion. Registered shareholders are also
entitled to file motions pertaining to proposals for resolutions made by the Board of Executive Directors
and Supervisory Board at the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting and to contest resolutions of the meeting
and have them evaluated for their lawfulness in court. Shareholders who hold at least €500,000 of the
company’s share capital, a quota corresponding to 390,625 shares, are furthermore entitled to request
that additional items be added to the agenda of the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting.

The 2023 Annual Shareholders’ Meeting resolved a series of amendments to the Statutes in connection
with the format of the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting and the participation options. Accordingly, the
Board of Executive Directors is authorized to hold the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting or an Extraordinary
Shareholders’ Meeting as a virtual meeting without the physical presence of shareholders or their proxies
at the venue of the meeting. This authorization for a period of two years is valid until May 8, 2025.

Like the 2023 Annual Shareholders’ Meeting, the 2024 Annual Shareholders’ Meeting was held as an in-
person meeting with the shareholders physically present at the meeting venue.

» The current Statutes of BASF can be found at basf.com/en/corporategovernance.
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Implementation of the German Corporate Governance Code (GCGCQ)

BASF advocates responsible corporate governance that focuses on sustainably increasing the value of
the company. BASF SE follows all of the recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code
in the version dated April 28, 2022 (Code 2022), the version in force at the time of submitting the
Declaration of Conformity on December 19, 2024. In the same manner, BASF follows almost all of the
nonobligatory suggestions of the German Corporate Governance Code. Only suggestion A.7, whereby
the duration of the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting should not exceed six hours, was not complied with by
BASF in 2024 due to the large number of questions asked at the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting.

The joint Declaration of Conformity 2024 by the Board of Executive Directors and Supervisory Board of
BASF SE is rendered on page 145.

» For more information on the Declaration of Conformity 2024, the implementation of the Code’s suggestions and the German Corporate
Governance Code, see basf.com/en/corporategovernance

Disclosures according to sections 289a and 315a of the German Commercial
Code (HGB) and explanatory report of the Board of Executive Directors
according to section 176(1) sentence 1 of the German Stock Corporation Act
(AktG)

Share capital and shares

As of December 31, 2024, the subscribed capital of BASF SE stood at €1,142,428,369.92, divided into
892,522,164 registered no-par-value shares. Each share entitles the holder to one vote at the Annual
Shareholders’ Meeting. Restrictions on the right to vote or transfer shares do not exist. The same rights
and duties apply to all shares. According to the Statutes, shareholders are not entitled to receive share
certificates (issuance of share certificates). There are neither different classes of shares nor shares with
preferential voting rights.

Appointment and dismissal of members of the Board of Executive Directors

The appointment and dismissal of members of the Board of Executive Directors is legally governed by
the regulations in Article 39 of the SE Council Regulation, section 16 of the SE Implementation Act and
sections 84 and 85 AktG as well as Article 7 of the Statutes of BASF SE. Accordingly, the Supervisory
Board determines the number of members of the Board of Executive Directors (at least two), appoints
the members of the Board of Executive Directors and can nominate a chair as well as one or more vice
chairs. The members of the Board of Executive Directors are appointed for a maximum of five years. The
maximum initial term of appointment is three years. Reappointments are permissible. The Supervisory
Board can dismiss a member of the Board of Executive Directors if there is serious cause to do so.
Serious cause includes, in particular, a gross breach of the duties pertaining to the Board of Executive
Directors and a vote of no confidence by the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting. The Supervisory Board
decides on appointments and dismissals according to its own best judgment.

Amendments to the Statutes

According to Article 59(1) of the SE Council Regulation, amendments to the Statutes of BASF SE require
a resolution of the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting adopted with at least a two-thirds majority of the votes
cast, provided that the legal provisions applicable to German stock corporations under the German
Stock Corporation Act (AktG) do not stipulate or allow for larger majority requirements. In the case of
amendments to the Statutes, section 179(2) AktG requires a majority of at least three-quarters of the
subscribed capital represented. Pursuant to Article 12(6) of the Statutes of BASF SE, the Supervisory
Board is authorized to resolve on amendments to the Statutes that merely concern their wording. This
applies in particular to the adjustment of the share capital and the number of shares after the redemption
of repurchased BASF shares and after an issue of shares from authorized capital.
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Authorized capital

By way of a resolution of the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on April 25, 2024, the Board of Executive
Directors of BASF SE is authorized, with the consent of the Supervisory Board, to increase, until April 24,
2029, on a one-off basis or in portions on a number of occasions, the company’s share capital by a total
of up to €300 million by issuing new shares against contributions in cash or in kind (authorized capital
2024). A right to subscribe to the new shares is to be granted to shareholders. This can also be achieved
by a credit institution acquiring the new shares with the obligation to offer these to shareholders (indirect
subscription right). The Board of Executive Directors is authorized to exclude the statutory subscription
right of shareholders to a maximum amount of a total of 10% of share capital in certain exceptional
cases that are defined in Article 5(8) of the BASF SE Statutes. This applies in particular if, for capital
increases in return for cash contributions, the issue price of the new shares is not substantially lower than
the stock market price of BASF shares and the total number of shares issued under this authorization
does not exceed 10% of the shares currently in issue or, in eligible individual cases, to acquire
companies or shareholdings in companies in exchange for surrendering BASF shares.

Conditional capital

By way of a resolution of the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on April 29, 2022, the share capital was
increased conditionally by up to €117,565,184 by issuing up to 91,847,800 new shares. The contingent
capital increase serves to grant shares to the holders of convertible bonds or warrants attached to bonds
with warrants of BASF SE or a subsidiary, which the Board of Executive Directors is authorized to issue
up to April 28, 2027, by way of a resolution of the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on April 29, 2022. A
right to subscribe to the bonds is to be granted to shareholders. The Board of Executive Directors is
authorized to exclude the shareholders’ subscription right in certain exceptional cases — as defined in
Article 5(9) of the BASF SE Statutes.

Authorization of share buybacks

At the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on April 29, 2022, the Board of Executive Directors was authorized
to purchase up to 10% of the BASF shares in issue at the time of the resolution (10% of the company’s
share capital) until April 28, 2027. At the discretion of the Board of Executive Directors, the shares can be
bought back via the stock exchange, via a public purchase offer addressed to all shareholders, via a
public request to shareholders for the submission of offers to sell or by other means in accordance with
section 53a AktG. The Board of Executive Directors is authorized to sell the repurchased company
shares again: (a) on a stock exchange; (b) through an offer directed to all shareholders; (c) with the
approval of the Supervisory Board, to third parties by means other than via the stock exchange or
through an offer addressed to all shareholders in return for cash payment at a price that is not
significantly lower than the stock exchange price of a BASF share at the time of the sale; or (d) with the
approval of the Supervisory Board, to third parties for contributions in kind, particularly in connection
with the acquisition of companies, parts of companies or shares in companies (including increases in
shareholdings) or within the scope of corporate mergers. In the cases specified under (c) and (d), the
shareholders’ subscription right is excluded. The Board of Executive Directors is furthermore authorized
to retire the shares bought back and to reduce the share capital by the proportion of the share capital
accounted for by the retired shares.

Rights during a change of control

Bonds issued by BASF SE and its subsidiaries grant the bearer the right to request early repayment of
the bonds at nominal value if, after the date of issue of the bond, one person — or several persons acting
together — hold or acquire a volume of BASF SE shares that corresponds to more than 50% of the voting
rights (change of control as a result of a takeover bid) and one of the rating agencies named in the
bond’s terms and conditions withdraws its rating of BASF SE or the bond or reduces it to a
noninvestment grade rating within 120 days of the change of control event.
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The compensation system for the Board of Executive Directors, which was approved by the Annual
Shareholders’ Meeting on April 25, 2024, provides for the following in the event of a change of control: A
change of control is assumed when a shareholder informs BASF SE of a shareholding of at least 25% of
the BASF shares or the increase of such a holding. If the appointment to the Board of Executive Directors
is revoked by the Supervisory Board within one year of a change of control, the member of the Board of
Executive Directors will receive the compensation outstanding until the end of the regular term as a one-
off payment; however, the value of two annual compensations may not be exceeded. The compensation
system, on the other hand, does not provide for any special indemnity related to a change of control
should a member of the Board of Executive Directors unilaterally terminate the contract prematurely in
such a case.

Employees of BASF SE and its subsidiaries who are classed as senior executives of the BASF Group will
receive a severance payment if their contract of employment is terminated by the company within 18
months of a change of control event, unless the employees have given cause for the termination by
culpable conduct on their part. The employees whose service contracts have been terminated in such a
case will receive a maximum severance payment of 1.5 times the annual salary (fixed component)
depending on the number of months that have passed since the change of control event. The remaining
specifications stipulated in sections 289a and 315a HGB refer to situations that are not applicable to
BASF SE.

» For more information on bonds issued by BASF SE, see basf.com/bonds

(Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance)

BASF SE has taken out liability insurance that covers the activities of members of the Board of Executive
Directors and the Supervisory Board (directors’ and officers’ liability insurance). This insurance policy
provides for the level of deductibles of 10% of damages up to 1.5 times the fixed annual compensation
for the Board of Executive Directors as prescribed by section 93(2) sentence 3 AktG.

(Share ownership by members of the Board of Executive Directors and the
Supervisory Board)

No member of the Board of Executive Directors or the Supervisory Board owns shares in BASF SE and
related options or other derivatives that account for 1% or more of the share capital. Furthermore, the
total volume of BASF SE shares and related financial instruments held by all members of the Board of
Executive Directors and the Supervisory Board accounts for less than 1% of the shares issued by the
company.

» For more information on share dealings of members of the Board of Executive Directors and the Supervisory Board, see
basf.com/en/directorsdealings

(Share dealings of the Board of Executive Directors and Supervisory Board)

(Directors’ dealings to be notified and publicly disclosed under Article 19(1) of the EU Market
Abuse Regulation 596/2014 (MAR))

As legally stipulated by Article 19(1) MAR, all members of the Board of Executive Directors and the
Supervisory Board as well as close family relatives are required to disclose the purchase or sale of
financial instruments of BASF SE (for example, shares, bonds, options, forward contracts, swaps) to the
German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (Bundesanstalt fir Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht) and to
the company if transactions within the calendar year exceed the threshold of €20,000. In 2024, a total of
16 purchases by members of the Board of Executive Directors and the Supervisory Board of BASF SE
and members of their families subject to disclosure were reported as directors’ dealings, involving
between 1,032 and 21,279 BASF shares or BASF ADRs (American Depositary Receipts). The price per
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share was between €42.61 and €48.57. The volume of the individual transactions was between
€49,965.93 and €999,666.13. The disclosed securities transactions are published on BASF SE’s website.

» For more information on securities transactions reported in 2024, see basf.com/en/directorsdealings

(Information on the auditor)

BASF SE’s Supervisory Board, acting on the recommendation of the Audit Committee and after
conducting a tendering process in line with the EU Statutory Audit Regulation (Regulation [EU]

no. 537/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council of April 16, 2014), resolved to propose to
the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting in 2024 that Deloitte GmbH Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft, Frankfurt
am Main, Germany, be elected as auditor for BASF SE’s Financial Statements and the BASF Group’s
Consolidated Financial Statements for the 2024 business year, as well as for the auditor’s review of the
Half-Year Financial Report 2024. It was legally required to change the auditor starting from the 2024
business year, as the previous auditor KPMG had reached the maximum period for annual audits
shortened by the Financial Market Integrity Strengthening Act when auditing the 2023 Financial
Statements. The selection process pursuant to the EU Statutory Audit Regulation was conducted at an
early stage in order to give the new auditor enough time to complete nonaudit services, in this way
ensuring its independence and a seamless transition.

The Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on April 25, 2024, accepted the proposal of the Supervisory Board by
electing Deloitte GmbH Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft as the auditor of the BASF Group Consolidated
Financial Statements and Individual Financial Statements of BASF SE for the 2024 business year, as well
as the Combined Management’s Report and the auditor’s review of the Half-Year Financial Report 2024.
The Supervisory Board’s Audit Committee also engaged Deloitte GmbH Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft
to carry out the voluntary audit of the Nonfinancial Statement for 2024. Deloitte member firms also audit
the majority of BASF Group companies included in the Consolidated Financial Statements. The auditor
responsible for the Consolidated Financial Statements is Michael Mehren. Auditor Stefan Dorissen is
responsible for the Individual Financial Statements. Information on the total fee paid to Deloitte and
auditing firms of the Deloitte group by BASF SE and other BASF Group companies for nonaudit services,
in addition to the auditing fee, can be found in Note 31 to the Consolidated Financial Statements on
page 442.
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Combined Management’s Report

Management and Supervisory Boards

ESRS 2 GOV-1

Board of Executive Directors

Consolidated Financial Statements

Further Information

There were six members on the Board of Executive Directors as of December 31, 2024. Dr. Markus
Kamieth succeeded Dr. Martin Brudermdiller as Chairman of the Board of Executive Directors on
conclusion of the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on April 25, 2024. Dr. Katja Scharpwinkel succeeded
Dr. Melanie Maas-Brunner as a member of the Board of Executive Directors, effective as of

February 1, 2024. Anup Kothari was appointed as an additional member of the Board of Executive
Directors, effective as of March 1, 2024.

Dr. Markus Kamieth

Chairman of the Board
of Executive Directors
(since April 25, 2024)

Degree: Chemistry
54 years old
26 years at BASF

Dr. Dirk Elvermann
Degree: Law

53 years old

22 years at BASF

Michael Heinz
Degree: MBA

61 years old

41 years at BASF

Anup Kothari
(since March 1, 2024)

Degrees: Chemical
engineering, MBA

57 years old
26 years at BASF

BASF Report 2024

Responsibilities First Term

(2024 business year) appointed
Until February 29, 2024: 2017 2029
Catalysts; Coatings;

Dispersions & Resins;

Performance Chemicals;

Greater China; South &

East Asia, ASEAN &

Australia/New Zealand;

Mega Projects Asia

Since April 25, 2024:

Corporate Development;
Corporate Legal,
Compliance & Insurance;
Corporate Human
Resources; Corporate
Communications &
Government Relations;
Corporate Investor
Relations; Senior Project
Net Zero Accelerator

Corporate Finance; 2023 2026
Corporate Audit;

Corporate Taxes & Duties;

Global Business Services;

Global Digital Services;

Global Procurement;

BASF Venture Capital

Agricultural Solutions; 2011 2026
Nutrition & Health; Care

Chemicals; North

America; South America

Catalysts; Coatings; 2024 2027
Dispersions & Resins;
Performance Chemicals

expires

Supervisory board
mandates within the
meaning of section 100(2)
of the German Stock
Corporation Act (AktG)

Wintershall Dea GmbH,
until September 23, 2024:
Wintershall Dea AG
(member of the Supervisory
Board; until October 28,
2024y

Wintershall Dea GmbH,
until September 23, 2024
Wintershall Dea AG
(member of the Supervisory
Board; until October 28,
2024

Comparable
German and non-
German
supervisory
bodies

Harbour Energy plc®
(nonexecutive
director; since
September 3, 2024)
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Dr. Stephan Kothrade
Degree: Chemistry

58 years old

30 years at BASF

Dr. Katja Scharpwinkel
(since February 1, 2024)
Degree: Chemistry

55 years old

14 years at BASF

Dr. Martin
Brudermiiller

Chairman of the Board
of Executive Directors

(until April 25, 2024)
Degree: Chemistry
63 years old

36 years at BASF

Dr. Melanie Maas-
Brunner

(until January 31, 2024)
Degree: Chemistry

56 years old

27 years at BASF

Combined Management’s Report

Responsibilities

(2024 business year)
Monomers; Performance
Materials; Petrochemicals;
Intermediates;

Europe (until January 31,
2024); Group Research;
since March 1, 2024:
Greater China; South &
East Asia, ASEAN &
Australia/New Zealand;
Mega Projects Asia

European Site & Verbund
Management; Global
Engineering Services;
Corporate Environmental
Protection, Health,
Safety & Quality; Europe

Corporate Development;
Corporate Legal,
Compliance & Insurance;
Corporate Human
Resources; Corporate
Communications &
Government Relations;
Corporate Investor
Relations; Senior Project
Net Zero Accelerator

European Site & Verbund
Management; Global
Engineering Services;
Corporate Environmental
Protection, Health,
Safety & Quality

First

appointed

2023

2024

2006

2021

Consolidated Financial Statements

Term
expires
2026

2027

2024

2024

Supervisory board
mandates within the
meaning of section 100(2)
of the German Stock
Corporation Act (AktG)

BASF Coatings GmbH
(member of the Supervisory
Board until April 29, 20242,

Wintershall Dea GmbH,
until September 23, 2024:
Wintershall Dea AG
(member of the Supervisory
Board; until October 28,
2024)

Mercedes-Benz Group AGP
(member of the Supervisory
Board until May 7, 2024;
Chairman of the
Supervisory Board since
May 8, 2024);
Mercedes-Benz AG
(Mercedes-Benz Group AG
group company; member
of the Supervisory Board)

@ Internal membership within the meaning of section 100(2) sentence 2 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG)

° publicly listed

BASF Report 2024

Further Information

Comparable
German and non-
German
supervisory
bodies

BASF Antwerpen
N.V. (Chairwoman
of the Supervisory
Board; since

February 1, 2024)

Accenture plc®
(member of the
Board of Directors
and the Audit
Committee; since
January 31, 2024)

BASF Antwerpen
N.V. (Chairwoman
of the Supervisory
Board; until
January 31, 2024)
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Combined Management’s Report

Supervisory Board

Consolidated Financial Statements

Further Information

In accordance with the Statutes, the Supervisory Board of BASF SE comprises 12 members. The term of
office of the Supervisory Board commenced following the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on

April 25, 2024, in which the shareholder representatives on the Supervisory Board were elected. In
accordance with the applicable article of the Statutes as of the date of election, it terminates upon
conclusion of the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting that resolves on the discharge of members of the
Supervisory Board for the third complete business year after the term of office commenced; this is the
Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on April 28, 2028. At its meeting on November 30, 2023, the BASF Europa
Betriebsrat (BASF Works Council Europe) unanimously reelected the six employee representatives on the
Supervisory Board for the term of office beginning at the end of the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on
April 25, 2024. The Supervisory Board comprises the following members (as of March 17, 2025):

Dr. Kurt Bock, Heidelberg,
Germany®

Chairman of the Supervisory Board of
BASF SE

Former Chairman of the Board of
Executive Directors of BASF SE (until
May 2018)

Prof. Dr. Stefan Asenkerschbaumer,
Stuttgart, Germany®®

Vice Chairman of the Supervisory
Board of BASF SE

Managing partner, Robert Bosch
Industrietreuhand KG (RBIK)

Chairman of the Supervisory Board of
Robert Bosch GmbH

Sinischa Horvat, Limburgerhof,
Germany?® °©

Vice Chairman of the Supervisory
Board of BASF SE

Chairman of the Works Council of
BASF SE, Ludwigshafen site, of the
BASF Group Works Council, and of the
BASF Works Council Europe

Prof. Dr. Thomas Carell, Munich,
Germany?®®

Professor of Organic Chemistry at
Ludwig-Maximilians-University Munich
Liming Chen, Beijing, China®®
Nonexecutive independent Board

member of ACWA Power Company
SJSC

Tatjana Diether, Limburgerhof,
Germany?® °©

Deputy Chairwoman of the Works
Council of BASF SE, Ludwigshafen
site, and member of the BASF Group
Works Council and of the BASF Works
Council Europe

Alessandra Genco, Rome, Italy®®
Chief Financial Officer of Leonardo SpA
André Matta, GroBkarlbach,
Germany?® °©

Member of the Works Council of
BASF SE, Ludwigshafen site, of the
BASF Group Works Council and of the
BASF Works Council Europe

BASF Report 2024

Member of the
Supervisory
Board since

June 18, 2020

April 29, 2022

May 12, 2017

May 3, 2019

October 8, 2020

May 4, 2018

April 29, 2022

April 29, 2022

Memberships of statutory
supervisory boards in Germany

Bayerische Motoren Werke
Aktiengesellschaftd (Vice
Chairman, Chairman of the Audit
Committee, member of the
Personnel and Nomination
Committees)

Robert Bosch GmbH?® (Chairman)

Memberships of comparable
domestic and foreign
supervisory bodies of
commercial enterprises

Stadler Rail AG® (independent,
nonexecutive member of the Board
of Directors)

ACWA Power Company SJSCH
(nonexecutive independent Board
member since January 5, 2025)

Elettronica SpA*® (controlled interest
of Leonardo SpA)
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Natalie Miihlenfeld, Diisseldorf,
Germany?® °©

Board secretary of the Board Division 1
Politics/Transformation, IGBCE

Michael Vassiliadis, Hannover,
Germany®

Chairman of the IGBCE

Tamara Weinert, Fairhope,
Alabama®®

President and Chief Executive Officer
of the Business Area Americas and
member of the Leadership Team of
Outokumpu Corporation

Peter Zaman, Antwerp, Belgium® ©

Secretary of the Works Council of
BASF Antwerpen N.V.

Members of the Supervisory Board
who stepped down from the

Supervisory Board on April 25, 2024:

Dame Alison Carnwath DBE, Exeter,
England®®
Senior Advisor, Evercore Partners

Member of the
Supervisory
Board since

April 29, 2022

August 1, 2004

April 25, 2024

April 29, 2022

May 2, 2014

Memberships of statutory
supervisory boards in Germany
3M Deutschland GmbH®
(member);

Solventum Germany GmbH®
(member since November 8,
2024)

Steag GmbH® (member);

RAG Aktiengesellschaft® (Vice
Chairman);

Henkel AG & Co. KGaA?
(member);

Vivawest GmbH® (member)

Consolidated Financial Statements

Further Information

Memberships of comparable
domestic and foreign
supervisory bodies of
commercial enterprises

Zurich Insurance Group AGY
(independent, nonexecutive
member of the Board of Directors
until April 11, 2024);

ZUrich Versicherungs-Gesellschaft
AG (Zurich Insurance Group AG
group company)® (independent,
nonexecutive member of the Board
of Directors until April 11, 2024);
PACCAR Inc.¢ (independent
member of the Board of Directors);
Coller Capital Ltd.® (nonexecutive
member of the Board of Directors);
Asda Group Limited® (nonexecutive
member of the Board of Directors
and Chairwoman of the Audit
Committee);

EG Group Holdings Limited®
(nonexecutive member of the
Board of Directors and
Chairwoman of the Audit
Committee)

@ Classified by the Supervisory Board as an “independent” member of the Supervisory Board (see page 122 for the criteria used to determine independence)

b Shareholder representative
e Employee representative
d publicly listed

€ Not publicly listed

BASF Report 2024

Corporate Governance | 144



At a Glance Combined Management’s Report Consolidated Financial Statements Further Information

Declaration of Conformity Pursuant to Section 161 AktG

Declaration of Conformity 2024 of the Board of Executive Directors and the
Supervisory Board of BASF SE

The Board of Executive Directors and the Supervisory Board of BASF SE hereby declare
pursuant to section 161 AktG (German Stock Corporation Act)

The recommendations of the Government Commission on the German Corporate Governance Code as
amended on April 28, 2022, published by the Federal Ministry of Justice on June 27, 2022, in the official
section of the Federal Gazette are complied with and have been complied with since the submission of
the last Declaration of Conformity of December 2023.

Ludwigshafen, December 2024

The Supervisory Board The Board of Executive Directors
of BASF SE of BASF SE
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Declaration of Corporate Governance

Declaration of Corporate Governance in accordance with sections 289f and
315d HGB

The Combined Declaration of Corporate Governance of BASF SE and the BASF Group, pursuant to
sections 289f HGB and 315d HGB, comprises the subchapters Corporate Governance Report including
the description of the diversity concept for the composition of the Board of Executive Directors and the
Supervisory Board (except for the disclosures pursuant to sections 289a and 315a HGB), G1 Business
Conduct and Declaration of Conformity Pursuant to Section 161 AktG.

Pursuant to section 317(2) sentence 6 HGB, the auditor checked that the disclosures according to
section 315d HGB in conjunction with section 289f(2) HGB were made.
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Consolidated Financial Statements

[1.3 (Consolidated) Sustainability Statement|

Further Information

We bring our corporate purpose — We create chemistry for a sustainable future - to life by integrating
sustainability into our strategy, our business, and our assessment, steering and compensation systems.
We want to secure our long-term success with products, solutions and technologies that create value
added for our customers, the environment and society.

ESRS Index

ESRS 2 SBM-3 ESRS 2 IRO-2

European Sustainability Reporting Standards (ESRS) Disclosure Requirements covered by the
Combined Management’s Report

ESRS Disclosure Requirement
ESRS 2
BP-1

BP-2

GOV-1

GOV-2

GOV-3
GOV-4
GOV-5
SBM-1
SBM-2

SBM-3
IRO-1
IRO-2
MDR-P
MDR-A
MDR-M
MDR-T

E1 Climate Change
E1-1
E1-2
E1-3
E1-4
E1-5
E1-6
E1-7

E1-8
E2 Pollution®
E2-1
E2-2

BASF Report 2024

Disclosure Requirement
General Disclosures
General basis for the preparation of sustainability statements

Disclosures in relation to specific circumstances

The role of the administrative, management and supervisory bodies

Information provided to and sustainability matters addressed by the
undertaking’s administrative, management and supervisory bodies

Integration of sustainability-related performance in incentive schemes
Statement on due diligence

Risk management and internal controls over sustainability reporting
Strategy, business model and value chain

Interests and views of stakeholders

Material impacts, risks and opportunities and their interaction with
strategy and business model

Description of processes to identify and assess material impacts, risks
and opportunities

Disclosure Requirements in ESRS covered by the undertaking’s
sustainability statement

Policies adopted to manage material sustainability matters
Actions and resources in relation to material sustainability matters
Metrics in relation to material sustainability matters

Tracking effectiveness of policies and actions through targets

Transition plan for climate change mitigation

Policies related to climate change mitigation and adaptation
Actions and resources in relation to climate change policies
Targets related to climate change mitigation and adaptation
Energy consumption and mix

Gross Scopes 1, 2, 3 and Total GHG emissions

GHG removals and GHG mitigation projects financed through carbon
credits

Internal carbon pricing

Policies related to pollution
Actions and resources related to pollution

Page
150

In all chapters and on
page 150

In all chapters and on
page 150

From page 1112 onward
as well as on pages
118% 1299, 1352, 1418
and 318

From page 1112, 1182
and 1292 onward

1347 and 184

154

155 and 882

158, 18% 22%and 157
In all chapters and on
page 163

In all chapters and on
page 167

In all chapters and on
page 167

On this page and on
pages 155, 167 and 324

In all chapters and on
page 151
In all chapters and on
page 152
In all chapters and on
page 150

In all chapters and on
page 151

178

185

182

189

194

198
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Further Information

European Sustainability Reporting Standards (ESRS) Disclosure Requirements covered by the
Combined Management’s Report

ESRS Disclosure Requirement
E2-3

E2-4

E2-5

E3 Water and marine
resources®

E3-1
E3-2
E3-3
E3-4

E4 Biodiversity and
Ecosystems

E4-1

E4-2

E4-3

E4-4

E4-5

E5 Resource Use and Circular
Economy

E5-1
E5-2
E5-3
E5-4
E5-5
S1 Own Workforce
S1-1
S$1-2

S1-3

S1-4

S1-5

S1-6

S1-10

S1-14

S1-17

S2 Workers in the Value Chain
S2-1

S2-2

S$2-3

S2-4

S2-5

S3 Affected Communities
S3-1
S3-2
S3-3

BASF Report 2024

Disclosure Requirement

Targets related to pollution

Pollution of air, water and soil

Substances of concern and substances of very high concern

Policies related to water and marine resources

Actions and resources related to water and marine resources
Targets related to water and marine resources

Water consumption

Transition plan and consideration of biodiversity and ecosystems in
strategy and business model

Policies related to biodiversity and ecosystems
Actions and resources related to biodiversity and ecosystems
Targets related to biodiversity and ecosystems
Impact metrics related to biodiversity and ecosystems change

Policies related to resource use and circular economy

Actions and resources related to resource use and circular economy
Targets related to resource use and circular economy

Resource inflows

Resource outflows

Policies related to own workforce

Processes for engaging with own workers and workers’ representatives
about impacts

Processes to remediate negative impacts and channels for affected
communities to raise concerns

Taking action on material impacts on own workforce, and approaches
to mitigating material risks and pursuing material opportunities related
to own workforce, and effectiveness of those actions

Targets related to managing material negative impacts, advancing
positive impacts, and managing material risks and opportunities

Characteristics of the undertaking’s employees
Adequate wages

Health and safety metrics

Incidents, complaints and severe human rights impacts

Policies related to value chain workers
Processes for engaging with value chain workers about impacts

Processes to remediate negative impacts and channels for value chain
workers to raise concerns

Taking action on material impacts on value chain workers, and
approaches to managing material risks and pursuing material
opportunities related to value chain workers, and effectiveness of those
actions

Targets related to managing material negative impacts, advancing
positive impacts, and managing material risks and opportunities

Policies related to affected communities
Processes for engaging with affected communities about impacts

Processes to remediate negative impacts and channels for affected
communities to raise concerns

292
293
296
296

301

303